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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
el &

Dear Shareholders,

I am pleased to report the results and business development of Huanxi
Media Group Limited (the “Company” or “"Huanxi Media”, together with
its subsidiaries, collectively the “Group”) over the past year. During
the previous year, several regions in China were repeatedly dragged
down by the Coronavirus Disease 2019 pandemic (the “Pandemic”),
and cinemas continued to implement strict prevention and control
measures. Related to this, cinema admissions have not yet returned
to pre-pandemic levels. Consequently, the Group’s cinema box
office income has been affected. Nevertheless, during the year, by
closely monitoring the prevailing conditions and capitalising on the
increasingly popular online viewing trend, we have continued to
vigorously develop the Group’s online video platform "huanxi.com”.
The Group has also actively invested in, produced and filmed a
number of quality cinema and TV productions to further enrich film
and TV content reserves in order to strengthen its core competitive
advantage, aiming to prepare for the next dynamic period of the film
and TV industry.

Film and TV programmes rights business -
Enriching content reserves to usher in a growth
period

After experiencing a dormant period in 2020, a rapid recovery was
evident in China’s film market in 2021. According to the China Film
Administration, total box office receipts of films in China became
the world's largest, reaching RMB47,258 million in 2021, more than
doubling the tally of RMB20,400 million in 2020. The box office receipts
contributed by domestic films amounted to RMB39,927 million,
accounting for approximately 85% of total box office receipts. Among
the top 10 highest-grossing films during the year, eight of which were
domestic films, fully reflecting the vitality of China’s film market.
Despite the impact of the Pandemic, domestic films successfully
attracted audiences in the Mainland, thanks to the variety of topics
and the techniques used in conveying more in-depth expression. The
market achieved steady development as the Pandemic stepped into
its second year.
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The Group'’s films released in cinema circuits during the year were
highly praised. Among them, the film Warm Hug (&8 ##48),
directed by Chang Yuan, hit the screens during the New Year holiday
of 2020/2021. Featuring a joyous atmosphere, the film conveyed
the positive energy resulting from actively embarking on efforts and
exploring greater possibilities in life, which enjoyed positive feedback
and registered outstanding box office receipts. The film Miss Mom
(2 251), directed by Tang Danian, presented the real-life issues
encountered by urban women today, notably work worries, hard
to maintain social life, and struggling to find true love. In addition,
the film Are You Lonesome Tonight? (Ehi&& £ =), produced by Ning
Hao and directed by Wen Shipei, tells a thrilling hit-and-run story
through several different perspectives and across time periods at a
pulsating pace, with Peng Yu Yan Eddie and Chang Ai-chia Sylvia in
the lead roles. The film The Pioneer (£7r7), invested by the Group
and produced by Guan Hu, is a touching story narrating Li Dazhao, a
pioneer of the Chinese Communist movement, who eagerly pursued
ways to change China and rescue the nation, showing enthusiasm and
passion in the historic transition.

Moreover, through its unique film director partnership system, the
Group has enlisted many leading award-winning film directors, such as
Ning Hao, Xu Zheng, Chan Ho Sun Peter, Wong Kar Wai, Zhang Yibai,
Gu Changwei, Zhang Yimou, Chen Daming, Jia Zhangke and Wang
Xiaoshuai, to strengthen its creative team for its film and TV business
and enriched its premium film and TV content. In June 2021, the Group
and Shanghai Hanna Pictures Culture Media Company Limited (“Hanna
Pictures”) entered into a cooperation agreement. Pursuant to which,
the Group, Hanna Pictures and Huang Bo collaborate on investment
and development of quality film and TV productions over the next
three years and they have confirmed that the first film collaborated on
is the film Papa (&), written and directed by Su Liang and starring
Huang Bo, which is set to release in domestic cinema circuits in July
2022. Furthermore, the film Something About Us (41 %t 4) (formerly
known as Red Carpet (2 RBHAE)), invested in and produced by the
Group, directed by Ning Hao and starring Andy Lau, is expected to
debut on cinema screens nationwide in 2023.
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During the year, the Group actively invested in filming and producing a
number of quality film and TV productions. Most of them were planned
to be launched in 2022 or the first half of 2023. In addition to Papa (£
&) and Something About Us (41 ¥ 5 4), other films include: Li Na (&
He 35) directed by Chan Ho Sun Peter; (#,L4L) directed by Zhang
Yimou; Call Me Crazy (R138) directed by Gu Changwei and starring Ge
You and Wang Junkai; Unspoken (& P& 1) directed by Chen Daming
and starring Zhang Hanyu; The Mountain (£ 1l) produced by Wang
Xiaoshuai; The Stage (Bk&) directed by Chen Peisi and starring Chen
Peisi and Chen Dayu; Evacuate from the 21st Century (21t 4282 &
#Bk) directed by Li Yang and starring Zzhang Ruoyun and Zhong Chuxi;
Yanagawa (2 K &) A) directed by Zhang Lu and starring Ni Ni and
Zhang Luyi; and Strangers When We Meet (FiZE &) directed and
written by Zhang Guoli and starring Zhou Dongyu. The Group's film and
TV production catalogue covering diversified topics not only can meet
the individual preferences of different film and TV consumers, but also
can provide reliable guarantee for the box office receipts of its films.

Online video platform — Keep extending the
audience coverage of “huanxi.com”

As for the online video platform industry, the impact of the Pandemic
has presented an incredible opportunity for the ongoing rise in
online video platform. According to the “49th China Statistical Report
on Internet Development” published by China Internet Network
Information, as of December 2021, the number of Internet users
in China dramatically increased to 1,032 million by 42.96 million as
compared to that of December 2020 and the Internet penetration
rate reached 73%, forming the world’s largest and most vibrant digital
society. During the days of fluctuating Pandemic conditions causing
reduction in population mobility, online viewing is regarded as a crucial
mean of pursuing leisure and entertainment activities for the public.

In response to the increasing popularisation of the Internet, the Group
has continued to invest considerable resources in its online video
platform “huanxi.com”. Notably, during the year, the Group signed a
cooperation agreement with MIGU Co., Ltd. ("MIGU"), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of China Mobile Communications Group Co., Ltd. (“China
Mobile”). The two parties are to jointly build the largest digital cinema
in the world and work closely to invest in quality film and TV content in
the “Huanxi Theater” (Bt1= B E2) designated zone on China Mobile
5G FUN Theater (5G FUNBLEE). Leaping Over The Dragon Gate (82F9
#8), a film produced by Gao Qunshu and the first film co-presented by
the two parties, was exclusively broadcasted on both “huanxi.com”
and the “Huanxi Theater” designated zone on China Mobile 5G FUN
Theater in September 2021.
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During the year, the “huanxi.com” applet was successfully connected
to Kuaishou (B:F), Douyin (£1), WeChat (#1Z) and Baidu (&%),
further extending its influence in the field of online video platform.
In combination with the earlier cooperation with Huawei TV, Huawei
smartphone, Mi TV, Xiaomi smartphone, Mango TV, Hisense TV,
Skyworth TV, TCL TV, LeTV Super TV and Xgimi Projector to set up their
respective designated zone for “huanxi.com” on mobile applications,
TV terminals and platforms operated by these partners, “huanxi.com”
has succeeded in reaching a larger audience.

In addition, the Group sourced various premium film and TV
productions from around the world for broadcasting on the
“huanxi.com” platform. Key among these overseas works include
Lunana: A Yak In The Classroom (B #1452 #%), a nominee for Best
International Feature Film at the 94th Academy Awards; Under the
Silver Lake (3R# 2 JK) nominated for the Palme d’Or at the 71st
Cannes International Film Festival; The Metamorphosis of Birds (548
B, 50), winner of the FIPRESCI Award for Best Film at the Encounters
Section of the 70th Berlin International Film Festival; and BBC's highly-
rated comedy Us (B & 2 k). "huanxi.com” also has its own exciting
film and TV content, such as movies Warm Hug (&8 8#138), One
Second (—#$&), Leap (B ), and the internet drama series Run For
Young (RA A HERIKZ2), all of which hit viewership high.

Leverage on its wider coverage and richer content, “huanxi.com”
had a steady increase in the number of its fee-paying subscribers.
Currently, "huanxi.com” has accumulated over 11 million (11,000,000)
fee-paying subscribers, while the APP of "huanxi.com” has been
downloaded over 38 million (38,000,000) times.

In the future, the Group will continue to source quality content
worldwide to present on “huanxi.com”, and it will also enhance
cooperation with a variety of channels to facilitate its continuous
improvement and ongoing development.
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BUSINESS STRATEGIES AND PROSPECTS

In November 2021, the China Film Administration announced “The
14th Five-Year Plan for the Development of Chinese Films”, which
proposes to further promote the high-quality development of Chinese
films, focusing on creativity in themes and plots, genres, styles,
techniques and innovative technology, and encouraging structural
upgrade of the film industry in areas of systems and procedures, talent
and capital with a view to fulfilling the vision of building China into a
major cinematic player by 2035 and enabling the voice and influence
of Chinese cinema to be significantly enhanced in the global film
market.

With the support of national policies for the Chinese film development,
those leading film and TV companies that have continued to produce
high-quality original content can fully demonstrate their commercial
and social value. In its focus on core strategy of “Content is King", the
Group will continue to work in collaboration with top directors in China
in order to develop and produce more premium content. Meanwhile, it
will also actively seek to partner with new potential directors to deliver
original premium film and TV productions, leveraging the Group’s core
competitive advantages in film and TV creation.

On the other side, by delivering superior works to audiences and
strengthening its in-depth cooperation with top strategic partners in
China, such as Bilibili, Mango TV, Maoyan Entertainment and China
Mobile, the Group has been working on the development of its user
base expansion and hence, strives to build “huanxi.com” as the
leading online video platform.

The Group will put great effort to seize the opportunity presented
by rapid development of the film and TV industry, accelerate the
launch of quality content capitalising on the investment acumen of its
management team and flexible management and operations model,
and build a leading online video platform with diversified film and
TV content. The Group will also continuously optimise its business
structure in order to further consolidate and expand its competitive
advantages and create long-term and high-value returns for its
shareholders.
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Last but not least, | would like to express my heartfelt gratitude to all &% » KRABE N AAEEEETESKE - 51
members of our Board, our management team, business partners and Bk « EH B M EE THAEEEE{ELAHE
staff for their dedication and contributions to the Group’s businesses. NER - RTBARBGE |

Dong Ping FE
Chairman B5Y
Hong Kong, 31 March 2022 B - _F=HA=+—H
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APPENDIX: FAMOUS SHAREHOLDER DIRECTORS AND CONTRACTED DIRECTORS OF THE GROUP
ik - AEREMNEZRREERGNEE

Director Background Cooperation Details
N BEEN SERE
Ning Hao* e Famous internationally for his unique directing style, | ¢ During the cooperation period, the shareholder
i all films he made so far had brought strong investment director shall direct one to two films (for public release)
returns. His directorial debut /ncense (& X) and every three years
another work Mongolian Ping Pong (4x & tb) were REERR  REREEHAAEEG=FEE W
nominated for awards in over 50 international film HEZER(UMERER DR LB AE)
festivals
BREBREAREZERE  2HBFHERLEIR | o The film Crazy Alien (RERIINE A), with the Group
EE%H - AEHREEZ(BAOMEER)R AT+ as exclusive investor and directed by Mr. Ning, was
ZERREEERSA released on the first day of the Chinese New Year in
2019. It bagged a third-party guaranteed minimum
e (Crazy Stone (EEH)ASE), a low budget production distribution amount of RMB2.8 billion and generated
he directed in 2006, won at the Taiwan Golden Horse revenue of RMB700 million for the Group in 2019
Awards for Best Original Screenplay. Crazy Racer (&, AEEBREE ELAEHENEZ(RININE
JEHERE) (2009), which he wrote and directed, was MNERZZE-NFEFY—LB DEE=FARE
produced with only RMB10 million, yet brought in box 2,800,000,000LREZETEHE ERZE—NFAX
office receipts of over RMB100 million S B 5k A R #700,000,0007T 4 A
RIZZZEXRNFRENABY(RENAE) N ESFSE
SHERRERZEIALE - EREAHFEEELIERAE | o The film Something About Us (A1¥# % &) (formerly
AR10,000,000 2 CRIFHBE) (ZEZTHEF) - known as Red Carpet (ZRF£)), with the Group as
Z %=1 A KR #100,000,0007T exclusive investor, directed by Mr. Ning and starring
Mr. Andy Lau, expected to be released in 2023
o He also directed the huge box office hit Breakup REEBREE ELERERIBELETENE
Buddies (:L:EREH) (2014), which grossed RMB1.17 FIREE) IE(ZRBEL)) BN ZE==
billion in box office receipts in China, making it the F L
highest-grossing domestic Chinese movie of the year
HEHEEZ (OB (ZE—NE)  NERAR
AR#1,170,000,000c 8 EFHF EHEEELEEY
e He is one of the co-producers of Dying to Survive (F
2 B34 (2018), which earned RMB3.1 billion in box
office receipts. The movie was nominated for seven
awards at the 55th Taiwan Golden Horse Awards and
won the awards for Best Leading Actor, Best New
Director and Best Original Screenplay. The movie also
won Best Screenplay at the 42nd Montreal World Film
Festival
H2HEBAERN(RIRED) (- \F)IER
5 AR #3,100,000,0007T * fESE55/E S H & AB+
fE  ERESRERTA  REMSERRREER
EZBRIAR=ERIE - WA TREZLERFINREKE
T RIEBIARE
o He also directed Crazy Alien (R HIINE A) (2019),
which grossed RMB2.2 billion in box office receipts in
China
HHBEZ(RANMNEA) CE-NEF)  BRAE
F & AR #2,200,000,0007T
g Shareholder director
# R ER
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Director
BE
Xu Zheng*
RUF

Background
BEREN

In 2012, his directorial debut Lost in Thailand (N EH
# 2 Z ), which he also wrote, directed, produced
and starred in, earned over USD200 million in box
office receipts

TR CFEHENEREEEERREENRER(AR
Wik 2 =) - 71 %E 2 200,000,0007T

In 2014, Mr. Xu produced and starred in the film Great
Hypnotist (&8 A Af) which became a classic in the
thriller film market in China
—E-NE - REFBETFRERBEREY (R
KED) - RAELZERBREY MiHLH
Dying to Survive (B =2 %£4®) co-produced by and
starring Mr. Xu earned RMB3.1 billion in box office
receipts in 2018. The film was nominated for seven
awards at the 55th Taiwan Golden Horse Awards and
won the awards for Best Leading Actor, Best New
Director and Best Original Screenplay. The movie also
won Best Screenplay at the 42nd Montreal World Film
Festival and Best Film at the 14th Changchun Film
Festival

— N\ REASEBSERTFEN(HTE
1z$>>%;%m%}\&%3,100 000,0007T * FEE55/E &
SREAE7TRARE  SRESHRESIA  REH
BERKERZBARZ(EEIE o (h TREE2ET
HAIREREY S REBAREFUETRREE
E RENE R

Lost in Russia (BE15) (2020), written, directed,
produced by and starring Mr. Xu, which was first
released through online video platforms in China
RELEREEREREHNEZ(HBEN (T Z
FIRBEAREETEEHR

Shareholder director

fRERE R
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Cooperation Details
BERA

During the cooperation period, the shareholder
director shall direct one to two films (for public release)
every three years

REERR  RREEHARAEEG=FEE W
BEXEROAMERIERX AR LB A%E)

Lost in Russia (145%), the latest in the “Lost” series,
was released through online video platforms on the
first day of the Chinese New Year in 2020
(D RN EF 2 (BBIRZE_SFRE
—ERPEKRTE LR
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Director

8%

Chan Ho Sun
Petert
PRAT =

Wong Kar Wai#

== /A

ExRE

#
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Background
BEEN

He is the first director crowned the “Best Director” at
the Taiwan Golden Horse Awards, the Hong Kong Film
Awards and Mainland China’s Golden Rooster Awards.
His films Almost a Love Story (FH% %) and Dragon
(B %) had made it among Time Magazine's 10 Best
Movies of the Year

ERBEMNERSAESER BAEXREURTP
BYcERSESEINARESE - HRENEY
(HEZ)R(RK)LEMEREERRRATNE

E+EEY

Leap (E5B) (former title: Leap (PB4 #E) directed by
him was released in 2020

HHPEHNEZ(ET)FIE : (FEZH)ERZZZ
TF B

LiNa (B8 o £35) (former title: Li Na (Z=4)) directed
by him is expected to be released in 2022
HHPEWEZCER « L5 AR - (FP)) B8R
TR CFFm

Dubbed a “movie poet”, renowned movie director,
producer and screenwriter, Mr. Wong won the “Best
Director” title at the Hong Kong Film Awards and the
Golden Horse Awards for the movie Days of Being Wild
(PR E1F)

NEEHAIZRBNALEYEE  LEREE - K
HENEZ(MREE) REEBET e RREREFR
REGER

He also won the “Best Director” award for Happy
Together (&3t /E)8) at the 50th Cannes Film Festival
BE(ENER)REEVEFRPELHREEFRE

Shareholder director

BREREE

Cooperation Details
BERE

During the cooperation period, the Group shall have
investment right to at least two films directed or co-
directed by Mr. Chan, in amount up to 60% of the total
investment in each of Mr. Chan'’s productions
TEAERA  AEEBEEZDMBHMREERE K
AFHNENETNRER SaREBEATHRE
EfEmIRE BER60%

The Group shall have priority over others to purchase
exclusive global distribution licenses in new media
with respect to Mr. Chan’s productions
FEEREERAMIABEREEERNZER
TR B BT Al 2 A

For those productions the Group invested in, the Group
shall have the right to decide regarding distribution of
the films to exclusive new media platforms
HASECRENEE  FEBRERTHREEYZ
BRMEET A EHERTE

During the cooperation period, the Group has the
right to invest exclusively in a Chinese internet drama
series — 18 episodes in two seasons — co-directed and
produced by Mr. Wong. There will be 12 episodes in
the first season

EEERR  AEBEGT LAEHSEENERNH
FHBEPXRBRIIZRENBRIRERE 55 H
125%

The Group also has a right to invite Mr. Wong to
produce an extra movie or internet drama series
principally invested by the Group
AERTERSE T AEBNE—HETEREFEE
BENSEHBERINTRE

The Group has exclusive right to distribute, sub-license
and broadcast the internet drama series to the global
audience through new media platforms for a period of
10 years

REERBET BREEBNERTARNEZRER
B BE R REIN BRI - FHETF

Mr. Wong is going to produce and co-direct an internet
drama series Paradise Guesthouse (k& ik #E) with 12
episodes

TRAEAERRE RS BB 126BERIIFRE
(REKREE)



#

Director

BE

Zhang Xiaoling*
(also known
as Zhang
Yibai)

R EERE
(XEER—H)

Background
BEREN

Dubbed the “Godfather of Youth Films” in China, his
love story movies have enjoyed wide acclaims and
among them, the 2016 production / Belonged to You
(AREY 2t R 1B) brought in box office receipts of
more than RMB800 million, a record among movies of
its kind

HEAFRESERH] E%ﬂ’—#ﬁﬁ%* BEEFY
RPBEREFT  Ep =T — Bttt
REB)ERIRE E@AEMSOO,OOO,OOOE%‘%E -
THEEBEFNEEMLH

The box office receipts of films he directed and
produced totaled more than RMB3.1 billion, putting
him in the league of the most commercially successful
directors and producers in China today

HMABNELENEYEREFRBARE

3,100,000,0007T * YHE BRI AR EEENRERE
ERMERFER —

Us and Them (& 2k K9% ) (2018) produced by Mr.
Zhang and directed by Rene Liu recorded a box office
receipts of more than RMB1.36 billion
REEEREER  ERRGNERRNEF) (ZF
—N\F)  MEZFEBARE360,000,0007C

Shareholder director

fRERE R

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
e E

Cooperation Details
BERA

During the cooperation period, the Group has priority
right over others to invest in at least two of Mr. Zhang's
productions, in the amount of no less than 55% of the
total investment amount of each of the productions
EEERR  AEEZABERMAREZE DMK
TEER R REBIOREBREEERIRE
#%H 2 55%

The Group has priority right to purchase exclusive
global distribution licenses to new media of at least
two of Mr. Zhang's productions
FEEZEEABEZOMBREEER I EHER
F RSB ATRT AL Z KR

The Group has exclusive right to invest in two seasons
of internet drama series directed (or co-directed) by

Mr. Zhang
AEEZRURLEHE (GBS NMERBE R
FIRER 2 BRITE#E

The Group has been granted exclusive global
distribution rights of two seasons of the internet
drama series directed (or co-directed) by Mr. Zhang to
new media

FEBERRTHEHEEHE
TARBIZ

HE)HME
ERBRAHRERITE

B E5

The Group has participation rights to other productions
of Mr. Zhang
AEBERREEEMIERZIREDHE

The internet drama series Run For Young (R 4 )

22) directed by Mr. Zhang was released in 2020
HEHENRE(RADENRE)ER T -_ZF LI
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

T ol &
Director Background
BE BEEN

Gu Changwei*

BERE

#

14

As one of the few Chinese members of the Academy
of Motion Picture Arts and Sciences (AMPAS), he has
long been hailed as "the master cinematographer in
Asia” and subsequently became a director
BRERVEEARNFZE REIEMNE—BY
AiJ2fE REEHEES

He directed a number of iconic movies including
Love for Life (&), Peacock (#L%), and was the
cinematographer of Red Sorghum (41&32) and
Farewell To My Concubine (X 5I#k), winning
accolades at many international film festivals

HEZHAMNEER - BFE(RE) - (FL&) RnE
:&:?@&@E%‘J?@ R RARE R R LS P ERK

O

Shareholder director

BREREE

Cooperation Details
BERE

During the cooperation period, the Group has exclusive
right to invest in two seasons of internet drama series
directed (or co-directed) by Mr. Gu

EEERN  AEEZERAEHE(IBEHE) N
MEBERINZRB CBRITERE

The Group has exclusive global new media distribution
rights for these internet drama series
AEERRBEERERIZRE 2 2 BF RS
BITHE

The Group has priority right to invest in Mr. Gu's
productions. The exact amount of investment in each
of Mr. Gu's productions is to be agreed between the
Company and Mr. Gu
FEEZHEEAREBTESHIERIER - 53
BrAEEI Em EBRESHB A AR HELED
A

The Group has the right to purchase exclusive global
distribution licenses to new media for at least two of
Mr. Gu's productions and has participation right to
invest in his other productions

REEZEREEIMBBLEEL EMNRIER
MRBBRIT A AN Z AR E L tiEm s S



#

Director
BE

Zhang Yimou*
SREBEES

Chen Daming
BRAHA

Background
BEREN

As an internationally famed movie director, his works
included Red Sorghum (41 & 3R), Raise the Red Lantern
(RELBERSHED, To Live (F%), Not One Less (—1
A 8ED), The Road Home (B YA BER), Hero (%
1), House of Flying Daggers (TTI321X), Curse of the
Golden Flower (W3 E#E W), The Flowers of War
(&% + =4V, Coming Home (£37K) and The Great Wall
(F3), etc.

BIEMEEE  AARRENEYBEEER) (K
AEER=E)  OFF)  (—EFTED) - (HED
RBEFH) - (EH) - (+EER) - (RHEFES
B (BT =80) (B - (REDE

His works received awards at international film
festivals, including Golden Bear at the Berlin
International Film Festival, Golden Lion at Venice
International Film Festival, and also the Golden Horse
Awards in Taiwan

HHYBNEZZNECSRBEEF AL - fIFAMNE
BEFHSRE  BEYEEMENg Ee F1

Mr. Zhang was the chief director of the opening
ceremony of the 2008 Beijing Olympics, and was
awarded an honorary doctorate degree by Boston
University and Yale University in the US
REER_TT\FLRBESHENLERE - XH
KRTEARBRIBRBEEEL

Mr. Chen studied screenwriting, directing and acting
in the US in the 1990s and starred in a number of
Hollywood movies. Many of the films he directed won
international awards

REERNTFREEEZERE - BENKE &
LESBEREEY - KNG LB EEING

ES

He is currently a visiting professor at the Beijing
Film Academy (lt R E & Zfx), Vice President of
the Shanghai International School of the Beijing Film
Academy (Jt RE & £kt _EBEIBR 2kt) and has been
appointed by Shanghai Vancouver Film School as its
Art Director

R REFER T EAR R REFER LGEE
SRAKE  UXEALSATESYERLMEE

Shareholder director

fRERE R

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
e E

Cooperation Details
BERA

During the cooperation period, the Group has exclusive
right to invest in three internet drama series directed
by Mr. Zhang, with topics to be agreed between the
Group and Mr. Zhang

EEERR  AEERERBRREREEHEN=
AR ZIIZRE - M EARE ER A RE

The exclusive investment right of one internet drama
series directed by Mr. Zhang can be converted into
priority investment right of a film directed by him (with
no existing third-party contract restriction), and the
investment amount within the cooperation period shall
not be less than 60% of the total investment of the film
H—ERAERNENRG RINTRE VBRI ERET
BHAHERE IR R ARE=FENRGINES
ZEBRRERE REERRNZREBTIRZELR
B HBER60%

The Group shall own all the tangible and intangible
assets of Mr. Zhang internet drama series, as well as
the rights derived from or related to them
FEEBERREEBERITEB 2 AERT RE
TR RE A R BT R AR A

The film One Second (—#}$&), produced by the Group
and directed by Mr. Zhang, hit the screen in 2020
AEELD  REAREHER(—VE)ERZZZ
TE

During the cooperation period, the Group has
priority right to invest in at least three of Mr. Chen's
productions

EEERA  AEEZERERNBAREEZED =K
TR HER

The Group has exclusive rights to invest in two
seasons of internet drama series directed (or co-
directed) by Mr. Chen
REBEBRTENE (LB ANE)NRNERE RS
FRB 2 BRITERE

Payments (such as development fund, film director
fees and creative member fees) will be agreed
separately for each of Mr. Chen’s films and internet
drama series productions

REEGHEY RMBERIZRBIBE 2 T (I
REE: EXERERIEABEBR)ESAGE

The film Unspoken (4 F & 18) directed by Mr. Chen is
expected to be released in 2022
Ei?ﬁ%ﬁﬂﬁﬁ@?-é%<3ﬁﬁﬁ£‘%’l§>%ﬁi§ﬂ%ﬁé:%::¢t
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Ei RS

Director
R

Jia Zhangke
EREH

Wang Xiaoshuai
F /)R

16

Background
BEEN

A distinguished international art-house director, he has
received Lifetime Achievement Awards from several
international film organisations

REXEMELGE  CEZERRERAGRTE
[4% 5 51 42

Directed 12 feature films, all nominated for awards
at the Berlin, Cannes and Venice International Film
Festivals. In 2013, A Touch of Sin (X)) won the
award for Best Screenplay at the 66th Cannes Film
Festival

HHAB+—HMRA - 2HAEBNK - R EEEHE
FE T —=F (RITEFOEFEREREY
Hifx EREI 1R

In 2015, he received the Carrosse d'Or at the Cannes
Film Festival

“E-01F ERPEREFEH
e HEE]

BRERETRENK

In 2018, Ash is Purest White (I# 52 %) was a
shortlisted contender of the top honor at the 71st
Cannes Film Festival

“E-N\F EREMCTER O ABETERIE
HHEHEET

A pioneer independent film director in China and
recipient of the Ordre des Arts et des Lettres from the
French Minister of Culture

HEEBELE  UEESEE X EENRLHE
MRt

Directed 11 feature films that were nominated eight
times in the top three international film festivals
ERER+—HAETRE - AAB=AREREZEH
BREETT

In 2005, Shanghai Dreams (& 1) won the Jury Prize at
the 58th Cannes Film Festival

ZETRE  HYEN(BO) EESSERBBEREY
EETEE AR

Cooperation Details
BERE

The Group has exclusive or priority right to invest
in at least three new films directed by Mr. Jia in the
cooperation period

TAERA  AEEREHELENE 2D =B
BUEMNBRAELRERE

The Group has priority distribution right and exclusive
new media right to the above new films
REETES DR ERERMNELBITRRIER
B E

The Group has priority right to invest in two
productions (including films and internet drama series)
Mr. Wang directed or produced during the cooperation
period

EEEHR  AEBEGHIAE RSB I ME
TRER(BREY AR RIFERNELRER

The Group has priority right to invest in and distribute
globally his new productions
AEBEREAMERNELREEMBIEBLETE

The Group has exclusive right to distribute and re-
sell his new productions to new media platforms
worldwide
REEBEZETERERRENER T RBRETE
REBER

The film The Mountain (_E L), invested by the Group
and produced by Mr. Wang, is expected to hit the
screen in 2022

FEERE  TAEEHNER( L) BEHABR-Z
S o



Director

BE

Manfred Wong

Tk
(XR&EXE)

Li Yang
EXD)

Background
BEREN

A veteran filmmaker in Hong Kong who has directed,
produced, and acted in films and is also a screenwriter
for films and TV dramas
BRERETA  QEASTEER -
BREE R

B8 RBRE

Ventured into the film industry in the early 1990s and
co-founded BoB & Partners Company Limited (&1=
HEAR A T) in the mid-90s, he has under his belt
more than 30 films including The Storm Riders (B %)
and the Young and Dangerous (i 2%{F) series
RNTERVAREREE - RATFERTEHEA
FEREARAR  ZRERAOBEY - BER
E) - (HRF)EINZF

The film Roots and Branches (& 731 5k) he

produced broke the box office receipt record of

domestic movies in China in 2001 and won awards at

more than 10 film festivals

REER (RN R R ST —FH2EH
BYERLE  VERBBATEYRNETZRE

Hong Kong's first producer to venture into production
of internet drama series. His works included Fee/ 100%
(B BARE) and 20/30 Dictionary (3 F#H), among
others

ERAURMBEBSEEA  2ERE(EI AR
B)R(ERTR)EREEE

Mr. Liis a film director in Mainland China, outstanding
in making documentaries on social phenomena and
movies that portray real life stories. His work Blind
Shaft (€ #) has won more than 30 awards, including
the Silver Bear for Outstanding Artistic Achievement at
the 53rd Berlin International Film Festival
ERPMEETEM SRR M SHELHEF REER

BYHEAMERERE  BE(EH)  THEES
TRREESEBEMNEREZ S REEMARBRET
ME = TR EBFR K5

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
e E

Cooperation Details
BERA

The Group has priority right over others to invest in at
least four of Mr. Wong's productions
FEBZERENMAREE DI TR EEME
gl

During the cooperation period, the Group has
exclusive right to invest in at least three films directed
by Mr. Li

FEAERR  AREBERTEEMBERO=HE
TERRBERIRER

The Group shall have exclusive right to broadcast and
re-sell to new media platforms worldwide Mr. Li's
productions it invested in
FEBREBEAEEREFTAEZIERERRENE
BYaBxEnErEER
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

el E

Director
R

Liu Xingang
21,0081

Huang Chen
=104

Huang Bo
(Hanna
Pictures)
2 (BMEAR)

18

Background
BEEN

He has years of experience in making movies and TV
drama series, and was the Art Director of The Sorrow
of Brook Steppe (15 &) and Cell Phone (F#)
nominated respectively for the “Best Art Direction”
Award at the Golden Rooster Awards in two years. He
won the “Best Director” award at the public TV Double
Ten (RRERE 11E) for I'm Looking Forward to
Being Loved (17184184 E) and his Five Star Hotel
(FL2 HAERIE) was named “TV Drama of the Year” by
Sina

BELZFENEYRERFNELSR - EEEENE
BH(EBMBR)MCFE) DRI EEMEFRE
SEREEERMERS - BEMEEGFRFEHE
E)VICRERKRRE) DT EARERE T E&E
BB FE BB

Mr. Huang wrote and directed the animated work
Angry Woman (B 2L A) in 2007
BRER_EE+FEREEHEEn(ERNZA)

He directed the documentary Why Chinese Guys
Cannot Get American Girls (BT EFRE B4 BTE
B fH) and won the best documentary in the East
American Film Festival
HEBRBER(ATEFREBEERTEIZERM) W REE
REYORELERE

He directed a customised sci-fi drama Yolk Man (&=
A)
HEEHIROREBE(ERA)

In 2018, Mr. Huang directed and starred in the comedy The
Island (— 47 E%), which earned over RMB1.35 billion in
box office receipts

TN\ BREBERESEF—HHTR) EBR

% A ER #51,350,000,0007T

Cooperation Details
BERE

During the cooperation period, the Group has
exclusive right to invest in at least three films directed
by Mr. Liu

EEERA  NEBERILEMBERD =HE;
EmAVBRIZE

§

&

The Group has exclusive right to broadcast on and
re-sell to new media platforms worldwide Mr. Liu's
productions it invested in
AEBZEASEREDEE ERERIRE KR
FaBEREREREBERE

During the cooperation period, the Group has priority
right over others to invest in three films or internet
drama series

EaEHRN  AEEZERER M ARE=HETL X
B RFIRAR B 2 R

The Group shall own all the tangible and intangible
assets of the productions and the rights derived from
or related to them
AEERERERIERIAIBREL KRB EENRE
DT R R AR HE R

During the cooperation period, the Group and Mr.

Huang will collaborate on investment and development

of quality film and TV productions

EAERA  AEERELEBAERERAZEE
VEARIBE

The Film Papa () invested by the Group and
starred in by Mr. Huang will be released in July 2022
AEEREREAETENEZ(BE) BN
FEAL®



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS AND OPERATION REVIEW

Investment in Film and TV Programmes Rights
Business

In 2021, economic activities in some provinces and cities in China
were affected by the fluctuating Pandemic situation. Cinemas were
closed and cinema admissions have not yet returned to normal due
to anti-pandemic restrictions. With rich industry experience and high-
quality film and TV content, the Group has adhered to the creation of
original works in the challenging film market and the enrichment of
content reserves. At the same time, the Group vigorously develop its
online video platform business. These efforts allowed the Group to
successfully attract throngs of film fans who were temporarily unable
to visit cinemas by shifting their preference to online viewing. It is
encouraging that the Group fully demonstrated the effectiveness of
its two-pronged strategy to develop film and TV content as well as the
online video platform businesses.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group recorded revenue
and film investment income, net from investment in the film and
TV programmes rights business amount to HK$158,353,000 (2020:
HK$633,176,000) and a segment loss of HK$133,168,000 (2020:
HK$144,636,000). The segment loss and decrease of revenue were
mainly attributable to the fact that blockbusters invested by the Group
were delayed to make debut on cinema screens due to the impact
of the Pandemic, and the box office revenue was also affected by
the implementation of prevention and control measures, combined
with the decrease of government grant and the increase of amortised
expenses of licensed film and TV programmes rights for optimisation
the contents of “huanxi.com” online video platform. Despite these,
selling and distribution costs decreased during the reporting period
due to the delay in debut of the Group’s blockbusters on cinema
screens.

o B W) 520 B

REREELDRE
EXRERBIMERERK

RIZ-—FE  FEBHETEEEZHERRBER
EMXAEE  PhEELE  NEHRERESH
FEABER i ARMMEERKFE - REEBRELEHTT
ERRNBEZAAT  ERMIEBNETTHT
IFBLRAREEARREE  ARFTANEER
SEESRRBFEER - KB —RERIFEM
DRIERBENTE  ROBRAERERZEN
B RERGIAT 6 B HRNES -

HE-_Z-_—F+-_F=+—BItFE  KEERX
B NERBIREREXBMRGREREFIRE
W - EEE A 5158,353,000 (ST F : B
#5633,176,0007T) & 7> 5 E5 18 75 %6 133,168,0007T (=
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BESTEHECRG LY ERIWATEGERE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
o B W) 5250 A

To further strengthen its film and TV content, the film Papa (%)
which is invested in and produced by the Group, written and directed
by Su Liang and starring Huang Bo, is scheduled to be debuted on
cinema screens early in the second half of this year. Other films are
under planning stage, production stage or completion stage, such as
Something About Us (A1 # 5t 4) (formerly known as Red Carpet (&
RrA£)) directed by Ning Hao and starring Andy Lau; Li Na (BB e t
¥#3) directed by Chan Ho Sun Peter; (#)L4L) directed by Zhang Yimovu;
Call Me Crazy (®138) directed by Gu Changwei and starring Ge You
and Wang Junkai; Unspoken (& Fr&1#) directed by Chen Daming
and starring Zhang Hanyu; The Mountain (&=1L) produced by Wang
Xiaoshuai; The Stage (&% &) directed by Chen Peisi and starring Chen
Peisi and Chen Dayu; Evacuate from the 21st Century (#2142 % &
HBE) directed by Li Yang and starring Zhang Ruoyun and Zhong Chuxi;
Yanagawa (2K #& H) directed by Zhang Lu and starring Ni Ni and
Zhang Luyi; and Strangers When We Meet GHEER/) directed and
written by Zhang Guoli and starring Zhou Dongyu. As for investment
in internet drama series, the 12-episode series Paradise Guesthouse
(CREHREE) produced and co-directed by Wong Kar Wai, is progressing
smoothly.

For its online video platform, the Group stepped up its cooperation
with a number of channels during the year to further extend the
coverage of “huanxi.com”. In February 2021, the strategic cooperation
between the Group and Huawei Video has been upgraded to launch
film and TV content at the "huanxi.com” designated zone on AiMax
Cinema of Huawei Video. In September 2021, the Group signed a
cooperation agreement with MIGU for their close collaboration on
setting up the world’s largest digital cinema and launching a “Huanxi
Theater” designated zone on China Mobile 5G FUN Theater. In
addition, the "huanxi.com” applet has been successfully connected
to Kuaishou (I=F), Douyin (£}&), WeChat (##{Z) and Baidu (B ),
which are the major platforms offering social apps, video social apps
and search engines with the heaviest internet traffic rates in China and
thus, enabling users to have faster, more convenient and seamless
viewing experience. In combination with the earlier cooperation
with leading internet platforms, such as Bilibili, Mango TV, Maoyan
Entertainment and China Mobile, and alliance arrangements with big
screen terminal channels, including Mi Video, Hisense TV, Skyworth
TV, TCL TV, LeTV Super TV and Xgimi Projector, “huanxi.com” is able to
widely cover online audience users in China. Currently, “huanxi.com”
has accumulated over 11 million (11,000,000) fee-paying subscribers,
while the APP of "huanxi.com” has been downloaded over 38 million
(38,000,000) times.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

During the year, FMR LLC. (“Fidelity Funds”*) acquired a stake in the
Company at approximately HK$425,000,000 and subsequently
increased its shareholding in the Company, reflecting its recognition of
the Group's long-term investment value.

Overall, the business layout of Huanxi Media’s film and TV content
combines with its online video platform has laid a solid foundation
for the long-term development of the Group. Although the market
remained challenging during the year, the Company has been actively
enriching its content reserves as preparation for another peak in the
film industry going forward.

Other Businesses (Discontinued Operations)

Reference was made to the announcement of the Company dated
9 October 2020 that the Group intended to focus its resources on
business investment in film and TV programmes rights and operation
of the online video platform “huanxi.com”, and hence, it ceased its
operations of property agency business as well as securities trading
and investments business (“Other Businesses”) during the year ended
31 December 2020. During the year under review, the Group did
not record any revenue (2020: Nil) nor profit or loss (2020: profit of
HK$3,766,000) arising from Other Businesses.

Impact of the Pandemic

Following the outbreak of the Pandemic at the beginning of 2020
posing a significant impact on the global film industry, proactive action
was taken to temporarily suspend cinemas operations across Mainland
China in response to the Pandemic and cinemas gradually resumed
operations in July 2020. During 2021, there was persistent impact on
economic activities in some provinces and cities in China due to the
fluctuating Pandemic situation. Box office receipts were adversely
affected by another round of suspension of cinema operations and
ongoing stringent prevention and control measures, resulting in a low
level of cinema attendance. In terms of film production, additional
production time and costs were incurred due to the quarantine
measures amid the Pandemic.

The Group will closely monitor the development of the Pandemic and
continue to evaluate its impact on the media market. It will also initiate
timely and active measures to minimise the impact of the Pandemic
on its business operations and financial results.

*  For identification purposes only

o B W) 520 B
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
o B W) 5250 A

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Review of Results

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group recorded
revenue and film investment income, net of HK$158,353,000 (2020:
HK$633,176,000) and a loss of HK$235,557,000 (2020: HK$236,391,000).
The loss and decrease of revenue were mainly attributable to the fact
that blockbusters invested by the Group were delayed to make debut
on cinema screens due to the impact of the Pandemic, and the box
office revenue was also affected by the implementation of prevention
and control measures, combined with the decrease of government
grant and the increase of amortised expenses of licensed film and
TV programmes rights for optimisation the contents of “huanxi.com”
online video platform. Despite these, selling and distribution costs
decreased during the reporting period due to the delay in debut of the
Group's blockbusters on cinema screens.

The Group is enriching the content reserves and will arrange to debut
the blockbusters invested by the Group gradually such as the film Papa
(B28), Something About Us (41 # 4 4) (formerly known as Red Carpet
(2RBEE)), LiNa (BB » t15), Unspoken (EFTEL), (imiI4L), Call
Me Crazy (R118), The Mountain (Lt 1L1) and Strangers When We Meet (8
EEF) on cinema screens in 2022 or early 2023 which will contribute
revenue to the Group, and the results of the Group will be improved.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, loss per share of the Group
amounted to HK$0.07 (2020: HK$0.07) and net asset value per share
attributable to owners of the Company was HK$0.45 (2020: HK$0.42).

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group’s capital
expenditure, daily operations and investments are mainly funded
by equity fund raising. As at 31 December 2021, the Group had net
current assets of HK$760,108,000 (2020: HK$730,619,000), with cash
and cash equivalents of HK$115,369,000 (2020: HK$142,140,000). As at
31 December 2021, the Group's current ratio (defined as total current
assets divided by total current liabilities) was approximately 2.31 (2020:
approximately 3.48). As at 31 December 2021, the total equity of the
Company amounted to HK$1,655,269,000 (2020: HK$1,446,433,000)
with total borrowings of HK$100,281,000 (2020: HK$50,036,000). The
Group's gearing ratio, expressed as the percentage of total borrowings
over total capital, was 0.06 (2020: 0.03) as at 31 December 2021. Total
capital is calculated as total equity plus total borrowings.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2021, the Company had 3,656,472,362 ordinary
shares (2020: 3,472,732,362) of HK$0.01 each in issue (the “Share” or
“Shares”).

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the movement in the issued
Shares are as follows:

1. On 27 April 2021, the Company entered into the placing
agreement (the “Placing Agreement”) with a placing agent.
Upon completion of the Placing Agreement on 5 May 2021, an
aggregate of 218,130,000 Shares of HK$0.01 each in the capital
of the Company were placed to not fewer than six placees, at
the placing price of HK$2.15 per placing Share. The net price
received by the Company was approximately HK$2.14 per
placing Share. The closing price of the Shares on the date of
entering into the Placing Agreement was HK$2.15 per Share as
quoted on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

2. 0n 29 January 2021, 1,240,000 Shares repurchased by a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company on the Stock Exchange in
December 2020 were cancelled.

3. During the year ended 31 December 2021, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company repurchased a total of 33,150,000
Shares on the Stock Exchange at an aggregate consideration
of approximately HK$59,802,100 (before expenses). 33,150,000
Shares repurchased were cancelled during the year ended 31
December 2021.

Please refer to the section "Purchase, Sale or Redemption of
the Company’s Listed Securities” in the Directors’ Report of this
annual report for details.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
o B W) 5250 A

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSAL
OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

The Group had no material acquisitions and disposal of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures during the year ended 31 December
2021.

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2021, the Group pledged other receivables of
approximately HK$48,520,000 (31 December 2020: Nil) for obtaining
a secured borrowing of approximately HK$48,918,000 (31 December
2020: Nil).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group’s cash flow from operations, cash on hand and assets are
denominated mainly in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi. Although
most of the production costs and management fees are denominated
in Renminbi, foreign currencies are needed for some investment
opportunities and cooperation plans with mainland China and
overseas film companies. The Group will continue to monitor its capital
needs closely and take appropriate measures to minimise any adverse
impact of exchange rate fluctuation on its overall financial status and
lower the Group's financial risks.

RISK MANAGEMENT

During the year under review, the Group regularly reviewed the risk
and credit control systems of its profit centers to improve those
systems overall and mitigate credit risk. There have been no significant
changes in the Group’s risk management policy since the year-end
date last year.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had no significant contingent
liabilities (2020: Same).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The Group firmly believes high-caliber people are the most valuable
asset of a corporation. The Group thus places great attention on
attracting and nurturing talent. It has kept optimising its staff structure
to match its development strategy and business needs. As at 31
December 2021, the Group had 101 full-time employees (2020: 101)
and 5 part-time employees (2020: 8). The Group has in place well-
designed remuneration management and incentive mechanisms,
with employees remunerated based on their positions and work
performance, along with industry trends.

The Group participates in various defined contribution retirement
benefit plans which are available to all relevant employees. Forfeited
contributions cannot be used by the Group to reduce the existing level
of contribution to the defined contribution schemes.

MATERIAL INVESTMENTS

Saved as the prepayments for film and TV programmes rights
and film and TV programmes rights set out in Notes 21 and 22 to
the consolidated financial statements, the Group had no material
investments during the year under review.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS

The Group is seeking for investment opportunities, including but not
limited to, in the media and entertainment related businesses in order
to expand the source of income and prospects of the Group.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
i R

Set out below are the biographical details of the directors (the
“Directors”) of the Company as at the date of this annual report:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Dong Ping (“Mr. Dong")

Mr. Dong, aged 60, was appointed as an executive Director on 2
September 2015, re-designated as the chairman (the “Chairman”) of
the board (the “Board”) of Directors on 15 January 2016 and is also a
member of remuneration committee and a member of nomination
committee of the Company. Mr. Dong is also director of a number
of subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Dong has extensive experience,
knowledge and connection in investment and operation of Chinese
media, advertisement, satellite TV, film productions and media fields
and was the former chairman of ChinaVision Media Group Limited
(now known as Alibaba Pictures Group Limited), a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1060). Mr. Dong
has been the principal investor, producer and co-producer of various
internationally renowned films, including Crouching Tiger, Hidden
Dragon (EASR#EBE) (directed by Mr. Ang Lee (&%), Devils on the
Doorstep (73 1) (directed by Mr. Jiang Wen (ZX)), Peacock (FL£)
(directed by Mr. Gu Changwei (B &%), Let the Bullets Fly (:&F587)
(directed by Mr. Jiang Wen (X)), Journey to the West: Conquering
the Demons (Fa#z « [&E ) (directed by Mr. Stephen Chow (A £
&), Dearest (FRE ) (directed by Mr. Chan Ho Sun Peter (R 8] %)),
Breakup Buddies ((TEFEHR) (directed by Mr. Ning Hao) and Dying
to Survive (32 %4#) (co-produced by Mr. Ning Hao and Mr. Xu
Zheng). Some of these films have won numerous major awards in both
domestic and overseas film festivals. From August 2003 to April 2005,
Mr. Dong was the president of Asian Union Film and Media. Between
31 May 2005 and 11 January 2008, Mr. Dong was appointed as an
executive director of Asian Union New Media (Group) Limited (now
known as Huayi Tencent Entertainment Co. Ltd.), a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 419), and was the
chairman of the board of directors from 12 May 2006 to 11 January
2008.

As at the date of this report, Mr. Dong was deemed to be interested
in 1,471,434,354 Shares (being 461,711,082 Shares held by Newwood
Investments Limited ("Newwood”), 92,342,216 Shares held by
Numerous Joy Limited (“Numerous Joy"), 800,000 Shares held by
Highrise Castle Limited (“Highrise"), 36,630,000 Shares held by Mr.
Dong, 2,700,000 underlying Shares held by Mr. Dong, 438,625,528
Shares held by Pacific Wits Limited (“Pacific Wits") and 438,625,528
Shares held by Tairong Holdings Limited (“Tairong"”)) within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “"SFO"). Please refer to the section
“Directors’ Interests in Securities” in the Directors’ Report of this
annual report for details.
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Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven (“Mr. Xiang")

Mr. Xiang, aged 59, was appointed as an executive Director on 2
September 2015 and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company
on 18 September 2015. Mr. Xiang is also director of a number of
subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Xiang was a partner of Weil, Gotshal
& Manges LLP, an international law firm, where he has led its China
practice since 2004. Previously, Mr. Xiang was a partner in the
Shanghai office of Clifford Chance, an international law firm from
2002 to 2004. A specialist in mergers and acquisitions, Mr. Xiang
has acted as the principal counsel in many significant transactions
including representing Lenovo Group Limited in its acquisition of IBM's
global personal computer business. He holds a degree of juris doctor
from Vanderbilt University School of Law, U.S.A. and a Bachelor of
Arts from Beijing University of International Relations. Mr. Xiang is
licensed to practice law in New York and in Hong Kong. Mr. Xiang has
been consistently ranked as one of the top mergers and acquisitions
lawyers by Chambers.

As at the date of this report, Mr. Xiang was interested in 27,000,000
underlying Shares within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO. Please
refer to the section “Directors’ Interests in Securities” in the Directors’
Report of this annual report for details.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
i R

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ning Hao (“Mr. Ning")

Mr. Ning, aged 44, was appointed as a non-executive Director on 2
September 2015. Mr. Ning majored in photography and obtained a
bachelor degree from Beijing Film Academy (it RE F £F3) in China
in 2003. Mr. Ning is a film director and screenwriter who has directed
seven films between 2003 and 2014, which were engraved with his
unique personal style and won international acclaim. All of Mr. Ning's
films have achieved strong investment returns. His directorial debut
Incense (& X) (2003) and his second film Mongolian Ping Pong (4% &
i#b) (2004) were nominated in more than 50 international film festivals,
including the Berlin International Film Festival, the Locarno Festival
and the Hong Kong International Film Festival. Among these, Incense
(& N) won the Grand Prize at the Fourth Tokyo FILMeX Festival in
2003 and the Golden Prize (Asian Digital Films) at the 28th Hong Kong
International Film Festival in 2004. In 2006, Mr. Ning directed his small
budget film Crazy Stone (& &J4558), which won the Taiwan Golden
Horse Awards (/&% 5 82) for the Best Original Screenplay. Crazy
Racer (T 89 E) (2009), which was wrote and directed by Mr. Ning,
was produced for an investment of only RMB10 million and achieved
over RMB100 million at the box office. In 2013, Mr. Ning directed No
Man’s Land (£ A[&), which won the Annual Tribute Movie by One
Hundred Media (B REHEFE B EF) at the 14th Chinese Film
Media Awards (Z BB EH A H). Mr. Ning also directed the huge
box office hit Breakup Buddies ({0FEREER) (2014) which grossed
RMB1,169 million at the box office in China and became the highest-
grossing domestic Chinese film of the year. Dying to Survive (¥~
72 BE18) (2018), co-produced by Mr. Ning and Mr. Xu Zheng, earned
RMB3,100 million in box office receipts and was nominated for several
awards at the Taiwan Golden Horse Awards, Golden Rooster Awards
and others. Crazy Alien (JEIEEISNE A) (2019) which directed by Mr.
Ning achieved RMB2,200 million at the box office.

As at the date of this report, Mr. Ning was deemed to be interested in
1,471,434,354 Shares (being 461,711,082 Shares held by Newwood,
92,342,216 Shares held by Numerous Joy, 800,000 Shares held by
Highrise, 36,630,000 Shares held by Mr. Dong, 2,700,000 underlying
Shares held by Mr. Dong, 438,625,528 Shares held by Pacific Wits and
438,625,528 Shares held by Tairong) within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO. Please refer to the section “Directors’ Interests in Securities”
in the Directors’ Report of this annual report for details.
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Mr. Xu Zheng (“Mr. Xu")

Mr. Xu, aged 49, was appointed as a non-executive Director on 2
September 2015. Mr. Xu graduated with a bachelor degree from
Shanghai Theatre Academy (/8 E%EIZFt) in China in 1994. Mr. Xu is
an actor, director, screenwriter and producer. He started his career as
an actor in the 1990s. Mr. Xu rose to national stardom in 2000 with the
TV series Sunny Piggy (&Yt 1% )\ k), followed by other successful
TV dramas such as Li Wei the Magistrate (F&EE) (2002). Mr. Xu
then focused more on films, starring in comedies Call for Love (21§
WOl E2F2) (2007) and Call for Love Il (B 1EW0UEF£2) (2008), Lost on
Journey (NFEE#) (2010), No Man's Land (% A&) (2013) (for which
he was awarded the best lead actor by the China Film Directors’ Guild
(FEEFEERE) in 2014) and the huge box office hit Breakup
Buddies ({FEE ) (2014) and Lost in Hong Kong (&) (2015). In
2012, his directorial debut Lost in Thailand (A E % 2 Z=M) (a road
trip comedy) which he also wrote, directed, produced and starred
in, earned over USD200 million and broke the record of the highest-
grossing domestic Chinese film. In 2014, he produced and starred
in The Great Hypnotist (f&8& X E&m) (a suspense thriller film), which
achieved ground-breaking box-office success and a great reputation
in the Chinese suspense thriller film market. In 2018, Mr. Xu was
awarded the best leading actor by the Taiwan Golden Horse Awards (&
4 5 5%) for his performance in Dying to Survive (3,7~ 2 %&x8).

As at the date of this report, Mr. Xu was deemed to be interested in
1,471,434,354 Shares (being 461,711,082 Shares held by Newwood,
92,342,216 Shares held by Numerous Joy, 800,000 Shares held by
Highrise, 36,630,000 Shares held by Mr. Dong, 2,700,000 underlying
Shares held by Mr. Dong, 438,625,528 Shares held by Pacific Wits and
438,625,528 Shares held by Tairong) within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO. Please refer to the section “Directors’ Interests in Securities”
in the Directors’ Report of this annual report for details.

Ms. Li Ni (“Ms. Li")

Ms. Li, aged 36, was appointed as a non-executive Director on 21
September 2020. Ms. Li has served as the chief operating officer of
Bilibili Inc. (“Bilibili") (NASDAQ Trading Symbol: BILI) (Stock Exchange
stock code: 9626) since November 2014 and vice chairwoman of
the board of directors of Bilibili since January 2015. Ms. Li oversees
the platform operations, sales and commercial cooperation, content
ecosystem partnership, and strategic planning and investments of
Bilibili.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Tak Chuen (“Mr. Wong")

Mr. Wong, aged 57, joined the Company as an independent non-
executive Director on 10 April 2014. Mr. Wong is the chairman of the
audit committee of the Company. Mr. Wong is a fellow member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants in the United Kingdom and the
Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, respectively.
He has over 20 years of experience in auditing, financial management,
mergers and acquisitions gained from certain senior finance related
positions in an international accounting firm in Hong Kong, companies
listed in Hong Kong and a company listed in the United States of
America. He is currently the Finance Director of a private company
in Hong Kong. Mr. Wong is currently an independent non-executive
director of (i) Eternity Investment Limited (stock code: 764, a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange) since 7 November
2011; and (ii) China Healthwise Holdings Limited (stock code: 348, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange) since 11
October 2016. Mr. Wong was an independent non-executive director
of Man Sang International Limited (stock code: 938, a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange) from 12 July 2016 to 5
November 2018.

Mr. Li Xiaolong (“Mr. Li")

Mr. Li, aged 56, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 2 September 2015. Mr. Li is a member of each of the
remuneration committee, nomination committee and audit committee
of the Company. Mr. Li has more than 20 years of experience in the
industry of information technology and telecommunications. He is
the founder and chairman of Net 263 Ltd. (Shenzhen Stock Exchange
Code: 002467), a company based in Beijing which provides integrated
communication services for medium-and small-sized enterprises and
professionals. Since September 2004, Mr. Li was the chairman of the
board of Net 263 Ltd., and since August 2006, the director of Net 263
Ltd. He was an independent director at E-Commerce China Dangdang
Inc. from December 2010 to October 2016, and an independent
director at Kongzhong Corp. from 2012 to May 2017. Mr. Li graduated
from Beijing University of Technology, majored in software engineering
of computer science. In January 2013, Mr. Li was appointed as a
committee member of the telecommunications and economic experts
of the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology.

As at the date of this report, Mr. Li was deemed to be interested in
15,060,000 Shares within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO. Please
refer to the section “Directors’ Interests in Securities” in the Directors'’
Report of this annual report for details.
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Mr. Wang Hong (“Mr. Wang")

Mr. Wang, aged 57, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 2 September 2019. Mr. Wang is the chairman of each of
the remuneration committee and nomination committee of the
Company and a member of audit committee of the Company. Mr.
Wang is currently the vice president of Hengdian Group Holdings
Limited, responsible for the group’s overseas affairs. He once served
as the chairman of Hengdian Film and Television Production Co., Ltd.*
(B JE R EHEHR R A A]), and produced the animation film Monkey
King: Hero is Back (EZLEEZK% £32K), received the highest animation
box office record in China, and some TV series. He was the chief
executive officer of Asian Union New Media (Group) Limited (now
known as Huayi Tencent Entertainment Company Limited) (Stock
Code: 0419) between January 2008 and March 2012 and was an
executive director of the company between August 2010 and March
2012, responsible for the overall operation of the company, and
engaged in the investment of Letter from an Unknown Woman (— &g
AL ARIRAZ), Peacock (FL#), And the Spring Comes (3 %), Under
the Hawthorn Tree (LL#&# 2 &) and some other films. He was the
president of the Travel Channel between May 2003 and February 2008,
during which he built up a new Travel Channel with an annual revenue
of over RMB200 million. He also served as the deputy general manager
of a cultural subsidiary of Poly Group between July 1991 and May 2003
and was responsible for the company’s investment business. He had
engaged in the implementation of Poly Culture’s various investment
projects related to the cultural industries. Mr. Wang obtained a
Bachelor degree of Economics in International Trade and Economics
at University of International Business and Economics in 1988.

As at the date of this report, Mr. Wang was interested in 200,000
Shares within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO. Please refer to the
section “Directors’ Interests in Securities” in the Directors’ Report of
this annual report for details.

* For identification purposes only
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The Directors present their report together with the audited financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding and film investment
company and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in media
and entertainment related businesses, including development and
investment in film and TV programmes rights, as well as operation of
an online video platform.

The Group has ceased the operations of its property agency business
and securities trading and investments business during the year ended
31 December 2020.

Details of the activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in Note
13 to the consolidated financial statements. An analysis of revenue
and film investment income and results by principal activities of the
Group are set out in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 120.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five years is set out on page 244. This summary does not
form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY

Details of the ordinary shares issued by the Company in 2021 and
details of movement in the share capital of the Company in 2021
are set out in Note 30 to the consolidated financial statements
and sections headed “Company’s Contract Involving Issue of New
Shares” and “Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s Listed
Securities” of this Directors’ Report.
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SHARE OPTIONS

A share option scheme has been adopted and approved by the
shareholders of the Company at the annual general meeting held on
17 June 2014 (the “Share Option Scheme”). The 10% limit of the Share
Option Scheme (the “Scheme Mandate Limit") has been refreshed on
16 December 2015 and 29 June 2018. As at the date of this annual
report, the Scheme Mandate Limit refreshed on 29 June 2018 has not
yet been utilised and the total number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme is 276,805,540 shares.

On 27 April 2018, 130,700,000 options were granted under the Share
Option Scheme and no share options were exercised, cancelled or
lapsed during the year ended 31 December 2021. As at 31 December
2021, the Company has 130,700,000 options outstanding which
represented approximately 3.57% of the total number of issued shares
of the Company as at that date.

The following table discloses movements in the Company’s share
options during the year ended 31 December 2021:
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Notes:

1. The share options are exercisable as follows:

Exercise criteria
(Commencing from the date of
the grantee’s commencement of
employment with the Group)

(i) On completion of the continuous
employment of the grantee with
the Group for 1 year

(if) On completion of the continuous
employment of the grantee with
the Group for 2 years

(i)~ On completion of the continuous
employment of the grantee with
the Group for 3 years

2. The validity period of the share options is from 27 April 2018 to 17 June 2024
(both days inclusive) subject to the provisions for early termination contained
in the Share Option Scheme and certain vesting conditions applicable to the

relevant grantee(s).

Details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in Note 34 to the

consolidated financial statements.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during 2021 was the Company
or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in,

Number of share options can
be exercised

Up to one-third of the share

options granted

Up to two-thirds of the share
options granted

Up to all of the share options
granted

or debenture of, the Company or any other body corporate.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

On 29 January 2021, 1,240,000 Shares repurchased by a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company on the Stock Exchange in December 2020
were cancelled.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company repurchased a total of 33,150,000 Shares on the
Stock Exchange at an aggregate consideration of approximately
HK$59,802,100 (before expenses). 33,150,000 Shares repurchased
were cancelled during the year ended 31 December 2021.

Details of the Shares repurchased during the year are as follows:
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June 2021 25,970,000 1.95 173 47,855,900
—E-—FXA
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Total 33,150,000 59,802,100
Bt

The above shares repurchased was made with a view to enhancing
the value of the Shares thereby improving the return to shareholders
of the Company. In addition, the share repurchase reflects the
Company's recognition of its own value and its confidence in the long-
term prospects of the industry.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities during 2021.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws (the “Bye-laws") or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year are set out in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on page 124 and Note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE

Details of the distributable reserve of the Company as at 31 December
2021 are set out in Note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2021, the Company did not have distributable
profit to shareholders (2020: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business performance of the Group during 2021 using
financial key performance indicators and discussion on the important
events affecting the Group since the end of 2021 and the Group's
future business development that the Group may be facing are
provided in the Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion
and Analysis of this annual report, the discussions thereof form part of
this Directors’ Report.

Discussions on the Group’s environmental policies, relationships
with its key stakeholders and compliance with relevant laws and
regulations which have significant impact on the Group are set out
below in the Directors’ Report of this annual report. Please also refer
to the Environmental, Social and Governance Report for the Group's
policies in this regard.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The following are the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group
as required to be disclosed pursuant to the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong) and are in addition to the
matters referred to in the Chairman’s Statement and Management
Discussion and Analysis of this annual report.

1. Operational Risk

In respect of the risk factor relating to the Group’s business,
given that the Company will invest in a limited number of films,
the success or failure of these films could have a significant
impact on the Company’s results of operations in both the year
of release and in the future. Besides, unauthorised copying and
piracy are prevalent in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC")
and other countries in Asia, whose legal systems may make
it difficult for the Company to enforce its intellectual property
rights.

Mr. Dong Ping (“Mr. Dong"), Mr. Ning and Mr. Xu have extensive
experience, strong expertise and a wide business network in the
media and entertainment industry. Mr. Dong, the Company's
substantial shareholder and the Chairman of the Board, has
extensive experience, knowledge and connection in investment
and operation of Chinese media, advertisement, satellite TV, film
productions and media fields, whilst Mr. Ning and Mr. Xu are
prestigious and successful directors and actors in Chinese movie
industry. Please refer to “Biographical Details of Directors” in this
annual report for the biographical details of Mr. Dong, Mr. Ning
and Mr. Xu.

Oon 1 June 2016, the Group entered into a cooperation
agreement with Mr. Chan Ho Sun Peter and Master China Films
Limited (a company indirectly wholly-owned by Mr. Wong Kar
Wai) respectively, pursuant to which each of Mr. Chan Ho Sun
Peter and Master China Films Limited has conditionally agreed
to provide to the Group with certain services, and investment
and other rights, relating to film and media productions as set
forth in the relevant agreements. Further, on 6 December 2016,
the Group entered into a cooperation agreement with Mr. Gu
Changwei and Mr. Zhang Xiaoling (also known as Zhang Yibai)
respectively, pursuant to which each of Mr. Gu Changwei and
Mr. Zhang Xiaoling has conditionally agreed to provide to the
Group with certain services, and investment and other rights,
relating to film and internet drama series productions as set
forth in the relevant agreements.
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The Company entered into a cooperation agreement on 24 May
2018 with Unigue Swift Limited, a company having an exclusive
investment right of certain internet drama series productions
or films of Mr. Zhang Yimou, and the amended and restated
cooperation agreement on 11 September 2018 with Unique Swift
Limited and Mr. Zhang Yimou, pursuant to which Unique Swift
Limited has conditionally agreed to procure Mr. Zhang Yimou to
provide the Group with certain services, investment and other
rights, relating to certain internet drama series productions or
films as set forth in the relevant agreements.

The Group entered into a cooperation agreement in June 2021
with Shanghai Hanna Pictures Culture Media Company Limited*
(EBBMEE X bEHEABRAA) ("Hanna Pictures”) for a
term of three years with priority right to renew the agreement.
Pursuant to the cooperation agreement, the Group, Hanna
Pictures and Mr. Huang Bo (a famous actor and director in China)
will collaborate on investment and development of quality film
and TV productions.

Given the above, the Directors are of the view that the
participation of Mr. Dong, Mr. Ning, Mr. Xu, Mr. Chan Ho Sun
Peter, Mr. Wong Kar Wai, Mr. Gu Changwei, Mr. Zhang Xiaoling,
Mr. Zhang Yimou and Mr. Huang Bo in the Group and through
cooperation with them would be instrumental in the Company’s
development in the media and entertainment industry and could
migrate the risk.

Since the outbreak of Coronavirus Disease 2019 in various
countries in the beginning of 2020, the PRC government has
implemented several measures to control the Pandemic. If the
Pandemic outbreak persists for a longer period subsequently,
the production and distribution plan of the Group’s film and TV
programmes right and the financial performance of the Group
for the year ending 31 December 2022 may be affected but the
financial effect of which cannot be reasonably estimated at this
stage. The Group will pay close attention to the development
of the Pandemic outbreak and its impact on the media market,
and will continue to perform relevant assessments and take
proactive measures to minimise its impact towards the Group'’s
business operations and financial results.

*  For identification purposes only
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2. Financial Risks

Details of the Group's financial risks relating to the operations
of the Group include market risk (including foreign currency risk
and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk are set out in
Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in Note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Directors during 2021 and up to the date of the annual report
were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Dong Ping (Chairman)
Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Ning Hao

Mr. Xu Zheng

Ms. Li Ni

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Wong Tak Chuen

Mr. Li Xiaolong

Mr. Wang Hong

In accordance with Bye-law 99 of the Bye-laws, Mr. Xiang Shaokun,
Steven, Mr. Ning Hao and Mr. Wong Tak Chuen shall retire by rotation
at the forthcoming annual general meeting. All of them, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

Brief biographical particulars of the existing Directors are set out in
the “Biographical Details of Directors” of this annual report. Directors’
other particulars are contained in this report and elsewhere in this
annual report.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
CE

2. MBER

BRASERL2zMBRRBET SRR (R
EINERRRMERR) FERBRIREE
R - FIFEIIRGA M ERRMES -

ME - MERKRE

AEBEZYE BEMRERFAEEH 2 FHIAR
A M WRME -

Exg

R-B-_—FARBERERAMEZEETMNT :

BITES
BEYEREERE)
TRARIR T (TTHAEE)

FUTEE
st
i85
Fifzt

BYFITES
FEEEE
Farkd

RRARARISEOR - THARAL - BEEENE

REEEEANEERRBFRE LHESE - KE
BRAERL BN EERFIBFAS LEREE-

BEESZEEBNENAFRZ(ESEE] - &
FZHMFBERARE RAFREMED

39



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
w3

DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company has a service contract with
the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable
by the employing company within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

The existing Directors including the executive Directors, the non-
executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors
are for a term of 2 years (except Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven, an
executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer of the Group,
there is no specific term or proposed length of services for Mr.
Xiang's appointment). All of the existing Directors shall be subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the Bye-laws
and the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”)
on the Stock Exchange.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for
Directors” and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its
Directors and senior management arising out of corporate activities.
The permitted indemnity provision is in force for the benefit of the
Directors as required by section 470 of the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong) when the Directors’ Report
prepared by the Directors is approved in accordance with section
391(1)(a) of the Companies Ordinance.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all of the independent
non-executive Directors are independent.
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN SECURITIES EEvESESR

As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions of each RZZEZ—F+-A=+—H 8FF MITHEHR
Director and chief executive in the shares, underlying shares and R ARA G HEEMBEEZE (FERBHLBEKE
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations — HISEXVER) Z i ~ B D R EEES - HE K
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as recorded in the register R AR IBIEE S M EEF E3521FHFE F 2 &
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the 2R EIK A - IREESF RHEE G0 EXVER
SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange 3¢ F A2 F B {TAESHITE LS HHEE
pursuant to Part XV of the SFO or the Model Code for Securities  SFBI([1ZYESFEI ) B RBITHE AR 7 KB A A
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) under RBIEMBEZEZZARIT :

the Listing Rules, or known to the Company, were as follows:

Long Positions in the Ordinary Shares of HK$0.01 AATEREEBE0.01T2EBERRE
Each of the Company and the Underlying Shares BRAZHE

Number of Ordinary Shares Number of
N underlyin Approximate
LBRYE L -

Shares percentage

Corporate Personal held under of the

Name of Directors interests interests Sub-total share options Total issued Shares

BRET HEBRTRG

BEEpg NRER BAER P HEBERHOEA st BAELL

Mr. Dong Ping 1,432,104,354 36,630,000 1,468,734,354 2,700,000 1,471,434,354 40.24%
BELLEO

Mr. Ning Hao? 1,432,104,354 36,630,000 1,468,734,354 2,700,000 1,471,434,354 40.24%
BEEA0

Mr. Xu Zheng® 1,432,104,354 36,630,000 1,468,734,354 2,700,000 1,471,434,354 40.24%
RIFEAED

Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven® - - - 27,000,000 27,000,000 0.74%

ERELEY
Mr. Li Xiaolong® 15,060,000 - 15,060,000 - 15,060,000 0.41%
TR A

Mr. Wang Hong® - 200,000 200,000 - 200,000 0.01%

FITEAEO

REMREEERAT - —B=—FF8 41
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Notes:
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These Shares include Shares held by Newwood as to 461,711,082 Shares,
Numerous as to 92,342,216 Shares and Highrise as to 800,000 Shares which
are companies incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability
and directly wholly owned by Mr. Dong. Mr. Dong also personally holds
36,630,000 Shares and 2,700,000 unlisted physically settled share options
of the Company granted on 27 April 2018 pursuant to the Company’s
share option scheme adopted on 17 June 2014. On 14 April 2015, Mr.
Dong, Newwood, Pacific Wits, Mr. Ning, Tairong and Mr. Xu entered into
a shareholders agreement (the “Shareholders Agreement”), which sets
forth certain rights and obligations of each of the parties in respect of the
governance of the Company following completion of the subscription for new
shares in the Company pursuant to a subscription agreement dated 14 April
2015, details of which are set out in the Company’s circular dated 5 August
2015. As Mr. Dong is a party to the Shareholders Agreement, Mr. Dong is
therefore deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which Mr. Ning, Pacific
Wits, Mr. Xu and Tairong are interested by virtue of section 317 of the SFO.
Please refer to notes 2 and 3 for Shares held by Mr. Ning and Mr. Xu.

These Shares include 438,625,528 Shares directly held by Pacific Wits, which
is a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability and
directly wholly owned by Mr. Ning. Mr. Ning is a party to the Shareholders
Agreement and is therefore deemed to be interested in all the Shares and
underlying Shares in which Mr. Dong, Newwood, Mr. Xu and Tairong are
interested by virtue of section 317 of the SFO. Please refer to notes 1 and 3
for Shares and underlying Shares held by Mr. Dong and Mr. Xu.

These Shares include 438,625,528 Shares directly held by Tairong, which
is a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability
and directly wholly owned by Mr. Xu. Mr. Xu is a party to the Shareholders
Agreement and is therefore deemed to be interested in all the Shares and
underlying Shares in which Mr. Dong, Newwood, Mr. Ning and Pacific Wits are
interested by virtue of section 317 of the SFO. Please refer to notes 1 and 2
for Shares and underlying Shares held by Mr. Dong and Mr. Ning.

These underlying Shares are 27,000,000 unlisted physically settled share
options of the Company granted to Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven on 27 April
2018 pursuant to the Company’s share option scheme adopted on 17 June
2014.

These Shares are held by Panfaith Investments Limited, which is a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability and ultimately
wholly owned by Mr. Li Xiaolong.

These Shares are jointly held by Mr. Wang Hong and his spouse.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company or any of their associates
had any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO,
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in Note 36 to the financial statements headed
"Related Party Disclosures”, the sections headed “Directors’ Interests
in Competing Business” and “Company Contracts of Significance/
Connected Transaction” of the Directors’ Report and elsewhere in
this annual report, no Director nor any entity connected with the
Directors had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, in
any transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to the
business of the Group to which the Company, its holding company, or
any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during 2021.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER'S INTERESTS IN
SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in Note 36 to the financial statements headed
“Related Party Disclosures”, the sections headed “Directors’ Interests
in Competing Business” and “Company Contracts of Significance/
Connected Transaction” of the Directors’ Report and elsewhere in
this annual report, at no time during 2021 had the Company or any
of its subsidiaries, and the controlling shareholder (as defined in the
Listing Rules) or any of its subsidiaries entered into any contracts
of significance or any contract of significance for the provision of
services by the controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries.
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COMPANY'S CONTRACT INVOLVING ISSUE OF
NEW SHARES

On 21 September 2020, the Company completed an issuance of
346,626,954 ordinary shares, of nominal value of approximately
HK$3,466,000 in the capital of the Company at a price of HK$1.48 per
subscription share to Bilibili Inc.. The gross proceeds and net proceeds
raised from the subscription were approximately HK$513,008,000
and HK$511,700,000 respectively. Please refer to the Company’s
announcements dated 30 August 2020, 10 September 2020 and 21
September 2020 for details.

As 1 January 2021, HK$142,140,000 had not been used. As at 31
December 2021, the said unused amount had been fully utilised as
intended for (i) investment in film and TV programme rights business
and (i) general working capital.

On 27 April 2021, the Company entered into the Placing Agreement
with a placing agent. Upon completion of the Placing Agreement on 5
May 2021, an aggregate of 218,130,000 Shares of HK$0.01 each in the
capital of the Company were placed to not fewer than six placees, at
the placing price of HK$2.15 per placing share. The net price received
by the Company was approximately HK$2.14 per placing share. The
closing price of the Shares on the date of entering into the Placing
Agreement was HK$2.15 per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange.

The Board believes that the placing represents an opportunity to raise
capital for the Group while broadening the Company’s shareholder

base and strengthening the financial position of the Group.

Please refer to the Company’s announcements dated 27 April 2021, 28
April 2021 and 5 May 2021 for details of the Placing Agreement.
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The gross proceeds and net proceeds raised from the placing were
approximately HK$468,980,000 and HK$467,279,000 respectively.
Approximately HK$351,979,000 have been used by the Company for
the year ended 31 December 2021 and approximately HK$115,369,000
remains unutilised which is expected to be fully utilised by May 2022.
The following table sets out the breakdown of the use of net proceeds
as at 31 December 2021:
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Amount proposed Amount Unutilised
Use of proceeds for to be used used amount
FRBRERR REHASE CEASHE REASE
(HK$'000) (HK$'000) (HK$'000)
(BT T) (BT T (M FT)
Production of film and internet drama series and
online video platform business 367,279 (269,360) 97,919
B MPEBIRE L m RERRIET & %5
General working capital 100,000 (82,550) 17,450
—REEBEER
Total 467,279 (351,910) 115,369
ek

COMPANY CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE/
CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Film Production Agreement and Director
Agreement — connected transactions

On 20 December 2021, (i) Beijing Huanshixi Culture Media Company
Limited* Gt REL+EXLEHEER AR and Taizhou Huanxi
Culture Investment Company Limited* (& MNEE LI EBRAR])
(collectively the “Group Companies”) entered into the film production
agreement with Hainan Ruri Fangsheng Film and Television Culture
Communication Company Limited* (8m a1 B F AE KR XLEES
fR 2 ®]) (“Hainan Ruri Fangsheng”), pursuant to which Hainan Ruri
Fangsheng has conditionally agreed to provide the film production
services to the Group Companies in relation to the film Something
About Us (4LH 5L 4) (formerly known as Red Carpet (R E)) (the
“Film"); and (i) the Company entered into the director agreement with
Mr. Ning Hao, pursuant to which Mr. Ning Hao has conditionally agreed
to act as the director of the Film.

* For identification purposes only
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As at the date of the film production agreement and director
agreement (collectively the “Agreements”), Mr. Ning Hao is a non-
executive director of the Company and the sole ultimate beneficial
owner of Pacific Wits Limited, a substantial shareholder of the
Company which holds 438,625,528 Shares, representing approximately
12.00% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of
the Agreements. As such, Mr. Ning Hao is a connected person of the
Company under the Listing Rules and the transaction contemplated
under the director agreement constitutes a connected transaction of
the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Notwithstanding
that Hainan Ruri Fangsheng is an Independent Third Party, Hainan
Ruri Fangsheng is the film production company proposed by Mr.
Ning Hao to provide the film production services to the Company in
relation to the Film, and the Board noted that Hainan Ruri Fangsheng
and Mr. Ning Hao will enter into a consultancy agreement, pursuant
to which Mr. Ning Hao will provide consultancy services to Hainan
Ruri Fangsheng in relation to the production of the Film, to the effect
that Mr. Ning Hao will have significant influence over Hainan Ruri
Fangsheng in relation to the production of the Film. In view of the
above, the transactions contemplated under the Agreements are
aggregated and are subject to the reporting, announcement and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.

The transactions contemplated under the Agreements were approved
by the independent shareholders of the Company at the special
general meeting of the Company held on 21 February 2022. Please
refer to the Company’s announcements dated 20 December 2021 and
21 February 2022, and the Company’s circular dated 31 January 2022
for details.
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING

BUSINESS
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EENHBRFRB 2 ERS

Interests of the Directors in competing businesses to the Groupasat R-ZE-_—F+_A=+—H EERLEEZH
31 December 2021 required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10 of ~ F i - AiRE F TR BIES10FHE 2 H

the Listing Rules were set out as below:

FIgAR

Companies which

Nature of interest
(including close

Directors Directors held interests Major business nature associate’s interest)
ERME(EEETHE

=3 EERHAREZ AT FEREBMEE AL zfEm)

Mr. Ning Hao Tianjin Dirty Monkey Films Company TV and movie project Ultimate shareholder

kg Limited* preparation, TV and movie SRR

REZBRFZERRRAT

Beijing Dirty Monkey Culture
Development Company Limited*
B FCERERBR LA
Khorgas Dirty Monkey Media Culture
Company Limited*
ERRIMBBRFEEULERER AR

FEml(EEEER AT

BRT (L)X EEERAT

Tibet Jindouyun Film Company Limited*

PRI ERZRER LA
EEEaeH R EER A

ERRIHAEXEUERER AT

RETEERERAR QA

*  For identification purposes only

planning
TARAEEE  TRKE

TV production and distribution

EREE RENETT

TV and movie production
BREE LB RE

TV and movie production
BERETE RNEFRIE

TV and movie production
BREE REFEIE

TV and movie production
BiRE B REXRIE

TV and movie production and

movie distribution
BRENE RBEFEENUR

BRRT

TV and movie investments
BEREHEREFERE

TV and movie distribution
BIRENE R EFELT

Movie production, radio and
TV production, cultural and

entertainment agency
BEYmE  BERERMHAE
BUE - XYLIREELSAEA

HEELAKERRAF -

Ultimate shareholder
RIRIRER

Ultimate shareholder
543533

Ultimate shareholder
SRR

Ultimate shareholder
IR

Ultimate shareholder
RIRARER

Ultimate shareholder
SRR

Ultimate shareholder
SRR

Ultimate shareholder
REEBR

Ultimate shareholder
IR
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Directors
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Companies which
Directors held interests

EERAREZAF

Major business nature

TEREBME

Nature of interest
(including close
associate’s interest)
ERMEEERTHE
AL ZREz)

Mr. Xu Zzheng
RGeS

INJO Films Co. Ltd.
RIS AR SUEEEBR AR

AR RERTRERER AT

PO A TSR XL ERAER AR

Beijing Joy Leader Culture
Communication Co. Ltd.
It REBELE X LEEER AT

BERE(LEBERERAQT]

Shanghai Joy Leader Media Culture
Workshop*
FPEEZEXRXETES

BEREILEXCEEAR AR

BEEFFEEXLEIEERAR

EEEFAL M EERERAA

It

Z5EaTREFMBRAR

+

ERERREERERAT

*  For identification purposes only
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TV and movie production
BERETE REFRIE

TV and movie production
BEREE REFEIE

TV and movie production
EREA RETEIE

Movie production and
investments
BRYRIERNE

TV and movie production and
movie distribution
BRENE REFZREUR

BERRT

Planning of TV and movie
BRETA REZEKE

TV production
EARET B HE

TV production and movie
distribution
BRE B RERERET

TV production
ERENE RE

TV and movie production and
distribution

BEREE RERFEEUR
BT

TV production and movie
distribution
BERE B REREREIT

Close associate’s interest
BEEMEA LT ER

Close associate’s interest
D A+ 2R

Close associate’s interest
REBMBAT 2R

Ultimate shareholder
IR

Ultimate shareholder
SRR

Ultimate shareholder
REER

Ultimate shareholder
SRR

Ultimate shareholder and
Close associate’s interest

BRBRRRETHEAL
L

Close associate’s interest
Do A+ 2R

Close associate’s interest
REBMBAT 2R

Close associate’s interest
BEBEA LT 2R



The Group is principally engaged in the media and entertainment
related businesses, including development and investment in film
and TV programmes rights, as well as operation of an online video
platform.

Mr. Ning, together with his family, is the ultimate shareholder of the
above companies (together “Mr. Ning's Companies”). Mr. Ning's
companies are principally engaged in the TV and movie production
and distribution in the PRC. For the film Something About Us (41 #
Jo ) (formerly known as Red Carpet (& RBHE)), the details of the
film production agreement and director agreement — connected
transactions are disclosed under the section headed “Company
Contracts of Significance/Connected Transaction” in this Directors’
Report. Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, none of Mr.
Ning or his close associates was interested in any business in respect
of film production, apart from his and/or his family’s interests in Mr.
Ning's Companies.

Mr. Xu is the majority shareholder of the above companies (together
“Mr. Xu's Companies”). Mr. Xu's Companies are principally engaged in
the TV and movie production, investment and distribution in the PRC.
As at 31 December 2021, none of Mr. Xu or his close associates was
interested in any business in respect of film production, apart from his
interests in Mr. Xu's Companies.

The Directors consider that the Group is capable of carrying on its
businesses independently of, and at arm’s length from, the movie
business of (i) Mr. Ning’s Companies and (ii) Mr. Xu's Companies ((i) and
(i) together, the “Other Companies”) as () there is a clear separation
between the Group’s businesses and those of the Other Companies;
(i) the Group is not operationally or financially dependent on any
of the Other Companies, or vice versa; and (iii) the Board operates
independently from the boards of the Other Companies. The Board
consists of eight members, comprising of two executive Directors,
three non-executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors. All of the Directors are aware of their fiduciary duties as a
director of the Company which require, among other things, that they
act for the benefit and in the best interests of the Company and do not
allow any conflict between their duties as a Director and their personal
interest. In the event that there is a potential conflict of interest arising
out of any transaction to be entered into between the Group and the
Directors or their respective associates, the interested Director(s) shall
abstain from voting at the relevant board meetings of the Company in
respect of such transactions and shall not be counted in the quorum.
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From time to time, the Group may consider possible co-investment
opportunities with Mr. Ning’'s Companies and/or Mr. Xu's Companies
in film or other projects. Any such investments and the definitive
terms thereof would be subject to further negotiations at arm'’s length
between the relevant parties. If any co-investment arrangement
between the Group and Mr. Ning's Companies or Mr. Xu's Companies
were to materialise, it could constitute a connected transaction of the
Company under the Listing Rules. Further announcement(s) in relation
to any such investments will be made as and when appropriate in
compliance with the Listing Rules.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2021, save as disclosed under the section
“Directors’ Interests in Securities” in this Directors’ Report of the
annual report, the Company had been notified of the following
substantial shareholders’ interests, being 5% or more of the
Company’s issued share capital under Section 336 of the SFO.

Name of shareholders Capacity

BRREB HE -8

AEFATEEREBELEEZ NAIRHIREEZ
NREEEFHEMAR L2 REAERE - (EZ%
EREREERGRBEFERINTE-T QY
AR TAMEE - WMAKRBRELEZ ARG
TEZRAREBETMAELRE  RELMAR - 7
BRARBZHEERS - NABKER EMARANE

BIEMRERE BIEAE -

FERRER

RIB_—F+_A=+—8 BEFREERS
ZIERZRB S ER] —SAREEIN  AABEM
STHEIERRER  IRBEESMMEGHRIE
3BIEA R R E BWITIRAF %A L2 #Exs -

Number of
ordinary
Shares held
BEZEB
BREAR

Number of Approximate
underlying percentage of
Shares held” shareholding
¥EzHE REBQ
RGBT Aot

Beneficial owner, interests of
controlled corporation and a
party to an agreement required
to be disclosed under section 317
of the SFO

EnEA A SEHEEER R
FEETN A IRBELFRAEENE
7B T BRI E R

Dong Ping™ (“Mr. Dong")
EFONELRE))

Beneficial owner and interests of a
party to an agreement required
to be disclosed under section 317
of the SFO

EnlEARBRITNAFIREES
N EREEBIENTIEBFRERN
T

Newwood Investments Limited®
(“Newwood”)

Beneficial owner
BEmEA A

Numerous Joy Limited
LEBRNT]

Beneficial owner
BEmlEA A

Highrise Castle Limited
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1,468,734,354 2,700,000 40.24%

1,468,734,354 2,700,000 40.24%

92,342,216 - 2.53%

800,000 - 0.02%



Name of shareholders

BRREB HE

Capacity

-8

Number of
ordinary
Shares held
BEZEE
BREAR
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Ning Hao®? ("Mr. Ning")
EHO([E %))

Pacific Wits Limited?
(“Pacific Wits")
FHABRAT2(ZTAD

Xu Zheng® (“Mr. Xu")
IRIFES(TREAED

Tairong Holdings Limited®
("Tairong")
FRIEZERBBR AT HRE])

Bilibili Inc.®
R IR B R AR

Maoyan Entertainment®
SHARIREEO

FMR LLC.©®

Interests of controlled corporation
and a party to an agreement
required to be disclosed under
section 317 of the SFO

ZEGEEERE M BB N RE
BHENMERAIEINTRATH
oL

Beneficial owner and interests of a
party to an agreement required
to be disclosed under section 317
of the SFO

EnlE ARBRITNAIREES
N EEBIENTIEBFHEN
%S

Interests of controlled corporation
and a party to an agreement
required to be disclosed under
section 317 of the SFO

ZEGEE RS MR R
BHENMPEGPIENTRATH
BErER

Beneficial owner and interests of a
party to an agreement required
to be disclosed under section 317
of the SFO

EnfkB ARBRITOHIRERS
NEAEIEBIEIN7IEBETFIRERN
TS

Beneficial owner
BEmEA A

Beneficial owner
EmEEA

Beneficial owner
EmHEAA

1,468,734,354

1,468,734,354

1,468,734,354

1,468,734,354

346,626,954

208,440,000

197,700,000

Number of Approximate
underlying percentage of
Shares held” shareholding
¥E 28 REBLN
RGBT Aot
2,700,000 40.24%
2,700,000 40.24%
2,700,000 40.24%
2,700,000 40.24%

- 9.48%

- 5.70%

- 5.41%
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Notes:

1. These Shares include Shares held by Newwood as to 461,711,082 Shares,
Numerous Joy Limited as to 92,342,216 Shares and Highrise Castle Limited
as to 800,000 Shares which are companies incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands with limited liability and directly wholly owned by Mr. Dong. Mr. Dong
also personally holds 36,630,000 Shares and 2,700,000 unlisted physically
settled share options of the Company granted on 27 April 2018 pursuant to
the Company’s share option scheme adopted on 17 June 2014. On 14 April
2015, Mr. Dong, Newwood, Pacific Wits, Mr. Ning, Tairong and Mr. Xu entered
into a shareholders agreement (the “Shareholders Agreement”), which sets
forth certain rights and obligations of each of the parties in respect of the
governance of the Company following completion of the subscription for
new shares in the Company pursuant to a subscription agreement dated
14 April 2015, details of which are set out in the Company’s circular dated
5 August 2015. As Mr. Dong and Newwood are parties to the Shareholders
Agreement, Mr. Dong is therefore deemed to be interested in all the Shares in
which Newwood, Mr. Ning, Pacific Wits, Mr. Xu and Tairong are interested by
virtue of section 317 of the SFO; and Newwood is therefore also deemed to
be interested in all the Shares and underlying Shares in which Mr. Dong, Mr.
Ning, Pacific Wits, Mr. Xu and Tairong are interested by virtue of section 317
of the SFO. Please refer to notes 2 and 3 for Shares held by Mr. Ning, Pacific
Wits, Mr. Xu and Tairong.

2. These Shares include 438,625,528 Shares directly held by Pacific Wits, which
is a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability and
directly wholly owned by Mr. Ning. As Mr. Ning and Pacific Wits are parties to
the Shareholders Agreement, Mr. Ning and Pacific Wits are therefore deemed
to be interested in all the Shares and underlying Shares in which Mr. Dong,
Newwood, Mr. Xu and Tairong are interested by virtue of section 317 of the
SFO. Please refer to notes 1 and 3 for the Shares and underlying Shares held
by Mr. Dong, Newwood, Mr. Xu and Tairong.

3 These Shares include 438,625,528 Shares directly held by Tairong, which
is a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability
and directly wholly owned by Mr. Xu. As Mr. Xu and Tairong are parties to
the Shareholders Agreement, Mr. Xu and Tairong are therefore deemed to
be interested in all the Shares and underlying Shares in which Mr. Dong,
Newwood, Mr. Ning and Pacific Wits are interested by virtue of section 317 of
the SFO. Please refer to notes 1 and 2 for the Shares and underlying Shares
held by Mr. Dong, Newwood, Mr. Ning and Pacific Wits.

4. Such disclosure of interests was made in the form of notice pursuant to Part
XV of the SFO disclosed by Bilibili on 24 September 2020.

51 Such disclosure of interests was made in the form of notice pursuant to Part
XV of the SFO disclosed by Maoyan Entertainment on 7 May 2021.

6. Such disclosure of interests was made in the form of notice pursuant to Part
XV of the SFO disclosed by FMR LLC. on 5 May 2021.

7. Details of the share options granted to the substantial shareholders of the
Company under the share option scheme of the Company are set out in the
section “Share Option Scheme” in this report.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, there were no
other persons who had an interest or short position in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, or which were recorded in
the register to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

According to existing PRC laws and regulations, foreign investors
are generally restricted to invest in provision of internet audio-visual
programmes services in the PRC.

In January 2018, the Company, through its wholly-owned subsidiary,
Beijing Huan Sheng Xiao Yu Culture Media Company Limited* (dk 5 &k
BXE L EHEAR A R) (“Beijing Subsidiary”) entered into certain
contractual arrangements (the “Contractual Arrangements”) with
Beijing Huanxi Shou Ying Culture Company Limited* (1t B E B XX
{EBR AR (the “VIE") and its subsidiary Beijing Hangaohua Network
Technology Company Limited* (It 7 Z = #E ML R AR Q7).
Qingdao Huanxi Shou Ying Culture Company Limited* (F &&= &t
XAt AR AF]) was incorporated on 28 May 2020 and wholly-owned
by the VIE (the VIE and its subsidiaries collectively the “VIE Group”).
The VIE Group is principally involved in the film and TV programmes
production and investment and the provision of internet audio-visual
programmes services in the PRC.

Through the Contractual Arrangements, the Group will receive
economic benefits generated by, and obtain effective financial and
operational control and equity holders’ voting rights over the VIE
Group in order to indirectly engage in the film and TV programmes
production and investment and provision of internet audio-visual
programmes services in the PRC. The VIE Group holds some permits
including the License for Publication of Audio-Visual Programmes
through Information Network ({5 B #84% E %R 2 B #F A1 2%) and
Telecommunication and Information Service Business Operation
Permit (B3 15 B IR EF &L & 51 P ). Based on the advice of
the Company's PRC legal advisers, the Board considers that the
Contractual Arrangements are in compliance with the relevant PRC
laws and regulations and are legally binding and enforceable.

The financial position and results of operations of the VIE Group has
been consolidated into the Group's financial statements as the VIE
Group are regarded as indirect subsidiaries of the Group under HKFRS
10.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, there was no material
change in the Contractual Arrangements and/or the circumstances
under which they were adopted, and there was no termination of
the Contractual Arrangements nor failure to terminate when the
restrictions that led to the adoptions of the Contractual Arrangements
are removed.

* For identification purposes only

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
o F

BRRH

RIBFBERITERER  SINEREEETERE
RESHESHROBERBITEAT SRS -

RZEBE—N\F—F  ARRBERAEE2EWE AR
FEEREXEXLEREERAFTIERHNEBAR])E
I REBEEREAR AR (VIED) REHE QT
FESEMABEEERAT L ETAORHETE
B -  SEEBREERXEERAGRZZEE
FRA-+N\BEMKT - BVIEREHEE VIERE
WBARSBAIVEEE] - VEEBEZRNHP RHK
EEZNEBEHERERSEURRERHEEBAS®R
RN B BRAS o

BBREARE  AREKWRBVERBEL 2K
HEN e - ARG HVIESR B 2 B R 1A E
LBEEFSAEARER  WEETFERELEEET R
ERMAARERREARRHEBBES RN AR
o VIERBEREE THARE  ERESREERE
GRHBFAIEREFRERRGEHEENA
& REARRTEZZBERZER EXE2R5
EHNRHTETEBERNER - XEAEROR
N R AR BT ©

RIFF BT HREERNFE105 - VIERB B /A
SEZAEMBAR - FLEVIERE Z BB R
REZBEEHALRKB ZMBRE -

BE_Z-_—F+-_A=+—BILFE 6H%TH
R/FRAENLHZENREERES) 0%
BERE AR U - T2 EBURAE KLk Z IR B AR RS
TR ZE A RRERR IE R R BERIIEN -

53



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
w3

Particulars of the VIE Group, their registered
owners and a summary of major terms of the
Contractual Arrangements

As at 31 December 2021, particulars of the VIE Group are as follows:

Company names

Registered owners and the
shareholding

VIEREREZRHEBAZHBRENR
BEz = E MR
R-ZE-——F+-_A=+—H  VIEEBZFBEW

T

Registered capital

Principal activities

YNCIEZE BREEARRE HEMER FTEEK
Beijing Huanxi Shou Ying Culture  Hu Hui (99%) RMB10,000,000 Film and TV programmes
Company Limited* I 25(99%) A R #10,000,0007TC production and investment
IERBEEM X tBRAR Ni Kelu (1%) BY RERMARERIEE
{72 T34 (1%)
Beijing Hangaohua Network Beijing Huanxi Shou Ying Culture RMB10,000,000 Provision of internet
Technology Company Limited*  Company Limited* (80%) A R #10,000,0007TC audio-visual programmes
ItRESEREEEARAR EREE /ML ER A R)(680%) services
Gu Haibin (20%) REEEAESRIEE A RS
JEE 8 /& (20%)
Qingdao Huanxi Shou Ying Beijing Huanxi Shou Ying Culture RMB3,000,000 Film and TV programmes
Culture Company Limited* Company Limited* (100%) A R #3,000,0007T production and investment

FEEEEERXELARAF

IERERE BRXXEA R 2 F)(100%)

The major terms of the Contractual Arrangements are summarised as
below:

(1)

2)

Exclusive Services Agreement

According to the Exclusive Services Agreement, the VIE agreed
to engage the Beijing Subsidiary as its exclusive provider of
technical support and consultancy services requested by the VIE
from time to time with a service fee equalled to the net profit of
the VIE.

Loan Agreement

According to the Loan Agreement, the Beijing Subsidiary agreed
to provide interest-free loans to the registered owners of the VIE
as capital contribution to the VIE. The registered owners of the
VIE, in return for the provision of loans, agreed to enter into an
Equity Interest Pledge Agreement with the Beijing Subsidiary to
pledge all of their equity interest in the VIE as security.

*  For identification purposes only
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4)

(5)

Equity Interest Pledge Agreement

According to the Equity Interest Pledge Agreement, each of
the registered owners of the VIE Group agreed to pledge all
their respective equity interests in the VIE Group to the Beijing
Subsidiary, as a security interest to guarantee the performance
of contractual obligations and the payment of outstanding loans
of the registered owner of the VIE Group.

Powers of Attorney

According to the Powers of Attorney, each of the registered
owners of the VIE irrevocably appointed designee of the Beijing
Subsidiary to act as their attorney on their behalf to exercise
all rights in connection with matters concerning their rights as
shareholders of the VIE.

Exclusive Option Contract

According to the Exclusive Option Contract, each of
the registered owners of the VIE agreed to irrevocably,
unconditionally and exclusively grant an exclusive option to the
Beijing Subsidiary to purchase the equity interests in the VIE
from the registered owners of the VIE, when it is permitted by
the then applicable PRC laws.

Risks associated with Contractual Arrangements
and the actions taken to mitigate the risks

The Group believes the following risks are associated with the
Contractual Arrangements:

If the PRC government finds that the Contractual Arrangements
that establish the structure for film and TV programmes
production and investment as well as provision of internet audio-
visual programmes series businesses in the PRC do not comply
with applicable PRC laws and regulations, we could be subject
to penalties and our business may be materially and adversely
affected;

Certain terms of our Contractual Arrangements may not be
enforceable under the PRC laws;

Our Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective in
providing control over our VIE as equity ownership;

(3)

4)

(5)

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
CE

REL T &

REREERGR  VEEBZEREAAS
BREMRESBRVIESE 2 2 BAREZL R
TUARMBREMERERER - LWRFBVIEE
BrELHAEABTANEBE RN RER

e -

RIFEERTE  VEZEZHEAEAZTETH
BERFAILRMB AR ZEEALE/EK
FZEFTAN - RWEFITE— RN IR R
FERVIERRZEFNBRBZEE -

BBEESHE

RIEBXBERAR  VEZEZEAARZR
[l E AR i~ G R B SRR T AL
BARBREE®R UEENERZPEE
BERAFZBEAMVIEETHERABEVIEZ R
1 o

B R EEAER R B & E bR & i

bl

HEELAKERRAF -

EEZAANRHSRATER -

HPBEBAEHE  BRRLFBEEZRER
MBRERRENARREHEBRBZHIERS
MBEBIRBZANTHE TN EERTD
BUARMER - AEE AL SHEEREE - &
MA R ANEREEBEREATNEE

REBHBEAR  AREANTHZETIHRR
A RE AR BT

FIEFIVIEM T - AERBEAATHEZBRABE
TR A TE

—B--5%% 55



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
w3

o Any failure by the VIE or their respective ultimate shareholders
to perform their obligations under our Contractual Arrangements
would potentially lead to our having to incur additional costs
and expend material resources to enforce such arrangements,
temporary or permanent loss of control over our provision of
internet audio-visual programmes series businesses or loss of
access to the revenue from these businesses;

o The ultimate owners of the VIE may have potential conflicts of
interest with us, which may materially and adversely affect our
business and financial condition;

o If any of the VIE or its subsidiaries becomes the subject of a
bankruptcy or liquidation proceeding, we may lose the ability to
use and enjoy certain important assets, which could materially
and adversely affect our business; and

o Our exercise of the option to acquire the equity interests of the
VIE may be subject to certain limitations and the ownership
transfer may incur substantial costs.

The Group realised that there are regulatory risks associated with
the Contractual Arrangements. The Group will follow on the latest
developments with regards to the relevant PRC laws, rules and
regulations and seek professional legal advice when necessary.

Revenue and assets involved in the Contractual
Arrangements

Revenue and assets of the VIE Group of approximately HK$2,907,000
and HK$330,079,000, respectively, are consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements pursuant to the Contractual
Arrangements for the year ended 31 December 2021. The above
revenue and assets included transactions and balances with the
Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of business of the Company were
entered into or exist during the year ended 31 December 2021.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the percentage of turnover
of the Group attributable to the largest customer and the five largest
customers combined are 53.90% and 90.60% respectively. For the
year ended 31 December 2021, the percentage of purchases of the
Group attributable to the largest supplier and the five largest suppliers
combined are 25.87% and 80.86% respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group's third largest
customer accounted for 8.99% of turnover of the Group was Bilibili,
a shareholder owns more than five percent of the Company's issued
shares, the turnover was mainly related to sub-licensing of some
contents of the Group’s online video platform.

As at 31 December 2021, none of the directors, their associates or
shareholders (which to the knowledge of the directors own more than
five percent of the Company’s share capital) had any interest in the
five largest suppliers or customers of the Group.

RELATIONSHIP WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

Our staff is regarded as the most important resource of the Group.
Hence, the Group has been endeavouring to provide our staff with a
fair and harmonious workplace where individuals with diverse cultural
backgrounds are treated equally. We offer a competitive remuneration
package and great opportunities for career advancement based on
employees’ performance.

In respect of the business of the Group, the film industry is fragmented
and highly competitive. Following years of rapid development, there
is a vast number of independent service providers providing various
film and television programmes production and distribution services
and there is a number of reputable and reliable independent service
providers who have been engaged by Hong Kong and overseas film
companies for producing and distributing films and television drama
series in the PRC. Mr. Dong Ping, the Chairman of the Board and an
executive Director, Mr. Ning Hao and Mr. Xu Zheng, both non-executive
Directors, have extensive experience, expertise and connections in the
media and entertainment industries and each of them has noteworthy
background, experience, social status, personal and/or professional
achievements and connections with business partners in the film
industry, their collective knowledge and experience would enhance
the Group to identify appropriate and reliable third party service
providers and negotiate suitable commercial arrangements with such
providers to provide the necessary services to the Company.

The Group also places effort to maintain good relationships with
financial institutions and professional advisers to maintain its
continuous growth and operation needs.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Board paid attention to the Group's policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements. External
compliance and legal advisers are engaged to ensure transactions
and business performed by the Group are within the applicable law
framework. Besides, the Group always maintains a safe working
environment for staff in accordance with relevant safety policies.
There was no incident of non-compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that had a significant impact on the Company during 2021.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group encourages staff to save energy, minimise the use of
natural resources and paper products. The existing businesses
of the Group are not expected to create material damages to the
environment. We will continue to take into account the environmental
protection factor in the future when planning business activities
ahead. Please also refer to the Environmental, Social and Governance
Report of this annual report for details.

REVIEW OF THE RESULTS

The audit committee of the Company together with the management
has reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted by the
Group and discussed internal control and financial reporting matters
including the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2021.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Particulars of the Company's corporate governance practices are set
out in the Corporate Governance Report of this annual report.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this annual
report the Company has maintained sufficient public float as required
under the Listing Rules.
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DONATIONS

During the year, the Group did not make any donations to charitable
and non-profit-making organisations.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There was no material event after reporting period up to the date of
this annual report.

AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers, Certified Public Accountants, was appointed
as auditor of the Company with effect from 28 August 2018.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2021 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers,
Certified Public Accountants. A resolution will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to re-appoint
PricewaterhouseCoopers, Certified Public Accountants, as auditor of
the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Dong Ping
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2022
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board considers that maintaining corporate governance at high
standard is essential for enhancing accountability and transparency of
a company to the investing public and other stakeholders. Therefore,
the Company is committed to good corporate governance practices
for corporate sustainability and business growth.

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company has
applied the principles and complied with the code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix
14 to the Listing Rules.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Pursuant to provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. During the financial year 2021, Mr.
Dong Ping acted as the chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”) and
Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven acted as the Chief Executive Officer.

Mr. Dong Ping focuses on the leadership role in the Board to ensure
that the Board works effectively in discharging its responsibilities
whilst Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven focuses on day-to-day corporate
management matters of the Group. The Board considers that the
segregation of responsibilities among the Board members meets the
requirements under the CG Code. The roles of the Chairman and chief
executive officer are separate and exercised by different individuals,
Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code has been complied.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is vested with the key roles of formulating the Group's
corporate strategic directions and policies; monitoring the financial
performance and internal control system of the Group; reviewing
the corporate governance standard of the Company; and overseeing
the performance of management, which is delegated with the
responsibilities of executing the Board’s decision and in-charging
day-to-day operation. It also decides on matters such as annual and
interim results, notifiable transactions, director appointments or
re-appointments, and dividend and accounting policies.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company. In preparing the financial
statements, the generally accepted accounting standards in Hong
Kong have been adopted, appropriate accounting policies have
been used and applied consistently, and reasonable and prudent
judgements and estimates have been made. The financial statements
are prepared on a going concern basis. The Directors confirm that,
to the best of their knowledge, they are not aware of material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
The statement made by the auditor of the Company regarding their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report of the annual report.

Code Provision A.4.1 requires non-executive directors should be
appointed for a specific term and subject to re-election. The existing
Directors including the executive Directors, the non-executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors are for a term of
2 years (except Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven, an executive Director and
the Chief Executive Officer of the Group, there is no specific term or
proposed length of services for Mr. Xiang's appointment). All of the
existing Directors shall be subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election in accordance with the Bye-laws and the Listing Rules.

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company complied
with rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors,
at least one independent non-executive Director with appropriate
professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial
management expertise, and a sufficient number of independent
non-executive Directors representing at least one-third of the board,
respectively.
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BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board currently comprises two executive Directors, three non-
executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors,
whose biographies are set out in the Biographical Details of Directors
of this annual report. All the Directors are high calibre executives
with diversified industry expertise and bring a wide range of skills
and experience to the Group. The Board members have no financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationships with each
other.

The Company has received, from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all of the
independent non-executive Directors are independent.

The composition of the Board and their respective attendance in the
general meetings, Board meetings and other committee meetings
during the year ended 31 December 2021 are as follows:

% = n ﬁk
EXZSRHMENTES = RFPTEER=S

BIYFMTEREN  EEREHERNAFRETE
FE—f - 2RBREFHR/THEHITHRAR - AfF
TRATEER  RAKEHRRSEEMEER - &
EFEXREBRAMERS X5 SBXHEMS
R/ -

ZAN/N *TEH&ZK'JXﬁi#%ﬂﬁ%%*ﬁﬁﬁt?ﬁﬁﬁufﬁ
BBFIEHZ BFBY MHER L - YR BMBEBL
FRTEZEBBELAL -

BE_ZT-_—F+t-_A=+—"BLFE EFeZ
MR EEENBRRAS EFgeRNEMEZE
SERIMBLEENT

No. of meetings attended/eligible to attend

HE/ HREREREEAY
Regular Audit Remuneration  Nomination
General fullBoard  Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee
meeting meetings meetings meeting meeting
Y f ] EhZEE yMzEe REZEE
BRRAE KEflE e 6 EE
Number of meetings EEL 1 1 2 1 1
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Dong Ping (Chairman) BTEE(ER) 1" A/t NATER 17 17
Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven BRRSEE (TTH4H) "N 4/t NATER N/ANER N/ATER
(Chief Executive Officer)
Non-Executive Directors #ﬁ"%?
Mr. Ning Hao BERE 11 2/4 N/ATRER N/ATER N/ATER
Mr. Xu Zheng fRELE 17N 3/4 NATER NATER NATER
Ms. Li Ni Fieat 0/1 114 NANER N/AT R N/ATER
Independent Non-Executive Directors ~ BIF#HTES
Mr. Wong Tak Chuen BEREE 1 44 2/2 N/ANER NATER
Mr. Li Xiaolong =\ 0/1 3/4 12 1 171
Mr. Wang Hong T4 01 4/4 2/2 1 1

62



CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

There was no change in Directors’ information since the date of the
annual report 2020, which is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule
13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board has undertaken to perform corporate governance duties
and adopted the terms of reference on corporate governance
functions on 27 March 2012 for better management of the business
and affairs of the Group.

The duties of the Board in respect of corporate governance functions
shall be:

() to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance,

(i) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(iiiy  to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,

(iv) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

(v)  to review the Company's compliance with the code provisions
set out in the CG Code contained in Appendix 14 of the
Listing Rules and its disclosure requirements in the Corporate
Governance Report.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three Board committees, namely audit
committee, remuneration committee and nomination committee to
oversee particular aspect of the Group's affair. Each of the committees
had defined terms of reference setting out its duty, power and
functions. The committees report to the Board and, where appropriate,
make recommendations on matters discussed.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

As at 1 January 2021, the audit committee was composed of three
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Wong Tak Chuen
(committee chairman), Mr. Li Xiaolong and Mr. Wang Hong. During
2021, the main role and functions of the audit committee are to review
the financial information of the Company, to oversee the Company’s
financial reporting system, risk management and internal control
procedures and maintain relations with the auditor of the Company.

Under the terms of reference of the audit committee, the audit
committee shall, among others, to monitor the integrity of the
Company'’s financial statements and annual report and accounts, half-
year report and to discuss the risk management and internal control
system with management to ensure that management has performed
its duty to have effective risk management and internal control
systems. The revised written terms of reference are posted on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange on 7 January 2019.

In 2021, the audit committee had held two meetings. During one
of the meetings, annual results of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2020 was reviewed with the auditor of the Company. The
audit committee also reviewed the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group and discussed internal controls and financial
reporting matters with the management team of the Company.
Another meeting was also held during 2021 that interim results of
the Group for the six months ended 30 June 2021 was discussed.
The audit committee also reviewed the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group and financial reporting matters with
the management team of the Company.

Besides, the audit committee, with the assistance of the management
and an external internal control and risk management consultant (the
“Consultant”), has conducted annual review on the effectiveness of
risk management and internal control systems of the Group for 2021
and considered the Group has operated an effective and adequate
risk management and internal control systems (based on discussion
between the audit committee and the Consultant and the findings of
the Consultants’ internal control review report). Please refer to the
section “Internal Control and Risk Management” in this Corporate
Governance Report for the details on the review by the audit
committee on the Group’s internal control and risk management for
2021.
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The audit committee is also responsible for performing the corporate
governance functions set out in the code provision D.3.1 of the
CG Code for the year 2021. The audit committee reviewed the
Consultant’s report on the Company’s corporate governance policies
and practices, the Company's policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements and the Company’s compliance
with the CG Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee of the Company was set up with key
responsibilities for considering and approving the appointment of
members of the Board and will meet to discuss when nomination
of new Director(s) is received or when circumstances require. In
considering the suitability of a candidate for directorship, the Board will
take into account the candidate’s qualification, experience, expertise
and knowledge as well as the prevailing composition, structure and
size of the Board and the requirements under the Listing Rules.

Under the terms of reference of the nomination committee, the
nomination committee shall, among others, identify individuals
suitably qualified to become Board members and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of, individuals
nominated for directorships; the candidates for directorship will be
selected taken into account a wide range of factors, including but
not limited to, gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and service term. The
revised written terms of reference are posted on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange on 7 January 2019.

As at 1 January 2021, the nomination committee was composed of
Mr. Wang Hong (committee chairman and independent non-executive
Director), Mr. Dong Ping (executive Director and Chairman of the
Board) and Mr. Li Xiaolong (independent non-executive Director). The
committee member met once in the year ended 31 December 2021.
The meeting was held to discuss the re-election of Directors at the
annual general meeting held on 29 June 2021.

A policy for board on diversity had been adopted in May 2013 and
a policy for nomination of Directors which sets out the nomination
procedures and the process and criteria to select and recommend
candidates for directorship had been adopted in 2019. Please refer to
the “Corporate Governance” section on the Company'’s website for
the Board Diversity Policy and Director Nomination Policy.
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Board Diversity Policy

The board diversity policy is adopted in 2013 and updated in 2015
which is to set out the approach to achieve diversity on the Company’s
Board. In designing the Board’'s composition, Board diversity has
been considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All
Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for
the benefits of diversity on the Board. The nomination committee will
review the policy and monitor the implementation of the policy.

Nomination Policy

The nomination policy is adopted in 2019 which sets out the selection
criteria and nomination procedures for appointment of Directors.
Factors assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate for
directorship include but are not limited to reputation, qualifications,
accomplishment and experience, commitment in respect of available
time and relevant interest and potential contribution that can bring
to the Company. Independence requirements as set out in the Listing
Rules will also be considered in case of appointment or re-appointment
of independent non-executive director. The nomination committee will
make recommendation to the Board for consideration.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee of the Company was set up with key
responsibilities of recommending to the Board (i) the policy and
structure for remuneration of Directors and senior management;
and (ii) the remuneration package of executive Directors and senior
management. The Board retains the final authority to approve the
remuneration packages.

Under the terms of reference of the remuneration committee, the
remuneration committee shall, among others, make recommendations
to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for all Directors’
and senior management’s remuneration and on the establishment of a
formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy.
The remuneration committee also make recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors
and senior management. This should include benefits in kind, pension
rights and compensation payments, including any compensation
payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment. The
written terms of reference are posted on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange.
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As at 1 January 2021, the remuneration committee was composed of
Mr. Wang Hong (committee chairman and independent non-executive
Director), Mr. Dong Ping (Chairman of the Board and executive
Director) and Mr. Li Xiaolong (independent non-executive Director).
The committee met once in the year ended 31 December 2021. The
meeting was held to review the emoluments of the Directors during
the year ended 31 December 2020 and to review the remuneration
packages of the Directors retired in the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 29 June 2021.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Choi Wing Koon, the Company Secretary of the Company, has
undertaken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
respectively for the year ended 31 December 2021.

AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2021, remuneration in respect of
audit and non-audit services provided by the auditor of the Company
to the Group are approximately HK$3,285,000 (2020: HK$2,920,000)
and HK$15,000 (2020: HK$30,000) respectively. Non-audit services
provided by the auditor of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2021 were related to preliminary announcement of annual
results.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

Risk management and internal control are essential parts of
corporate governance. The Directors have the overall responsibility
for internal control and risk management systems, and review their
effectiveness. The Group has established policies and procedures for
risk management and internal control to ensure the proper monitoring
and control of major risks arising from the Group’s activities. The
Group has engaged an external internal control and risk management
consultant (i.e. the Consultant) to perform the Group'’s internal audit
function, to review and improve the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems. The Company has put in
place risk management and internal control systems which enable the
Group to respond appropriately to significant business, operational,
financial, compliance and other risks. Furthermore, they help ensure
the quality of internal and external reporting within the Group and the
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and also internal
policies with respect to the conduct of businesses of the Group.
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The Board, through the audit committee and with the assistance of
the Consultant, have conducted reviews on the effectiveness of risk
management and internal control systems of the Group for 2021 once
and considered the Group has operated an effective, appropriate, and
adequate risk management and internal control systems (based on
the findings of the Consultants’ internal control review reports and
discussion with the Consultant). In respect of the Group’s internal
control systems, it aims at safeguarding assets from inappropriate
use, maintaining proper accounts and ensuring compliance with
regulations. The management is primarily responsible for the design,
implementation and maintenance of the internal control system.
The internal control and risk management systems are designed to
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss, and to manage, rather than eliminate, risks of
failure to achieve business objectives.

Along with the internal control review, the Consultant has prepared
annual review report on overall effectiveness of the Group’s system
of internal control over various aspect including financial, operational
and compliance issues, in particular, the processes of (i) treasury
management; (i) human resources; and (iii) payroll were reviewed for
the year ended 31 December 2021. Along with the risk management
review, the Board, through the audit committee and with the
assistance of the Consultant, have, among others, identified, evaluated
and assessed the key risk factors affecting the Group's business and
its operation. During the risk assessment process, the management of
the Company has reviewed aspects including operation, compliance
and strategic areas. High-priority risks identified included strategic
risk of investing in entertainment industry, operation risks such as
uncertainties in production quality of media projects, credit risk in
relation to distributors and risks involved in compliance with various
censorship regulations, listing rules compliance, and financial data
reporting standards.

Management would from time to time review the key risks identified
and determine their responses to high-priority risks and where
necessary, report on significant changes and effectiveness of the
systems of risk management.

The Board had adopted a whistle blowing policy including procedures

for employees to report any irregularities on the affairs of the
company.
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CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code contained in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules on terms no less exacting than the required
standard set out in the Model Code. Having made specific enquiry,
all Directors confirmed that they fully complied with the Model Code
throughout 2021.

DIRECTORS' TRAINING

The Company has from time to time provided Directors with
materials relating to the business and operations of the Group, latest
developments regarding the Listing Rules and their responsibilities
under the Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory requirements.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, all existing Directors have
received the following trainings:
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Training on corporate
governance, regulatory
development,
anti-corruption and
other relevant topics
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Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven (Chief Executive Officer) — TBABIR 54 (7T B #8#) v
Non-Executive Directors FHITES
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Mr. Xu Zheng TRIF S & 4
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DIRECTORS' AND OFFICERS' LIABILITIES
INSURANCE

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover for liabilities
in respect of legal actions against Directors and officers of the
Company and its subsidiaries arising out of corporate activities of the
Group under Code A.1.8 of the CG Code.

DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company has a service contract with
the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determined
by the employing company within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

INSIDE INFORMATION POLICY

Pursuant to the statutory regime for disclosure of inside information
sets out in Part XIVA of the SFO with effect from 1 January 2013,
the Board has adopted an inside information policy on 27 August
2013 which sets out the guidelines to the Directors, officers and all
relevant employees of the Group to ensure that the inside information
of the Group is to be disseminated to public in equal and timely
manner in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations,
which includes, among others, all inside information must be treated
strictly confidential and disclosure of inside information must be
made in a manner that provides the public with an equal, timely and
effective access to the information, such as through the electronic
publication system operated by the Stock Exchange. Generally, no
employee or Director may disclose, discuss or share with outside
parties (except for communication with the Group’s advisers who
owe a duty of confidentiality, e.g. lawyers, and other categories of
persons as allowed under the Part XIVA of the SFO) the information
of price-sensitive nature about the Company that has not been
released to the public. Please refer to the website of the Company
www.huanximedia.com under the section “Corporate Governance” for
the Company’s inside information policy.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Shareholders’ communication policy was adopted by the Board
on 27 March 2012 and last updated in July 2019. Shareholders’
communication policy and shareholder’s rights are published on the
designated website of the Company.
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RIGHT TO PUT ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders may direct their enquiries about their shareholdings
to the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong
Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at 17M
Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong.
Enquiries other than shareholdings may be directed to the head office
and principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong as set
out in the Corporate Information of this annual report for the attention
of the Company Secretary.

RIGHT TO CONVENE SPECIAL GENERAL
MEETING

Pursuant to Section 74(1) of the Bermuda Companies Act and the bye-
law 62 of the Bye-laws, the shareholder(s) of the Company holding at
the date of the deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid-up capital of the Company as at the date of the deposit carries
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company may request
the Board to convene a special general meeting.

The requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, and must be
signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the registered office of
the Company at Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street, Hamilton
HM 10, Bermuda for the attention of the Company Secretary and may
consist of several documents in like form each signed by one or more
requisitionists.

If the Directors do not within twenty-one days from the date of the
deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a meeting, the
requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one half of the
total voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene a meeting,
but any meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration of
three months from the said date.
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RIGHT TO PUT FORWARD PROPOSALS AT
GENERAL MEETINGS

On the requisition in writing of either (i) any number of shareholders
of the Company representing not less than one-twentieth of the
total voting rights of all the shareholders having at the date of the
requisition a right to vote at the meeting to which the requisition
relates; or (i) not less than 100 shareholders, the Company shall, at
the expense of the requisitionists:

(@  togive to shareholders of the Company entitled to receive notice
of the next annual general meeting notice of any resolution
which may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at
that meeting; and

(b)  to circulate to shareholders entitled to have notice of any
general meeting sent to them any statement of not more than
one thousand words with respect to the matter referred to in
any proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with at that
meeting.

The requisition must be signed by the requisitionists and deposited
at the registered office of the Company at Victoria Place, 5th Floor,
31 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM 10, Bermuda for the attention of the
Company Secretary.

RIGHT TO PROPOSE A PERSON FOR ELECTION
AS A DIRECTOR

According to the Bye-laws, no person other than a retiring Director
shall, unless recommended by the Directors for election, be eligible
for election to the office of Director at any general meeting, unless
a notice in writing signed by a shareholder (other than the person
to be proposed) duly qualified to attend and vote at the meeting for
which such notice is given of his intention to propose such person for
election as a Director and also a notice in writing by that person of his
willingness to be elected (including that person'’s biographical details
as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules) shall be lodged with
the Company Secretary at the Company's principal place of business
in Hong Kong provided that the minimum length of the period, during
which such notice(s) are given, shall be at least seven days and that
(if the notices are submitted after the dispatch of the notice of the
general meeting appointed for such election) the period for lodgement
of such notice(s) shall commence on the day after the dispatch of the
notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and end no
later than seven days prior to the date of such general meeting.
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If such notice(s) are received less than ten business days prior to the
date of such general meeting, the Company will need to consider
the adjournment of such general meeting in order to allow the
Shareholders fourteen clear days’ notice of the proposal.

DIVIDEND POLICY

A policy on payment of dividend had been adopted in March 2019.
The policy specifies that the Board may pay interim dividends as
appear to the Board to be justified by the position of the Company and
declare and pay special dividends on such dates as they think fit. The
Company may declare dividends in general meetings of the Company,
but the declared dividend shall not exceed the amount recommended
by the Board.

VOTING BY POLL

Pursuant to Rule 13.39(4) of the Listing Rules, any vote of the
Shareholders at a general meeting must be taken by poll except where
the chairman of the general meeting, in good faith, decides to allow
a resolution which relates purely to a procedural or administrative
matter to be voted by a show of hands.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company maintains websites at www.huanximedia.com and
www.irasia.com/listco/hk/huanximedia where information and
updates on the list of Directors and their roles and functions, terms
of reference of the Board committees, procedures for nomination of
Directors for election, announcements, circulars and reports released
to the Stock Exchange and other information are posted.

The Company's constitutional documents are available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. There were no
changes in the Company’s constitutional documents during 2021.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
e S-SR S

AR IR A G 81T H A DR 1@ % % B W EZ%
FEMBN  RATERRUEERRE+TTERA
BH D ARFHFEZEECHRTZRRAE -

IR EBER

—ERBRNTBRER-T—NF= AN - Z
BRATH - EFEAHEER/TEARBMIE K
N8R E  MEER/EE 2 ARE IR IR
RIBE  ARRAIRARBRRAEG LEIREE.
HFFERZBEEERINSHEEESFSEEANTR -

UHRELARR

RIBEEMRAIF1339A)ERORTE - BRRNBRRX
g ENERRRGANRETVET - HERRAE
TRENBMERIELRE - AFFARBREREFXK
TREERRBRABFTARRERN -

REEBE

KN B UL A www.huanximedia.com &
www.irasia.com/listco/hk/huanximedia - 3454 8
EERERFEENBELEBE E=oXEolE
#HE - REFREEENER  FIERBIAZA
ECBRHEREAREMERO&IESR

ARRZBERXHARBRARARR 2B LS
Bl e XARABZERXMHR T —FAEBEH -

73



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BB A KB R

The Company is pleased to present this Environmental, Social and
Governance (“ESG") Report, which summarises the ESG policies,
initiatives, and performance of the Group, in accordance with the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide” ("ESG
Reporting Guide”) set out in Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules and is
issued together with the annual report. This report aims to provide our
stakeholders with a comprehensive understanding of our major ESG
policies, initiatives and performances of the Group in four dimensions,
namely employment and labour practices, operating practices,
environmental protection and community participation.

GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

In line with the Corporate Governance Code, the Board is responsible
for the Group’s environmental, social and governance strategies and
reporting. The Board is also responsible for evaluating and determining
the Group’s ESG-related risks, and ensuring that appropriate and
effective ESG risk management and internal control systems are in
place. Management is responsible for ensuring the effectiveness of
these systems and reporting to the Board, which is responsible for
monitoring and reviewing the compliance of ESG-related issues with
laws and regulations.

During the Reporting Period, we were committed to incorporating
sustainable development into our overall business strategy. To achieve
the above objectives, the Group has implemented an effective internal
control system for environmental, social and governance, and adopted
reasonable risk management measures to embed the concept of
environmental, social and governance into our cultural system.
We judge the effectiveness of implementation based on pollution
emissions and energy usage. The Group firmly believes that the
sustainable development of an enterprise is not only to strive to create
maximum benefits for all stakeholders, but also to achieve sustainable
development through good corporate governance, corporate social
responsibility, compliance with environmental regulations and
consistent philosophy.
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Material ESG issues are being identified and prioritised through
our stakeholder engagement exercise. This year, we conducted an
extensive stakeholder engagement exercise to further understand
and update what our stakeholders consider to be important ESG
issues. The list of material ESG issues was reviewed and validated by
the Board and incorporated into the Group’s planning for business
strategies and ESG initiatives. Going forward, the list of material
ESG issues will be reviewed annually by the Board. For more details
on materiality analysis of ESG issues, please refer to the sections
“Stakeholders Engagement” and “Materiality Assessment” below.

REPORTING PRINCIPLES

The ESG Report is governed by the “Comply or Explain” principle
which is the disclosure of the recommended and mandatory Key
Performance Indicators (“KPIS”). In order to present a more balanced
picture of our ESG performance and practices, the ESG Report also
encompasses four other core principles:

- Materiality: The ESG Report shall disclose any quantitative or
qualitative ESG data that have the potential to influence the
judgment of the reader.

- Quantitative: The environmental, social and governance
objectives identified by the Group should be measurable to
facilitate comparison with previous years, competitors and
industry standards.

- Balance: The ESG report should provide an unbiased picture of
the issuer’s performance. The report should avoid selections,
omissions, or presentation formats that may inappropriately
influence a decision or judgment by the report reader.

- Consistency: The assumptions and calculation methods used
for any KPI should be consistent with previous years to ensure
that the relevant data can be compared effectively. Any changes
to the relevant assumptions or calculation methods should be
clearly disclosed to inform stakeholders.
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REPORTING BOUNDARY

The Company is an investment holding and film investment
company and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in media and
entertainment-related businesses, including development and
investment in film and TV programmes rights, as well as operation of
an online video platform. This ESG Report covers the whole range of
our businesses, including development and investment in film and TV
programmes rights as well as operation of the online video platform.
The geographical locations of the Group’s businesses are situated in
Hong Kong and the PRC. The information stated in this report spans
from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021 (the “Reporting Period”)
which aligns with the financial year as this annual report.

The information contained in this report has been collected through
various means, including but not limited to the Group’s internal
control policies; factual evidence of the implementation of ESG-related
measures; KPIs; third-party questionnaires; and quantitative data on
the Group’s annual performance in its business operations and ESG
management.

STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT

To better serve our stakeholders, we have regularly refined our
corporate social responsibility (“CSR") practices by connecting with
a range of stakeholders to identify the issues that are material and
relevant to us. The Group has proactively engaged with various
stakeholder groups through different channels on a transparent
platform. Continuous improvements to the communication channels
have been made to maintain a long-lasting relationship with the
stakeholders. We have encompassed every stakeholder to improve
the Group’s relationship with the suppliers, employees, shareholders,
customers, supervisory institutions, and society as a whole. We strive
to understand their ESG concerns.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group engaged with the following key
stakeholder groups and identified their concerns on ESG issues:

Stakeholders
&
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Requirements and expectations
ERRHE
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Communications and actions
BERTE

Government/Regulatory Authorities
BT/ EEKE

e compliance with laws and regulations
EFAEER

e support for economic development
TRHSCER R

¢ compliance management
EHREE

o submission of reports and payment
of taxes

ERME RN
Shareholders e financial results e reports and announcements
A& P WERRE
¢ business developments e general meetings
EBER RERE
e Corporate governance o company website, email, and hotline
TEER DR - EBREAGES
e channels of communications o press release
BRERE E R
Customers ¢ high-quality products and services e creative and quality products
B BEHERMRS BIFEEEM

e meeting customers’ needs
MEREFPHTX

o feedback channels
REERE

e protection of customer information
and privacy
REFPER KILE

¢ dedicated customer service
EEEFPIR®E

e email and hotline
B NEVEER

e press release
rET
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Stakeholders Requirements and expectations Communications and actions

B ERRHE BRRTH

Employees e employees’ compensation and e provision of good remuneration and
BB benefits welfare

1E BB Er EAE T

o career development
BEER

e protection of occupational health
IR PR 2 i B

e work and life balance
FEIIEAR

R R e Bt A

e regular performance reviews and
feedback
EHEIT R MR

e employee training
==p gl

o meetings

.
EFI

Suppliers and Business Partners

e compliance with contracts

e performance of contracts according

g REBBH EFEH to law
e communication channels KERBITAH
BiBRE e attending film festivals
e Dbusiness ethics LIMEHE
[BEIEL e dedicated internal control and risk
management
HIHANEERERERE
e emails and meetings
BE R EH
Community and Environment . support for charity e donation
fLEAIRIE FREYN Y CE B
. eco-frlendly business practices ¢ increasing the efficiency of the use of
RERIFREBRTER resources and energy

During the Reporting Period, the Group actively consulted with
different stakeholders and took measures to strengthen ties with
stakeholders and maintain friendly relations with them. We regularly
publish interim reports, annual reports, announcements, and circulars
to report the progress of the Group’s actions on matters of concern &8
to stakeholders. During the Reporting Period, we used a form of

guestionnaire to understand the concerns of stakeholders, as detailed

below.
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

During the Reporting Period, the Group conducted an annual review
to determine the major concerns and interests of stakeholders on
environmental, social and governance issues through stakeholder
participation in substantive assessment surveys. According to the
influence and dependence of internal and external stakeholders
on the Group, some internal and external stakeholders (including
management, employees, customers, and suppliers) participated
in the materiality assessment process conducted by the Group for
this report. Selected stakeholders were invited to participate in an
electronic survey to comment on key ESG topics. The purpose of
the survey is to determine the views of stakeholders on the Group's
key ESG issues and to conduct a substantive assessment of the
Group. We have assessed and identified key environmental, social
and governance topics for the Group and assessed the importance
of these topics to the business and stakeholders to further drive
our sustainable business strategy. The following diagram shows the
evaluation process:

Identify Issues of Stakeholders
Materiality Survey
B EEMEE FihEREE

0 i ) & R R i

EEMFME

RBERR - XEBEETTFERST - BBFNE
SEBEUNGERE  BEFNDEERRE HE8R
BiAHmA T ENEZEY AR - RIBAABRIND
RN EHAEENTE N RERBEEE - B0 RE Rk
SRR E (BIRERE B8 TP RHER2
HAEBRARERRNEZETEBIE - BER
MERBSLEBLETHE  REBRE  -HER
BARBERER - ZHEAETWENEEERNE
HAKBEIERRE HEREARENER U
RAKBENED LM - RS FE LB AKE
MERRRE  HERELRER  FEREREHE
BRFBHENEEZN - AE-TEDRMVATRHE
KRB - TEBRFHBIE
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Assessment of
Issues of Materiality

HEEB RS

& /)

A total of 28 ESG topics were
identified and considered as
relevant to the Group with
reference to peer benchmarking
results.

2 EREHIZLHE
H 28188 A K
AN

BE  dHekEhrEad

We invited internal and external
stakeholders to assess the
“importance to the Group” and
“importance to the external
stakeholders” of each issue
through online questionnaires.

AIBEE N B RSN AR R (D B
B EFBHRE - FHESEE
[HAEENEEN] & Y
SMEBRF D EVEEM] o

The management of the Group
are responsible for reviewing and
confirming the  assessment
result, then reporting to the
Board. Based on the assessment
result, we identified 10 issues
that are extremely critical to the
Group, for details please see the
table below.
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REBFELER - WAIWAIE10
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The ranking of the Group’s material ESG issues are as follows:

AEESENIRE  HE@REAEERFWT

Very Important Important Less Important
IEEE BE REZ
1. Marketing communications (e.g.  11.  Customer satisfaction 25.  Water use
advertisement) BEPRMEE KE R
EHERWES)
12. Preventing child and forced 26.  Air emissions
2. Observing and protecting labour & RBEDR
intellectual property rights BylbE Tekaghles T
g NARBE AR E R 27.  Use of materials (e.g. paper,
13. Employee remuneration, benefits packaging, raw materials)
3. Customer information and and rights (e.g. working hours, MREER (R - B2 - B’
privacy rest periods, working conditions) =)
BEPER RILE BB - & RN (40 TIERF
M- KRB - TIEGE) 28.  Hazardous waste production
4. Number of concluded legal BEEYEXE
cases regarding corrupt 14. Diversity and equal opportunity of

practices, e.g. bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering
EEAENESHRARENER
(INFEEE - BR - BGFROK#E) 15

155 Selection and monitoring of
suppliers
HEFMNBERER 16.

6. Employee development and
training 17.
EE R EEI

7. Greenhouse gas emissions
BERBEEN
18.
8. Environmental risks (e.g.
pollution) and social risks
(e.g. monopoly) of the suppliers
HENEIRSERR (5HR) kit 19.

g =k (N ERET)
9. Product and service labelling 20.
Em R RGIEE
10. Product health and safety
EmEREZS 21.
22.
23.
24,

80 HUANXI MEDIA GROUP LIMITED

employees
EBENZ TR TFERS

Anti-corruption training provided
to directors and staff
MEERE TRENRETHE

Climate change
FRIRR L

Mitigation measures to protect
environment and natural
resources
RERIERRABIRAT EIE1E

Environmentally preferable
products and services
IRIREE A AR 7%

Non-hazardous waste production
BEBRVESE

community support (e.g.
donation, volunteering)
HE TR ER - EERE)

Cultivation of local employment
fREZ P

Occupational health and safety
BEERNETE

Anti-corruption policies and
whistle-blowing procedure

REFBERRBREF

Energy use (e.g. electricity, gas,
fuel)

BERER(ES - KR - BED

- Annual Report 2021
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According to above result, some topics such as (1) Marketing
communications, (2) Observing and protecting intellectual property
rights, (3) Customer information and privacy, (4) Number of concluded
legal cases regarding corrupt practices; and (5) Selection and
monitoring of suppliers, are very important to the Group. The above
topics are categorised as the main elements that drive the sustainable
business development of the Group and we will further elaborate on
them in the following sections.

FEEDBACK CONTACT

The latest business updates are available to the public through
our website (www.huanximedia.com). The Group welcomes all
stakeholders’ feedback regarding the ESG issues. Interested parties
can contact the Group to share their suggestions and opinions through
the channels listed below:

Address: 11th Floor
Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road
Admiralty, Hong Kong
Email: info@huanxi.com

A. ENVIRONMENTAL

The Group attaches great importance to the “dual carbon” goal,
and following the deployment of the “dual carbon” goal of the
PRC government, draws on overseas experience, strengthens
the carbon footprint accounting of our film industry, and
takes the road of sustainable and high-quality development.
We strictly abide by the Environmental Protection Law of the
PRC, the Air Pollution Control Ordinance, the Noise Control
Ordinance, the Waste Disposal Ordinance and the Water
Pollution Control Ordinance of Hong Kong, and other applicable
laws and regulations, since environmental protection and energy
conservation are very important to our sustainable development.

Considering the nature of our businesses, the impact of the
Group’s business activities on the environment and energy
consumption is minimal. The Group has made efforts to integrate
environmental protection into our daily business operation. It
is reflected by our promotion of pollution prevention, waste
reduction, and recycling. For all of our investment decision-
making processes, as one of the key assessment criteria, we
perform comprehensive assessments and give due consideration
to minimise the potential impact on the environment.

0 i ) & R R i
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EH : info@huanxi.com
A. BB
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RIRREEHRPINAIHBEERFFTEE
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During the Reporting Period, the Group complied with laws and REEAN - AEEETHEBZERSERE
regulations related to air pollution and waste handling including VMEBEENERREZR  BREPENEBE
relevant regulations in the PRC, and the Group did not have any B WERRE BT ETAERER -

significant environmental violations.

A1 Emissions A1 B
Exhaust emissions BER B
The Group implements strict management of emissions REBEREEEEERIETEENHN
generated during our operations to meet the relevant W - LUEBUBRBEHE R 4 ﬁTF%ETJ%I%
emission standards. We have gathered, organised, and B g kEamEEs - WK - B
analysed greenhouse gas data following ESG Reporting EAMRERENEE - J«MiE/J?”ET %lJ
Guide to control emissions from the source. P -
Based on the nature of our businesses and the ongoing BERMEBSHEERAEEEERERN
assessment by the management of the Group, we did not BENE  RMUEBEEREEREN
generate significant air emissions or hazardous waste. LBEREY AEEMNRERBHERE
The Group’s greenhouse gas emissions are mainly indirect ERASBTIESAMASE - RERTR
emissions, which are caused by the use of electricity in the BB ZIREEM LM -

Group's workplaces, car travel, and employee travel.

Regarding the above issues, our goal is to reduce the HR bz E KM EEREFRL
emissions year by year. The Group has advocated green EHE - AEE-—BERERRBAE -
office to reduce the negative impact on the environment, OB HIRIBN B EZE - HIanEn 4082
such as saving energy and cutting power off in time to BRMEFEHS  HOTVENRE &
reduce unnecessary waste; encouraging employees BEEEREFeRSLER  BR
to use teleconferencing or online conferences to avoid PR EHEK ©

unnecessary travel.
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For details of air and greenhouse gas emissions FHEBERIMEERENNERE  B2H
performance, please refer to the table below: T&:
Emission category KPIs Unit 2021 2020 Movement
B Al AREVER By —E--F ZE-EBF =)
Emissions from vehicles NOX kg 9.86 8.21 20%
X3¢ ) Ry =
SOX kg 0.43 0.35 23%
maty TR
PM kg 0.73 0.60 22%
CER R ) T
Greenhouse gas emissions™ Scope 1@ tCO.e 80 64 25%
BE RSB O #[E1 M—fLiREE
Scope 20 tCO.e 88 122 -28%
& [E 20 WE— S LIRE S
Scope 3% tCO.e 19 28 -32%
#3[Z3® WS biREE
187 214 -13%
Intensity per employee®
BEBEEBR
Emission category KPIs Unit 2021 2020
BER D Bl HARENER B —E-—F —E-EF
Emissions from vehicles NOXx kg 0.093 0.075
BHEHERY) Ry =
SOx kg 0.004 0.003
maty TR
PM kg 0.007 0.006
CER R Y T
Greenhouse gas emissions™ Scope 1@ tCOLe 0.75 0.59
BE RO FE1 M—ftiREE
Scope 20 tCO.e 0.83 1.12
& [F] 20 WS LR EE
Scope 3% tCO2e 0.18 0.26
#i[E 3w W—EtiREE
1.76 1.97

BEGHEEEARAA -

——FFH
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Notes:

1. Greenhouse gas emissions included emissions of carbon
dioxide, methane, and nitrous oxide, where methane and
nitrous oxide emissions were converted to carbon dioxide
emissions based on global warming potential ("GWP").
Therefore, the total amount of greenhouse gas emissions is the
total amount of carbon dioxide emissions equivalent.

2. Scope 1 included direct greenhouse gas emissions from the
combustion of fuels in mobile sources (e.g. vehicles) controlled
by the Group.

38 Scope 2 included indirect greenhouse gas emissions of

electricity purchased from power companies.

4. Scope 3 included the indirect greenhouse gas emissions of
disposal of paper waste at landfill and business travel by
employees.

5 The intensity calculation method is to divide the air, greenhouse
gas, and other emissions in 2021 by the Group's total labour
force of 106 (2020:109).

6. The methodology adopted for reporting on greenhouse gas
emissions set out above was based on “How to Prepare an ESG
Report? — Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental
KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange.

Waste management

The Group strictly abides by the Law of the PRC on the
Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid
Waste, the Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap 354 of the Laws
of Hong Kong), and other relevant regulations. The Group
manages the waste in compliance with these regulations,
and prevents waste from polluting the environment.

As we are engaged in film and TV programmes rights
investments, as well as operation of an online video
platform, there is no significant environmental issue
was noted and no hazardous waste was generated in
our business activities within the Reporting Period, and
we have not produced a notable level of air or water
pollutants. Our waste is mainly attributed to our daily
activities such as regular trash and paper used for job
management and office documents, which are non-
hazardous. We entrusted qualified third-party companies
to recycle and dispose of those non-hazardous waste.

GEE
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We hope that the amount of paper used can decrease year
by year. To reduce the generation of the non-hazardous
waste, we have established office policies related to saving
paper. First of all, the Group encourages employees to
make full use of the Group's online office system and
minimise the use of paper; secondly, the Group advocates
employees to recycle paper. For example, double-sided
printing is adopted for recycling to reduce paper waste and
reduce waste paper from the source.

Through our continuous efforts, the Group discharged
0.59 tonnes of wasted papers in 2021, decreased by 7.8%
compared with the previous year (2020: 0.64 tonnes), the
intensity of wasted paper was 0.006 tonnes (2020: 0.006
tonnes) per employee.

Use of Resources

Considering the nature of our businesses, the main
resources consumed by the Group were electricity,
petrol, and water, and no packaging materials are used.
During the Reporting Period, the total direct and indirect
energy consumption by electricity and petrol was 419.55
MWh (2020: 359.86 MWh), the intensity of total direct and
indirect energy consumption was 3.96 MWh (2020: 3.30
MWh) per employee.

Payment for water usage has been included in the
management fee to the landlord, thus related consumption
data cannot be obtained. Meanwhile, the Group did not
have problems with shortage of water supply and the
use of packaging material is not applicable to our core
business.

We aim to continuously improve the efficiency of energy
use in order to achieve the purpose of saving energy. To
better manage the use of resources and improve resource
utilisation, the Group has implemented key measures
during the Reporting Period including but not limited to the
following:

o Strictly control the power consumption of the office
building, turn off the power supply in time when the
computer is not in use, and carefully check whether
the computer, water dispenser, lighting, and other
electrical equipment are powered off after work.

A2
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A3

o Enhance electronic means of communication with
employees.

. Encourage the virtual conferences to replace the
physical ones mostly.

o Encourage employees to consciously develop
the habit of saving water, turn off taps at will, and
eliminate waste.

o Advocate employees to take public transportation to
work to achieve green travel.

o Actively recycle waste paper and use recycled paper
as much as possible.

The Environment and Natural Resources

The existing business operations of the Group are not
expected to pose a material impact on the environment.
However, the management had nonetheless incorporated
the factor of the potential impact on the environment and
natural resources in business operations planning. The
Group hopes that continuous improvement will contribute
to the global ecological environment.

Although the Group’s impacts on environment are
insignificant and the Group seldom uses natural resources
directly, we still encourage our employees to reduce the
use of natural resources and recycle as much as possible,
as described in section “A2 Use of Resources”.

HUANXI MEDIA GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2021

A3
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A4 Climate Change

At present, the impact of climate change on human beings
has become a global concern, and climate change is
affecting all aspects of our lives. The Group is not involved
in large-scale manufacturing industry and is relatively less
affected by the climate. The Group will continue to monitor
the potential risks of climate change and its impacts
on the Group's operations and adopt the appropriate
environmental protection measures as stated in this report
accordingly. However, we should not underestimate the
risks brought about by climate change, such as operational
risks, profit risks, and so on. In order to reduce those risks
from extreme weather and natural disasters, we have put
in place emergency response procedures, as outlined in
the employee handbook, such as procedures for work
arrangements under typhoons and black rainstorms,
and safeguards to minimise loss of office equipment and
facilities, business impact, and harm to employee safety,
with details as stated below:

o During the Reporting Period, the Group has provided
insurance to office premises and employees so as
to safeguard the property of the office and safety of
employees.

o Regularly promote the knowledge of natural disaster
prevention to enhance the safety and protection
awareness of the Group’s employees.

o Strengthen the usual inspection, early detection of
hidden dangers and the use of practical preventive
and control measures in an effort to reduce the
damage caused by natural disasters.

o We regularly perform complete backups of system
data to support the resumption of critical business
operations.
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B. SOCIAL B. #&
B1 Employment B1 {EfE
Recruitment B

88

Our staff is regarded as the most important resource of the
Group. Hence, the Group has been endeavoring to provide
our staff with a fair and harmonious workplace where
individuals with diverse cultural backgrounds are treated
equally. We offer a competitive remuneration package
and great opportunities for career advancement based on
employees’ performance.

The Group has established human resources policy that
complies with the requirements of the Labour Law of the
PRC, Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), and other relevant laws and regulations to
standardise employee recruitment, remuneration, vacation,
benefits, anti-discrimination, and other processes.

The Group strove to optimise the system of human
resources management to promote fairness and equality
within the workplace, human resources policy has been
established to ensure there is no discrimination on the
grounds of age, gender, marital status, family status, sexual
orientation, disability, ethnic group, nationality or religion.
In accordance with our human resources policy, the above
factors are not considered in the decision-making process
of employment, remuneration, and promotion. The Group
advocates diversified development and is keen to recruit
employees with different cultures, nationalities, and ideas,
S0 as to promote the continuous innovation of the Group.

An employment contract is required to be signed by the
employee to ensure job title, job duties, working hours,
holidays, remuneration, termination process, and benefits
are agreed.
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Working hours, rest periods, and benefits

The Group attaches great importance to the welfare of
employees, a five-day workweek arrangement is adopted
in Hong Kong and the PRC to facilitate work-life balance.
In addition to all statutory holidays (including Sundays)
employees are entitled to annual leaves, and other
paid leaves such as maternity leave, paternity leave,
compensation leave, wedding leave, and examination
leave in accordance with the Group's policy.

In addition, employees under employment contract in
Hong Kong are enrolled in Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme and are entitled to the Group’s medical insurance,
including global outpatient and inpatient medical plans
upon completion of their probationary period. The Group
has also purchased full liability insurance for all employees
in accordance with the Employees’ Compensation
Ordinance (Cap.282). For those employees under
employment contract in the PRC, they are covered by Old-
Age Insurance. The Group has also purchased other basic
social insurance and housing fund for our employees in
the PRC to protect their legal rights and interests.

Employees enjoy medical benefits, provident fund scheme
(if applicable), and other benefits subject to the Group’s
policies.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had 101 full-time
employees (2020: 101) and 5 part-time employees (2020: 8).
Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example,
full-time or part-time), age group and geographical region
are as follows:
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Workforce by employment type, gender, age group and geographical region
RERER - #45  FRANKGEEINES

Gender Age Group Geographical Region
151 Fica Rl ol
Total Male Female Below 30 30-50  Above 50 PRC  HongKong
fEt S i 30mAT 30-50m%  S50mRMA L H Bk
Full-time 2B 101 54 47 o4 39 8 69 32
Part-time 3 1% 5 3 2 - - 5 5 -
106 57 49 54 39 13 74 32
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During the Reporting Period, the Group’s employee R

iR - IR - Fled R Mt
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H
turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical oA EEEEMALENT

region are as follows:

29.00%

19.00%

Turnover rate by gender

28.00%

13.00%

Turnover rate by geographical region

REBIE T HIRK LR Rt EE D HIRK LR
B Male Female B Mainland China Hong Kong
B 7 FR A BB
26.00% 26.00%
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Turnover rate by age group
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B2 Health and Safety

The Group is committed to creating a healthy and
safe environment for all employees while promoting a
sustainable corporate culture. We believe that safe working
does not only uphold the adherence to people-oriented
principles but also preserve our talents from exposure
to occupational diseases or injuries, no matter severe or
minor.

Safety guides in respect of reducing occupational hazards
in the office working environment were circulated to
employees to advise employees to address more attention
to health and safety issues. Our administration department
is involved in ensuring the health and safety of employees,
for example, employees are prohibited from piling up
garbage in the office corridor, and the administration
department monitors office hygiene from time to time in
an effort to provide a clean and safe working environment
to employees. We also participate in fire emergency drills
annually to ensure the safe evacuation of all employees in
the event of any disaster.

In addition to the physical health of employees, the mental
health of employees is equally important. We believe that
proper rest can relieve the fatigue caused by work very
well, so we adopt a five-day workweek in Hong Kong and
the PRC and motivate our staff to keep a practical and
reasonable work-life balance.

In the meantime, we support our contractors and
business partners, such as film management teams, in
giving high priority to health and safety issues, in terms
of occupational hazards. We understand their concerns
about occupational health, and exchange experiences with
them through communication or meetings. Also, we have
visited film sets to understand the working environment
and health conditions of the crew from time to time.
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Given the outbreak of the Pandemic, the Group has taken
the following measures to safeguard the employees:

o Setting up an emergency team in the PRC and Hong
Kong to monitor and respond to the development of
the Pandemic;

o urging employees to wear masks and report their
physical conditions to the Group in a timely manner;

J Providing hand sanitiser and surgical masks to
employees and visitors (if necessary);

o Encouraging employees to hold meetings online or
by phone to minimise physical contact; and

o Adopting flexible working hours and working from
home to reduce social contact.

There is full compliance towards Occupational Safety and
Health Ordinance and relevant regulations that protected
employees from occupation hazards. The Group also
complied with Labour Law of the PRC and Law of the PRC
on the Prevention & Control of Occupational Diseases.

Based on the Group's emphasis on the health and safety of
its employees, the Group has never lost working days due
to working-related casualties, and no employee has been
injured or died due to work in the past three years.

ENRBRE  AEECSRIRATER
RERE :

e RPBEERFERILEZERL A
EEREHREBEER

e FREEMBLNZBULFRAE
B E F IR

s REEMGERHAEFREAOZE

(MHFE)

e HERERRLABEBEFERT

B UERERIIEEE M

© BOEAIHSMRERHD
AR R A -

AEEZEET(BER S REEED
KRABER - WRERERXBERST
Rk - NEE TR E T (R EARKME
BEE) (R EARKXMBBERE
) °

GarAEEURERERLENE
B AEERARIBMEBRIER -
BE=ZFANTERERTEMI BRI
to



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

B3 Development and Training

The Group attaches great importance to the training
and continuous development of employees. As part
of the Group's valuable assets, we strongly support
the development of employees and help them enrich
their knowledge, skills, and working abilities. During the
Reporting Period, we arranged employee training, covering
anti-corruption, management skills, and other professional
training, to fully meet the training needs of employees.
In addition, we also provide a subsidy of HK$4,600
(2020:HK$8,994) for employees who participate in 49 hours
(2020:46 hours) job skills training courses.

Apart from professional training, we believe that our
employees should also have the opportunity to acquire
learning experiences through work assignments to help
them build up their on-going job skills that will help them
grow professionally.

In addition to the above, the Group will also conduct
salary evaluation and review based on the performance
evaluation results of employees in January annually,
so that the Group and employees can review their
personal performance and development, and put forward
improvement methods and corresponding training, so as
to promote the personal development of employees.
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During the Reporting Period, the percentage of employees RBEERAN - AEERNZINEER D
trained in the Group was 12% (2020:10%) and the total tEB12% (ZZ2ZZF : 10%) * 5F 8
training hours of this year were 49 hours (2020: 46 hours), RIFV S RAVNE(ZZEZTF : 46
for details please see the chart and table below: ) BEFBBR TERRIIK
Percentage of employees trained Percentage of employees trained
by gender by employee category
RERIE D H REEBERESH
ZilEEES K ZilEEES K
30%
38%
62%
62% 8%
= Male Female m Executive management
EXtka fegis TIRERE
Middle management
PAREIRE
General/Operational staff
—RIEET

Average training hours completed per employee by gender
RGBS  SEREETHZINFIRE

Unit 2021
By —E-—fF
Male S1% Hour /| B 0.6
Female %% Hour /J\B 0.3

Average training hours completed per employee by employee category
REEERNES  SEEETHAZTINEHYEE

Unit 2021
By —E-—-F
Executive management 17 & 12 [ Hour /J\BF 0.4
Middle management 7 4 & 12 |8 Hour /J\BF 0.9
General/Operational staff —#& /1#2/EE T Hour /)i 0.3
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Labour Standards

The Group strictly complies with the Labour Contract Law
of the PRC, the Labour Law of the PRC, the Employment
Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong), and
other applicable employment laws and regulations.
According to the mandatory provisions of the law, child
labour and forced labour are strictly prohibited within
the Group. During the recruitment process, the age and
identity of all employees of the Group are verified and
background checks and reference checks (if necessary)
are conducted by our human resources department based
on the information provided by applicants before hiring,
among other sources. Applicants who fail to meet the legal
requirements would not be hired.

There is full compliance towards relevant national and local
regulations that prohibits child or forced labour. During
the Reporting Period, we did not receive any complaints or
reporting of child labour or forced labour.

Supply Chain Management

The Group's suppliers mainly provide us with various film
and TV programmes production and distribution services,
and broadcasting rights licensing. The details of the
number of suppliers by region are set out below:
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Mainland China B4 i 24
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Business contract management is of fundamental concern
to us. The Group has established policies and procedures
related to supply chain management to regulate the
selection and monitoring process of suppliers. According
to those policies, the Group follows the principles of
fairness and consistency in supply chain management by
implement uniform screening criteria when selecting each
supplier. All suppliers and contractors shall comply with all
legal requirements and standards related to environmental
standards, intellectual property rights and anti-corruption.
The Group requires each company to maintain sound
records of supplier selection and evaluation for the Group’s
supervision and inspection to ensure that all selection and
evaluation processes comply with the above principles.

We monitor and eliminate any ESG risks in our supply chain
by evaluating suppliers’ products and services against our
purchase principles during procurement. In addition, the
Group has required suppliers to purchase insurance for the
production team in the contract terms to ensure that the
relevant risks have been identified and transferred.

The Group comprehensively evaluates the capabilities
of suppliers based on their service quality, market
strength, and practical experience. In addition to the
above-mentioned standards, the environmental and
social responsibility of suppliers is also one of the
significant elements examined by the Group. When all
other conditions are met, we prefer to choose those
suppliers that are environmentally friendly, because we
do encourage and expect our contractors and business
partners to uphold a high standard of morality that is
similar to ours. We have been monitoring our suppliers
through communication and site visits, and continuously
assessing their environmental impact.

At present, the Group has established solid cooperative
relationships with numbers of suppliers. We advocate
that these partners abide by strict ethical standards
with us (including but not limited to the perspective of
environmental and social issues). The Group always
maintains strict quality supervision over the services and
products provided by suppliers, and continuously and
comprehensively evaluates the compliance of suppliers in
terms of their environmental and social responsibilities and
service quality.
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B6 Product Responsibility

Product responsibility

The Group is principally engaged in media and
entertainment-related businesses. It recognises that
proper advertising of services and products (e.g. films and
TV programmes) provided as well as a timely response is of
great importance to the long-term business development.
The Group makes every endeavor to comply with the
relevant legislation.

Being an investor in the media and entertainment field,
the Group has always placed utmost importance to
the safeguard and protection of intellectual property
rights, encompassing the management of confidentiality
and information sharing. The Group complies with all
intellectual property-related laws and regulations, including
but not limited to the Trade Marks Ordinance, Cap. 559,
the Copyright Ordinance, Cap. 528, the Prevention of
Copyright Piracy, Cap. 544, Trademark Law of the PRC,
and Copyright Law of the PRC. Clauses are included in the
film investment agreements and other related cooperation
agreements to protect the Group's interests in the films
and TV programmes rights which it invested in, such as the
Group's income rights, distribution rights, and copyrights in
the productions.

In addition, the Group has strengthened supply chain
management to ensure that the relevant copyrights used
in the production of film and TV programmes have been
licensed before being used or referenced. Once any act
deemed to be infringing occurs, the Group will immediately
take legal measures to ensure that the legitimate rights
and interests of the Group are protected.
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With the increase in number of users of “huanxi.com”,
the Group has become more and more aware of the
significance of information security and user privacy
protection. The Group was strictly in compliance with
the regulation of the Cybersecurity Law of the PRC to
protect users’ personal information. In addition, we
have established information security and user privacy
protection mechanisms to reduce the risk of user
information leakage. We use a variety of means to raise
employee awareness of information privacy and data
security, for example, we used the company intranet
to deliver critical information. In addition to enhancing
employee awareness, we regularly monitor and check
the system bug to ensure the security of consumers’
registration data.

Product quality

The Group is principally engaged in media and
entertainment-related businesses. The Group always
looks for good investment opportunities that bring
high economic returns for Shareholders and provide
more choices for customers. The Group attaches great
importance to the quality management of film and TV
programmes, and dedicates a lot of time, resources, and
money to each work in order to meet the expectations of
the audiences, because the quality of our films depends
largely on consumers’ preferences and we do multiple
rounds of review before the film is released. In addition
to our own requirements on films, entertainment content
in the form of films or TV series is also required to be
reviewed and approved by the regulatory authorities prior
to release. The primary administrative authority of the PRC
government responsible for censoring such content is the
National Radio and Television Administration. Relevant
laws and regulations mainly include: Copyright Law of the
PRC and Film Industry Promotion Law of the PRC. During
the Reporting Period, there was no breach of relevant laws
and regulations.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group's films released
in cinema circuits during the year were highly praised.
Among them, the film Warm Hug (&% ®#32), directed
by Chang Yuan, hit the screens during the New Year
holiday of 2020/2021. Featuring a joyous atmosphere, the
film conveyed the positive energy resulting from actively
embarking on efforts and exploring greater possibilities
in life, which enjoyed positive feedback and registered
outstanding box office receipts. The film Miss Mom (=
#31), directed by Tang Danian, presented the real-life
issues encountered by urban women today, notably work
worries, hard to maintain social life, and struggling to find
true love. In addition, the film Are You Lonesome Tonight?
(BB =), co-produced by the Group, produced by
Ning Hao and directed by Wen Shipei, tells a hit-and-run
story through several different perspectives and across
periods at a thrilling rhythmic pace, with the lead roles
played by Peng Yu Yan Eddie and Chang Ai-chia Sylvia.
The film The Pioneer (% an %), invested by the Group and
produced by Guan Hu, is a touching story narrating Li
Dazhao, a pioneer of the Chinese Communist movement,
who eagerly pursued ways to change China and rescue
the nation, showing enthusiasm and passion in the historic
transition.

The Group has also actively cooperated with other strategic
partners in order to enrich its creative team and its film
and TV content to meet the entertainment needs of the
public. In June 2021, the Group entered into a cooperation
agreement for a term of three years with Shanghai Hanna
Pictures Culture Media Company Limited and Huang Bo, a
famous director, and actor, for joint investment in and the
development of quality film and TV productions. All parties
concerned have confirmed that the first film collaborated
on is the film Papa (%), written and directed by Su
Liang and starring Huang Bo. The Group believes that the
cooperation will facilitate its access to opportunities in film
and TV and new media investments, as well as enrich the
content and accelerate the business development of its
online video platform, “huanxi.com”.
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B7

The Group strives to improve its products and services
while listening humbly to customers. Our customers
submit their complaints through after-sales hotline. Upon
receiving a complaint, we will timely refer the issue to the
respective department head for handling and monitor the
progress of complaint handling to ensure that customer
feedback is addressed properly. During the Reporting
Period, the complaint handling rate was 100%. During the
Reporting Period, the Group did not involve in product
sales and sales return issues.

Anti-Corruption

Corruption, whether within the business sector or involving
the public sector, would erode the level-playing field
and our core value of fairness, and impede the efficient
operation of the market. We strictly abide by the anti-
corruption programme, a guide for listed company and was
issued by the Independent Commission Against Corruption
(the “ICAC"). The Group is committed to achieving the
highest possible standards of openness, probity and
accountability, and to preventing bribes, extortion,
fraud, and money laundering. Employees at all levels are
expected to conduct themselves with integrity, impartiality
and honesty. It is every employee’s responsibility and in all
interest of the Company to ensure that any inappropriate
behavioral or organisational malpractice that compromise
the interest of the shareholders, investors, customers and
wider public does not occur.

The Group's whistleblowing policy has been uploaded
to the Group's website (www.huanximedia.com). The
policy sets out the procedures for employees to report
any suspected fraud, malpractice, corruption or any
other unethical behaviour, as well as the investigation
procedures. The Group requires that whistle-blowing
must be made in standard written form and presented
to the Board for internal investigation by our executive
management or external engaged auditors, if possible, the
Board will respond to the whistleblower.
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The Board and its committees of the Group demonstrate a
strong commitment to anti-corruption business practices
and zero-tolerance of corruption and ensure that the
anti-corruption measures are effective and up-to-date
through monitoring and reviews.

In addition to establishing a whistle-blowing reporting
channel for employees, the Group also arranged anti-
corruption training for directors and employees to
ensure that subordinate personnel are familiar with and
comply with the Group's anti-corruption policy. During
the Reporting Period, the Group arranged one-hour
anti-corruption training for each of the 11 directors and
employees. For details of the training, please refer to
section “B3 Development and Training”.

The Group has strictly adhered to relevant laws and
regulations, including the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance
and the relevant regulations in the PRC. During the
Reporting Period, there was no legal case or dispute in
respect of bribery, extortion, fraud, or money laundering
against our employees and the Group.

Community Investment

The Group is committed to making employees part of the
community. We encourage assistance in and participation
in conventions, conferences, exhibitions, and events held
by business communities relevant to our businesses,
with a particular focus on organisations promoting
the development of media industries and community
partnership.

Due to the impact of the Pandemic, the Group did not
devote any resources to community investment during the
Reporting Period. However, we will do our best to provide
more employment opportunities for community members
in the coming time, and to progress and develop together
with the community. At the same time, we generally
capture public preferences through online research, as we
are in the media business that enriches the lives of people
in the wider community. We will continue to work hard and
innovate to make people’s leisure time no longer boring.
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appropriate, intensity
BEEE)REEHE @R RZRBERE U E) R(NER)BE

ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX (RIE - HERERBREEDABERS
Corresponding
Aspects, General Section of
disclosures and KPIs ESG Report
BE - —REER Description RS HEREREE
BRENEE Hit WIREES
Aspect A1: Emissions
EEA: HHY
General Disclosure Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant | A1 Emissions BEAT#)
—RBE impact on the issuer relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste
BEERRRREREHN - MARDHOHES BEREEENNEENRRRETHEIABEA
PENRELERRAINER
KPI BRI IEALY The types of emissions and respective emissions data A1 Emissions HER
HRmEE RS REE
KPI BRETURIZA12 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where | A1 Emissions HEAT#)

KPI B8 5 1ZA1.3

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity
MEEEEENAE (S L (ER)ZE

Not applicable to the Group's
businesses

TERRTEEEHR
KPI BESRE MG 1ZA14 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity AT Emissions HERH
FELRZEENLE(MAE) R ER %E
KPI IR B B 12A1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them A1 Emissions SR
W MENE AR RAEELR BRERNSR
KPI BRETURIEA16 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and a description of reduction | A1 Emissions HE#)

target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them
BRRBEERESENNAE - RERFETAHERRRAEELE SHRRA SR

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

EEA2: 8FRA

General Disclosure
—BRE

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other raw materials
BRERER(BELR  KREMEME) OBRK

A2 Use of Resources &R/

KPI B3R 4E IR 1ZA2.1

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total (kWh in ‘000s) and intensity
RERESNERR/ SR FERECTATARHE REE

A2 Use of Resources & & (&

KPI B2 IR 12A2.2

Water consumption in total and intensity
BEKEREE

A2 Use of Resources & B f#

KPI B3R 4E iE12A2.3

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them
BRATUMEREANE B ERAEEELE BARRA SR

A2 Use of Resources & Bz

KPI BIRREERIEIRA24

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency
target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them
ECKBERKE LT AEARE - URAGTUNEA G ERAEIELE ERRRNSR

A2 Use of Resources & & f#

KPI AR EE AR 1225

Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per
unit produced
LR MR ARMENEE (B E) R(NER) §EEEN(G

fil

Not applicable to the Group's
businesses
TERRASEEH
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
BE - g AkERBE

Corresponding
Aspects, General Section of
disclosures and KPIs ESG Report
BE - —REER Description R HERERES
BRENER it HiREEE
Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
BEA3: BERAAER
General Disclosure Policies on minimising the issuer's significant impact on the environment and natural resources A3 The Environment and
vt REBTAHRERARERENEAY BNER Natural Resources
BERRRER
KPI B3R E MIR12A31 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and natural resources and the | A3 The Environment and
actions taken to manage them Natural Resources
BB R R RAR A RN EAY ERERNERE BT ENTY RERARER

Aspect A4; Climate Change
BEAL: RiFEL

General Disclosure
—BEE

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and
those which may impact, the issuer
HAREHE LR T e HETAEEYENEARBEESENICR

A4 Climate Change F iRk

KPI BB R EE 2L

Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and those which may impact,
the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them

Ad Climate Change & EE1c

HRDRRUMEHETAEEYENEARGRAZE - REHTE
Aspect B1: Employment
BEB1: B
General Disclosure Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant | B1 Employment (1%
—HBRE impact on the issuer relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours,

rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare
BREWRRE  RERES  IENE  BE - TE#e - St REGULRERGERERN
BERETHEIABEAT BN EERANINER

KPI B R EUEER .1

Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- or part-time), age group and geographical
region
RER - ERER(MEZBIGER) - FRATRLEHSNES LY

B1 Employment {15

KPI B3R IE 12R1 2

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region
BUR - ERAFIEREINSNHERRALE

B1 Employment (&

Aspect B2: Health and Safety
EEB2: RERZ2

General Disclosure Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant | B2 Health and Safety

—RRE impact on the issuer relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting employees from | BERk%EZE
occupational hazards
BEREZ2THERERREEEREBENAENRR RETHENABEAF ENREEAERA
&R

KPI 248 WUE1EB2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past three years including the reporting | B2 Health and Safety
year BERZ2
BEZF ARERSER BERIUAMARRLE

KPI B2 R 1EB2.2 Lost days due to work injury B2 Health and Safety
RIGBEATERY S

KPI IS B B 12823 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and how they are implemented and | B2 Health and Safety
monitored BERZ2

BAFRRANBRRERZ 251 UREBRTRER DA

BEEREEEARAR - —F=



ENVIRONMENTAL,

SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BB A KB R

Aspects, General
disclosures and KPIs
BE  —-RRER
BRENEE

Description
i

Corresponding
Section of

ESG Report

B HERERESE
HEESE

Aspect B3: Development and Training

B3 : #RERIEH

General Disclosure
—RHRE

Policies on improving employees” knowledge and skills for discharging duties at work. Description of
training activities
ARRARERTTIERENMARRENNE - HEIED

B3 Development and Training
BRRE

KPI S AR A 1583,

The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category (e.g. Senior management, middle
management)
RESIREEER(NRRERE  PREREHANTIIEEEAL

B3 Development and Training
BRI

KPI B3 42 1512832

The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee category
RERSIRESENED  BEEETKZIINTHRY

B3 Development and Training
BE R

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
[BEB4: BIHE

General Disclosure
—RBE

Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to preventing child and forced labour
BRI ETREMS INERRETHETABERY ENABECRATINER

B4 Lahour Standards 4 T2

KPI B4 IR 1241

Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and forced labour
BRI RRENNEEIEEETIREHET

B4 Labour Standards &4 T 2%

KPI BB AR R 15B4.2

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered
BREERERERREREHBRA RN R

B4 Labour Standards 4 T2

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Mana
[BEBS : HERER

gement

General Disclosure
—HER

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain
ERMERNRERILERREE

B5 Supply Chain Management
fHERER

KPI B3 42 212851

Number of suppliers by geographical region
BEE DM ESEE

B5 Supply Chain Management
ftEsdER

KPI 3§48 70481285 2

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers where the practices are being
implemented, and how they are implemented and monitored
HLBEERMLEENEN  nERTERENNEERHE - URABMIRER A

B5 Supply Chain Management
fERER

KPI B3 42 15 1285.3

Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks along the supply chain, and how
they are implemented and monitored
EREEERSERTERENRERLGREBNEN D REBRRTRERRE

B5 Supply Chain Management
ftEsER

KPI B3R IE 12854

Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable products and services when
selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented and monitored
BRERELRENERSARREQRRENEN - NREERTRERE

B5 Supply Chain Management
fEdER
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
BE - g AkERBE

Corresponding
Aspects, General Section of
disclosures and KPIs ESG Report
BE - —REER Description R HERERES
BRENEE it HWIREED
Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

JEMB6 - EmEf

General Disclosure
it

Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant

impact on the issuer relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to

products and services provided and methods of redress

ﬁfﬁﬁm HERNRENEREZE  BS  GERLBSENRBUAENIERETHETAE
BEAYENRBERRANNER

B6 Product Responsibility
Em&ft

KPI B3R 48 78 12861

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and health reasons

B6 Product Responsibility

PERRERERESTRE 2 ARFEAMARKME AL, EmEf

KPI B4 2175 13B6.2 Number of products and services related complaints received and how they are dealt with B4 Product Responsibility
BEBRERRRBMRFYENRELS T E EREf

KPI B 248 R 1EB6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual property rights B6 Product Responsibility
HlREERRENREESHNED EmEf

KPI BRI A5 13864 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures B4 Product Responsibility
mlESRTREREREKER EmEMT

KPI R E M5 1EB6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and how they are implemented and | B6 Product Responsibility
monitored EmEf

FRHBEEEHRERLRRE D RERRTRER A

Aspect B7: Anti-Corruption

BEB7 : R&S
General Disclosure Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant | B7 Anti-Corruption R &5
—REE impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering

REDLER IR RERARENERRETHRTAREAT BORBEZLAPINEH

KPI A48 8 1287 1

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against the issuer or its employees
during the reporting period and the outcomes of the cases
REEERHETASEEIREVCEANESHARHNE RFALER

B7 Anti-Corruption R &35

KPI B3R E 387 2

Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, and how they are implemented and
monitored
HERERBRER  DREBRTRERRE

B7 Ant-Corruption & &5

KPI B2 151287 3

Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff
RlMESRE TRENRESE

B7 Ant-Corruption & &'5

Aspect B8: Community Investment

[EMBS : HERE

General Disclosure
—BRE

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the communities where the issuer
operates and to ensure its activities take into consideration the communities' interests
BEME2ER T RENACBIEHEEENRREEHEHLZEHEF BB

B8 Community Investment
HRRE

KPI B3 48746 1288 1

Focus areas of contribution

B8 Community Investment

ERy HRRE
KPI ISR 2 B 1288.2 Resources contributed to the focus area B8 Community Investment
EEFEREABRER HERE

BEGHEEEARAA -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B 57 bz BB e A

i
pwc

To the Shareholders of Huanxi Media Group Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Huanxi Media Group Limited
(the "Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out
on pages 120 to 243, comprise:

o the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2021;

o the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended,;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

o the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“"HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“"HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F, Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong

T: +852 2289 8888, F: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do
not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

o Impairment assessment of film and TV programmes rights
classified as intangible assets and other intangible assets

o Valuation of film rights investments

o Impairment of prepayments for film and TV programmes rights

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
3 7 % BRb e

ERNER
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

3 3 % B R

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed
the Key Audit Matter

Impairment assessment of film and TV programmes rights classified as intangible assets

and other intangible assets

Refer to Note 2.8, Note 2.9, Note 4(b), Note 19 and
Note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

As described in the accounting policies in Note
2.8 and Note 2.9 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group has classified (i) film and
TV programmes rights completed, (i) film and TV
programmes rights under production, (i licensed
film and TV programmes rights and (iv) software
and license as intangible assets. All these
rights are measured at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment.

Film and TV programmes rights completed that
are subject to amortisation and licensed film and
TV programmes rights are tested for impairment
when impairment indicator existed, while film
and TV programmes rights completed and under
production that are not subject to amortisation
are tested for impairment annually.

108

Our procedures in relation to the impairment
assessment of film and TV programmes rights
classified as intangible assets and other
intangible assets included:

o Obtained an understanding of the
management's internal controls and
assessment process of impairment
assessment of film and TV programmes
rights classified as intangible assets, and
other intangible assets and assessed the
inherent risk of material misstatement
by considering the degree of estimation
uncertainty and other inherent risk factors.

o Evaluated the outcome of prior period
assessment of impairment assessment of
film and TV programmes rights classified
as intangible assets and other intangible
assets to assess the effectiveness of
management's estimation process by
comparing the carrying amount in the
prior year against the respective actual
performance during the year, if any.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed
the Key Audit Matter

Impairment assessment of film and TV programmes rights classified as intangible assets

and other intangible assets (Continueq)

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had
film and TV programmes rights completed
of approximately HK$43,145,000, film and
TV programmes rights under production of
approximately HK$259,415,000, licensed film
and TV programmes rights of approximately
HK$90,559,000 and other intangible assets of
approximately HK$2,416,000, and they collectively
represented approximately 17.5% of the Group's
total assets.

Film and TV programmes rights completed that
are Subject to amortisation

In determining whether there is any impairment
indicator on respective film and TV programmes
rights completed that are subject to amortisation,
the Group considered factors such as current
market condition, political environment, latest
regulatory changes, and whether there is any
adverse change on the expected performance
and distribution plan. Based on management's
assessment, no impairment indicator has been
identified for these film and TV programmes
rights during the year.

*  Evaluated and tested the key controls over
the impairment assessment of film and TV
programmes rights classified as intangible
assets and other intangible assets
performed by management, including
the selection of sources of information,
determination of fair values less cost of
disposal and the relevant key assumptions
used.

Film and TV programmes rights completed that
are Subject to amortisation

0 Assessed the reasonableness of
the sources of information used by
management in identifying impairment
indicators, including management's
assessment on current market
condition, political environment and
latest regulatory changes.

. Examined the relevant correspondences
with joint investors and/or film
production house engaged by the
Group on sample basis to evaluate
the progress of the production of the
film and TV programmes rights and
the distribution plan for the completed
fitles.

. Discussed with management and
compared with available market
information to assess the expected
performance and distribution plan.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
3 3 % B R

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

How our audit addressed
Key Audit Matter the Key Audit Matter

Impairment assessment of film and TV programmes rights classified as intangible assets
and other intangible assets (Continueq)

Film and TV programmes rights completed  Film and TV programmes rights completed
and unader proguction that are not subject to - and unaer proauction that are not subject to
amortisation amortisation

In relation to film and TV programmes rights »  Compared the contractual commitments
completed and under production that are of respective film and TV programmes
not subject to amortisation, management rights on a sample basis with, and
performed annual impairment assessment by discussed with management in relation to,
determining the recoverable amount through fair the financing plan on the commitments
value less cost of disposal approach using the in order to complete the production and
discounted cash flow forecast ("DCF"). Based marketing plan.

0N management's assessment, the Group has

recognised net impaiment loss of approximately ©  Challenged and evaluated the key

HK$1,998,000 for these film and TV programmes assumptions used by management in
rights during the year. determining the fair value less cost of

disposal such as expected revenue,
estimated costs and discounted rates
on a sample basis with reference to
the contracts and publicly available
information, if any.

o Involved our internal valuation specialists
t0 assess the reasonableness of model and
assumptions used in the DCF, including
the discount rate.

o Considered the potential impact of
reasonably possible downside changes in
key assumptions adopted in determining
the fair value less cost of disposal.

o Performed specific inquiries with
management about the major crew
members and their background,
experience and profile, and performed
relevant search through external
sources on media coverage on the
related popularity of the crew members
to corroborate with management's
production plans.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed
the Key Audit Matter

Impairment assessment of film and TV programmes rights classified as intangible assets

and other intangible assets (Continueq)

Licensed film and TV programmes rights and  Licensed film and TV programmes rights and

other intangible assets

In determining whether there is any impairment
indicator on the licensed film and TV programmes
rights, management considered them together
with the other intangible assets (being license
and software development costs) related to
the Group’s online video platform. The Group's
licensed film and TV programmes rights
are available for subscription on its online
video platform which is considered as a cash
generating unit (the “Platform CGU"). Based
on management's assessment, the actual
performance was behind the original forecast,
representing an impairment indicator, triggering a
need to perform an impairment assessment.

In carrying out the impairment assessment, the
Group engaged an external valuer to support the
determination of the recoverable amount based
on the income approach using the DCF which
involves significant estimates and judgements
including discount rate and terminal growth rate
applied in the DCF of the Platform CGU. Based
0N management's assessment, no impairment
provision is required for the licensed film and TV
programmes rights and other intangible assets
associated with the Platform CGU as at year end.

other intangible assets

Evaluated the reasonableness of
management's assessment in determining
the existence of impairment indicator.

Evaluated management's impairment
assessment by assessing the DCF used in
calculation as set out below:

- Assessed the competency,
capabilities and objectivity of the
independent external valuer by
considering its qualifications, relevant
experience and relationship with the
Group.

- Assessed the methodology adopted
and checked the mathematical
accuracy of the underlying DCF
calculation.

- Assessed the reasonableness of
the key assumptions adopted by
management in its DCF, including the
discounted rate and terminal growth.

= Involved our internal valuation
specialists to assess the model and
assumptions used in the valuation,
including the discount rate and
terminal growth rate.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed
the Key Audit Matter

Impairment assessment of film and TV programmes rights classified as intangible assets

and other intangible assets (Continueq)

We focused on auditing the impairment
assessment of the film and TV programmes
rights classified as intangible assets and other
intangible assets because the carrying amounts
of the film and TV programmes rights classified
as intangible assets and other intangible asset
are significant to the consolidated financial
statements and the identification of impairment
indicator and impairment assessment of these
assets are subject to a high degree of estimation
uncertainty, as well as significant judgements
involved in the selection of assumptions used.

Valuation of film rights investments

Refer to Note 2.9, Note 3.3, Note 4(c), and Note
22 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2021, film rights investments
of the Group included financial assets of
approximately HK$247,770,000 and financial
liabilities of approximately HK$1,483,000,
represented approximately 11.0% of the Group's
total assets and 0.2% of the Group's total
liabilities. The changes in fair values recorded in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income and presented as
film investment income, net during the year was
approximately HK$75,586,000.

The fair values are determined by management
based on the income approach using the DCF
which involves key assumptions with significant
estimates and judgements including expected
revenue, estimated costs and discounted rates.

112

Based on the procedures performed, we found
the judgements and assumptions made by
management in relation to the impairment
assessment of film and TV programmes rights
classified as intangible assets and other
intangible assets to be supportable by the
available evidence.

QOur procedures in relation to the valuation of
film rights investments included:

» QObtained an understanding of the
management's internal controls and
assessment process of valuation of film
rights investments and assessed the
inherent risk of material misstatement
by considering the degree of estimation
uncertainty and other inherent risk factors.

*  Evaluated and tested the key controls over
the valuation of film rights investments
performed by management, including
the selection of sources of information,
determination of DCF and the relevant key
assumptions used.

*  Evaluated the outcome of prior period
valuation of film rights investments to
assess the effectiveness of management's
estimation process by comparing the fair
values determined in the prior year against
the respective actual performance during
the year, if any.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed
the Key Audit Matter

Valuation of film rights investments (Continued)

We focused on auditing the valuation of film
rights investments because the carrying amounts
of the film rights investments are significant to
the consolidated financial statements and the
valuation of these assets and liabilities is subject
t0 a high degree of estimation uncertainty, as
well as significant judgements involved in the
selection of assumptions used.

o Assessed the methodology adopted
and the reasonableness of the sources
of information used by management in
developing the DCF.

o Challenged and evaluated the key
assumptions used by management in
determining the DCF such as expected
revenue, estimated costs and discounted
rates on a sample basis with reference
to the contracts and publicly available
information, if any.

o Involved our internal valuation specialists
t0 assess the reasonableness of model and
assumptions used in the DCF, including
the discount rate.

o Considered the potential impact of
reasonably possible downside changes in
key assumptions adopted in determining
the fair value less cost of disposal.

Based on the procedures performed, we found
the judgements and assumptions made by
management in relation to the valuation of film
rights investments to be supportable by the
available evidence.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed
the Key Audit Matter

Impairment of prepayments for film and TV programmes rights

Refer to Note 4(d) and Note 21 to the consolidated
financial statements.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had
prepayments for film and TV programmes
rights of approximately HK$883,170,000 which
represented approximately 39.0% of the Group's
total assets. The prepayments were made
under the agreements with film directors and/
or film production companies in relation to the
acquisition of future film and TV programmes
rights.

The Group has performed an assessment on
whether impairment indicator exists for the
prepayments for film and TV programmes rights.
Management considered the status of film and
TV programmes rights investment plans and the
progress of utilisation of the prepayments. Based
0N management's assessment, no impairment
indicator was identified for the prepayments
for film and TV programmes rights as at 31
December 2021,
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In evaluation of management's assessment
on whether impairment indicators existed
for the Group's prepayments for film and TV
programmes rights, we have performed the
following procedures.

» (btained an understanding of the
management's internal controls
and assessment process of the
arrangements with film directors and/
or film production companies and
assessed the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the
degree of estimation uncertainty and
other inherent risk factors.

o Evaluated the outcome of prior
period assessment of impairment
of prepayments for film and TV
programmes rights to assess the
effectiveness of management's
estimation process by comparing
the carrying amount in the prior year
against the actual utilisation during the
year, if any.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed

the Key Audit Matter

Impairment of prepayments for film and TV programmes rights (Continueq)

We focused on auditing the impairment of
prepayments for film and TV programmes rights
because the carrying amounts of prepayments
for film and TV programmes rights are significant
to the consolidated financial statements and
the identification of impairment indicator and
impairment assessment of the prepayments
are subject to a high degree of estimation
uncertainty.

o Evaluated and tested the Group's key
controls over the assessment process of
the arrangements with film directors and/
or film production companies including the
selection of information and assumptions
used.

o Inguired with management on the status of
film and TV programmes rights investment
plans with film directors.

o Inspected the correspondences between
the film directors and management
related to the progress of utilisation of the
prepayments on a sample basis.

o Interviewed certain film directors for
confirming the understanding of the terms
of the agreements and compared the
plans of utilisation of prepayments against
management's investment plans.

o Circulated confirmations with
counterparties as to the balances of
prepayments as at 31 December 2021,

Based on the procedures performed, we
found the judgements made by management
in relation to the impairment assessment of
prepayments for film and TV programmes rights
to be supportable by the available evidence.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAS, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Ho Chun Yu.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 31 March 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
S o 16 M B At 42 v W 4R R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE T ——F+_-_A=+—HILtFE

2021 2020
—E-—-F —EoFF
Note HK$000 HK$'000
B aE BT T BT
Continuing operations BEREE
Revenue and film investment income, net Wz R EFZERA - F5E 5 158,353 633,176
Cost of revenue Wz 2 AR 9 (219,444) (651,501)
Gross loss Ei8 (61,091) (18,325)
Other income E A 7 2,314 23,092
Other gains, net Haplas - 58 8 2,517 21,405
Selling and distribution costs SHE R AR 9 (24,588) (113,468)
Administrative expenses TTBHE 9 (140,562) (138,521)
Net impairment losses on financial assets CRMEERGNEEZRE
and contract assets i hE 3.1(b) (998) (9,252)
Operating loss REEE (222,408) (235,069)
Finance income B U A 1 8,451 3,687
Finance costs Hi%E R 1 (6,063) (8,775)
Finance income/(costs), net ISR A(BR) 38 1 2,388 (5,088)
Loss before tax PMRELATE 18 (220,020) (240,157)
Income tax expense Frigfim X 12 (15,537) =
Loss from continuing operations REFELEEBREE (235,557) (240,157)
Discontinued operations ERIEKREER
Profit from discontinued operations KB BRI EEEH) T 35 - 3,766
Loss for the year TEEEFER (235,557) (236,391)
Loss for the year attributable to RAREB ANEEREE
owners of the Company 58 (235,557) (236,391)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

A 1E M Mt & W 5 R
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE T - —F+_-_A=+—HItFE

2021 2020
—E-—F —EToFF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5T BT T BT
Other comprehensive income Hit2mEz
Item that will not be reclassified to T EEF T EERm
profit or l0ss: EH -
Exchange differences arising on translation ~ #§IhiE Bk E A2 75| &k
of functional currency to presentation EACEHEZE
currency 7,150 13,807
Item that may be reclassified to profit A BB P E B2
or loss: EH -
Exchange differences on translation of BEGINERG BN Z5E
foreign operations 27,311 58,397
34,461 72,204
Total comprehensive loss for the year AFEZHEBBAE (201,096) (164,187)
Total comprehensive loss for the year RATIHEBAELEAFEEE
attributable to owners of the Company EiE 4% (201,096) (164,187)
Loss per share for loss from BAREEAERLRBERSE
continuing operations attributable to EBEBE2SRER
the owners of the Company
- Basic and diluted (in HKS) - EARREE(B%IT) 16 (0.07) (0.07)
Loss per share for loss for the year KAGEBEAEEREE
attributable to the owners of BiEz2ERER
the Company
- Basic and diluted (in HKS) - HEAREE (B T) 16 (0.07) (0.07)

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other — Fii4z & 1825 K H th 2 [ Uk 28 7% 8 B RE B B 5 —
comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the — Fi7E o
accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

% 5 W Bk D R

AT 31 DECEMBER 2021 A—ZE - —%+—-_A=+—H

2021 2020
. —F_FF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B aE BETT BT T
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment VI - B R 17 1,341 2,928
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE 18 22,069 19,816
Intangible assets mEEE 19 2,416 7,084
Deposits and prepayments B REMNR 23 101,414 36,801
Prepayments for film and TV programmes BN ERBIRETAR K
rights 21 488,756 417,423
Film and TV programmes rights B RERBINRE 22 307,296 235,980
923,292 720,032
Current assets RBEE
Prepayment for film and TV programmes B RERBINRETER R
rights 21 394,414 210,865
Film and TV programmes rights B NERBIMRE 22 333,593 329,288
Trade and other receivables, deposits and P UK B R R L i R W SR IE
prepayments B RIERMR 23 480,234 304,937
Contract assets BREE 6 11,385 38,349
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFGTABREZ
profit and loss TREE 24 3,409 =
Cash and cash equivalents RekREFE 25 115,369 142,140
1,338,404 1,025,579
Total assets EERE 2,261,696 1,745,611
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
fan o7 WA B OIK O

AT 31 DECEMBER 2021 R=ZE=—F+=-A=+—H
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-THF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
h=a BETT BRI
Equity s
Share capital &N 30 36,565 34,727
Less: Treasury shares B EERG 30 - (1,613)
Reserves i 31 1,618,704 1,413,319
Total equity A 1,655,269 1,446,433
Non-current liabilities ERBERE
Lease liabilities HERE 18 13,454 4,218
Deferred tax liabilities BEREIEEE 29 14,677 =
28,131 4,218
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and other payables JE 1<) BR 3R B HL At FE < SR IE 26 188,809 85,977
Film investment funds from investors REREENEZRE \/TJ\IE\ 27 197,332 107,565
Film and TV programmes rights ?'-E?? BRI RE 22 1,483 -
Contract liabilities HaE 6 31,469 419
Borrowings 1ﬁ§£ 28 100,281 50,036
Lease liabilities HERE 18 9,055 17,059
Amount due to a related party JEfS—RBBE AT FIA 36 15,137 =
Current tax liabilities BNEATIE B & 34,730 33,904
578,296 294,960
Total liabilities BEHAE 606,427 299,178
Total equity and liabilities ERRAEAE 2,261,696 1,745,611

The consolidated financial statements on pages 120 to 243 were
approved by the Board of Directors on 31 March 2022 and were signed

on its behalf:

Dong Ping

¥
Director
EFE

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read
in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Xiang Shaokun, Steven

THARE
Director
EFE

FI0HE243B AU BRERENR T _—_F=
A= + REEEEHE YA TIEERKRES

iR & B TS AR L 2% R L A B o — BF B AE -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

A s
Er o7 BE £ 58 B R
AT 31 DECEMBER 2021 R - ——F+_-HF=+—H
Attributable to owners of the Company
RATEE AEA
Share Treasury
capital shares Reserves Total
[N EFRG f*E ot
(Note 30) (Note 30) (Note 31)
(FtzE30) (KtzE30) (BFEE31)
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT BETIT BETIT
At 1 January 2020 RZEZEF—H—H 31,547 - 1,098,683 1,130,230
Loss for the year REFEE - - (236,391) (236,391)
Other comprehensive income H 2 mEEs - - 72,204 72,204
Total comprehensive loss NEEEHEEIBREE
for the year - - (164,187) (164,187)
Transactions with owners: BEER A E’Jx\ :
Issue of ordinary shares, net of FITERROBRZ ZRAR)
transaction costs 3,466 - 508,234 511,700
Share option scheme: IEAR AT & -
—value of services provided -BERHEREEE - - 7,205 7,205
Shares repurchased EACI &) (286) (1,613) (36,616) (38,515)
3,180 (1,613) 478,823 480,390
At 31 December 2020 RZZE_TEF+_A=+—H 34,727 (1,613) 1,413,319 1,446,433
At 1 January 2021 R=-—B-—-%—HF—H 34,727 (1,613) 1,413,319 1,446,433
Loss for the year REEBRE - - (235,557) (235,557)
Other comprehensive income B2 - - 34,461 34,461
Total comprehensive loss AEERHEBBEEASE
for the year - - (201,096) (201,096)
Transactions with owners: HEBANKS :
Issue of ordinary shares, net of BITERRARRZZHA)
transaction costs 2,181 - 465,098 467,279
Share option scheme: fER R
- value of services provided -ERERBZEE - - 2,612 2,612
Shares repurchased iAElibEp) (343) 1,613 (61,229) (59,959)
1,838 1,613 406,481 409,932
At 31 December 2021 R=-FB=-_—F+=-H=+—H 36,565 - 1,618,704 1,655,269
The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read 45 & 18 25 5 B 3% 8 B BE BT Bt 5 — GBI AE o

in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HOoBHEsRER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 @:I:fg:_fﬁ—i——ﬂ =+—HILEFE

2021 2020
—EB--F —TEF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5T BT T BT
cash flows from operating activities RETEMEEZEHERE
Cash used in operations REEBFIEAZIRE 32 (468,281) (528,250)
Income taxes paid BERPTEH (1,256) (44,326)
Net cash used in operating activities RETEMERZEESFE (469,537) (572,576)
cash flows from investing activities RETBFEEZHERE
Interest received EFE 255 1,654
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE - BE&EE
plant and equipment FriS k18 32 3 =
Acquisition of financial assets at fair value BEAVEFABRZ
through profit or loss TREE (8,242) -
Proceeds from sale of financial assets at HERAFESABRZ
fair value through profit and loss TREEMSREIA 7,841 =
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  BBE# ¥ - 5 K& E (147) (220)
Net cash outflow from disposal of a group HE—ENBARZ
of subsidiaries RETHFEE 35 - @)
Net cash (used in)/generated from RETBFGER), EEZ
investing activities RE&FHE (290) 1,393
Cash flows from financing activities METBREEZRERE
Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares BT BRAERIE 468,980 513,008
Share issue transaction costs IR BEITR KA (1,701) (1,308)
Shares repurchased AR E) (59,959) (38,515)
Advance from a related party RKE—RBEAT BN 15,137 =
Proceeds from borrowings EESGIESE ¢ 66,345 90,041
Repayments of borrowings BEER (18,094) (92,850)
Principal elements of lease payments HENRZ ALY (16,094) (15,300)
Interest paid EFE (14,041) (1,344)
Net cash generated from financing MEETHELE 2R S FE
activities 440,573 453,732
Net decrease in cash and ReRBEEEEZ
cash equivalents WA FEE (29,254) (117,451)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of FUzREeREeEE
the year 142,140 256,203
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash EXESHEUMENIREFEHZ
and cash equivalents ?/ & 2,483 3,388
cash and cash equivalents at end FHRZEERESEE
of the year 25 115,369 142,140

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in  Filt4R A IR & 7 & K & L2 8 M B 5F — (FBIRE -
conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE T ——F+_-_A=+—HILtFE

GENERAL

Huanxi Media Group Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability and
its shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The address of the
registered office of the Company is Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31
Victoria Street, Hamilton HM10, Bermuda and its principal place
of business in Hong Kong is 11th Floor, Far East Finance Centre,
16 Harcourt Road, Admiralty, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding and film investment
company and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in
media and entertainment related businesses which include
development and investment in film and TV programmes rights,
as well as operation of an online video platform. The activities of
its principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 13.

These consolidated financial statements of the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
are presented in Hong Kong dollars ("HK$") and all values are
rounded to the nearest thousand (“HK$'000"), unless otherwise
Stated.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

This note provides a list of the significant accounting policies
adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements. These policies have been consistently applied to all
the years presented, unless otherwise stated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE T - —F+_-_A=+—HItFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation

@)

(b)

(©

compliance with HKFRSS and HKCO

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance ("HKCQ") Cap. 622.

Historical cost convention

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a historical cost basis, except for certain
financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value.

New and amended standards adopted by
the Group

The Group has applied the following standards
and amendments for the first time for their annual
reporting period commencing 1 January 2021:

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
(Phase 2)

HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16
(Amendments)

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30 June
2021

HKFRS 16 (Amendments)

The amendments listed above did not have any
impact on the amounts recognised in prior periods
and are not expected to significantly affect the
current or future periods.

2 FESEEBEGE

2.1 RBEE

@ BFEBUBHEEER
&8 1 Atk pl

REMBHRRERETBMER
HSE(EFEMBEREER]) RE
B R BRI ([EB R BEM) (58
622%) 2 WERHTEMEL -

(b) ELEEERZL

REMBHRROREELRAR
ERE - EEATEFEZET
TREERBERIN

€) FEBERA AT RAEMETER

AEEg_T-_—F—HA—HE
WFEEREHEERER T
A RAEFT

BEmBRE LA
9% BEGER
F25% - BEUBHRSE
ERETH  BEYMH
BERRBIFREE
SRS EAE 165

il =8
(F-ER)

CHEN)
BEMBREENE 1% —T-—FKA
CHEN) =tB%M
0198 RBEE R
REEESRR

EXFIREMERT A S 1B 1 BT A
RO THESELMTE - BEB
TEHRARBRARKYMELEX

B/ 48R
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE T ——F+_-_A=+—HILtFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

128

POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(d)  New standards and interpretations not yet
adopted

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations
have been published that are not mandatory for the
year ended 31 December 2021 and have not been
early adopted by the Group. These standards are
not expected to have a material impact on the entity
in the current or future reporting periods and on
foreseeable future transactions.

2 FEETHEBEGE)

2.1 WREE(E)

()

[ AR ERA 2 R AT BRI R 22 FE

BETHFI S ERRREDEM
BREZE-_ZE-_—4+=-A=+
—BHIEFEIRBH AR - BA
SEVEIETEMR - B SE
AT EH EBRRRRKR2RE
B URABRARARZZRZESE
BEATE-

Effective for
accounting
periods beginning
on or after

AU HE

Rz EEBRZ
BITHBEXR

Annual Improvement Project

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs

1 January 2022

(Amendments) 2018-2020
FEMCGEIRRB (BFTA) HEBUBERSEN T N\FE —E-_—_%—AF—H
—ECEFFENE

HKAS 16 (Amendments)

Property, Plant and Equipment:

1 January 2022

Proceeds before Intended Use

FE G ERF 165 (IEFTA)

HKAS 37 (Amendments)

ME - B KRS
YEBETE F & BT B PRAS FR0R
Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling

a Contract

BEAGFTERFEI7TRUEETA)
HKFRS 3 (Amendments)

EEEH - BITE AR
Business Combinations — Update

—ET-_%—A—H
1 January 2022

—E-—4#—H—H
1 January 2022

Reference to Conceptual Framework

BB S LR EIRUEFTA)
Annual Improvements Projects

KA - EFSI B SESR
Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9,

HKFRS 16 and HKAS 41

FEBEIRR

—E-_F—H—H
1 January 2022

FEMBHREEAFR BEMHHRE —T-_—_F—HA—H

ERIFIS - FBM B HME LR F 1657
BB ERNEIR(EFTA)

Accounting Guideline 5 (Revised)

Merger Accounting for Common Control

Combinations

TSI FESR (EIERD)
HKAS 1 (Amendments)

HEEHE A LT EE
Classification of Liabilities as Current

or Non-current

ARG EFIRUETA)

HUANXI MEDIA GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2021

BESBARBIIERD

1 January 2022

T F—H—H
1 January 2023
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 Eti_g:—iJr_ﬂ =+—H Jtir

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 TE€HHEHE (&)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 2.1 RBEEE(E)
(d) New standards and interpretations not yet () [HRRAZFATERRZEE)
adopted (Continued)
Effective for
accounting
periods beginning
on or after
R B
WRZEEKRZ
BT HBEX
HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 17 (Amendments) Insurance Contracts 1 January 2023
ERVBWMELNB17TRREBHBERE REEH —E-=#—A—H
AERIE175R (BETA)
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) Presentation of Financial Statement — 1 January 2023
Classification by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that Contains a Repayment
on Demand Clause
BEREFSR(ZEEF) WEHMENES - BRAEEBERER T =F—H—H
EEKRNTEHERN DT
HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies 1 January 2023
(Amendments)
BB EREVRREBYBHRELN SEHBEOEE —E-=%—H—H
fﬁ%#&%ﬁﬁzf({/ HEN)
HKAS 8 (Amendments) Definition of Accounting Estimates 1 January 2023
BT ERIFESIR(IEFTA) BT R —EZ=%—A—H
HKAS 12 (Amendments) Deferred Tax related to Assets and 1 January 2023
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction
BB ERIFE125% IEFTA) HE-RHEANEERBERRBLY —E-=F—H—H
RIETRIE
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (Amendments) Sale or Contribution of Assets between To be determined
an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture
BEPBHRELNE10RREESFER REZRABEQARSIEEDE 2HH 5E
E285% (IBFT4) BENEHHE
The Group is in the process of assessing potential REBREF G RER Lais
impact of the above new standards and amendments RNEBBMZ AT EREET 2
that are relevant to the Group upon initial application. BEZE BRI MEEZHBEZS
It is not yet in a position to state whether these BE ZREREBITAZREGHR
standards, interpretations, and amendments will S B A& E E RN B AR ERK
have a significant impact on the Group'’s results of BAXE -

operations and financial position.

BEMREEERAT - —S-—FF8% 129
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE T ——F+_-_A=+—HILtFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

130

2.2 Principles of consolidation

(i

(i)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured
entities) over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or
has rights to, variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power to direct the activities of
the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from
the date on which control is transferred to the Group.
They are deconsolidated from the date that control
ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for business combinations by the Group
(refer to Note 2.3).

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Joint arrangements

Under HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements investments
in joint arrangements are classified as either joint
operations or joint ventures. The classification
depends on the contractual rights and obligations of
each investor, rather than the legal structure of the
joint arrangement. The Group has joint operations.

Joint operations

The Group recognises its direct right to the assets,
liabilities, revenues and expenses of joint operations
and its share of any jointly held or incurred assets,
liabilities, revenues and expenses. These have been
incorporated in the consolidated financial statements
under the appropriate headings.

2 FEETHEHMEGE)

2.2 H=EREA
() HEAF

B 88 A 5 AN 5% [ R A 4R IR EY
FEER(BRERILEER) - &
AEBENS BT XM ATEER
BGEAZO®R AL EA A #
Ol 2N SLHENEBEY
EREH TERFERTOR
B AIASEZEGZER - 18
RAREHEEZEANEEE B
EEESA AR - W& LS
BEARERLISEAR-

AEERAUBESESERKA
PEARR (2 BPIRE2.3) -

SEARBIMRS BHAEH
NRARIERZRER KBTS Y
e RERBEITSHE - EX

AR - M B AR EE K
REERAFTERHELRHE - UE
REAAE B P ER R BR — 2K

(i) HBEZH
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE T - —F+_-_A=+—HItFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Principles of consolidation (Continued)

(i)

Changes in ownership interests

When the Group ceases to consolidate for an
investment because of a loss of control, any retained
interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value
with the change in carrying amount recognised in
profit or loss. In addition, any amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in
respect of that entity are accounted for as if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another
category of equity as specified/permitted by
applicable HKFRSS.

2.3 Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account
for all business combinations, regardless of whether
equity instruments or other assets are acquired. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary
comprises the:

fair values of the assets transferred;

liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquired business;

equity interests issued by the Group;

fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement; and

fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the
subsidiary.

2 FESHEERBMERE)

2.2 ZERAUGE)

(i) HEEEZZE
EAKBERERKZEGEME LS
AEAR—HKRER  REENE
MRBESEATFEEHTE
REEZHNIBSERER o LI
ERREMEZANERZER
ROEMSERBUOAEEDE
BEHEMEBEEXEENTAA
R BRAREERZLEMNEME
EREERANEREFTIEER
AREBREERELMBEREE
AIFFERR, AR e 55 — s R B
A o
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Business combinations (Continued)

132

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination are,
with limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair
values at the acquisition date. The Group recognises
any noncontrolling interest in the acquired entity on an
acquisition by-acquisition basis either at fair value or at
the noncontrolling interest’s proportionate share of the
acquired entity’s net identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
The excess of the:
o consideration transferred:;

o amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquired entity; and

o acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity
interest in the acquired entity,

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired
is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are less than
the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the business
acquired, the difference is recognised directly in profit or
loss as a bargain purchase.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is
deferred, the amounts payable in the future are discounted
to their present value as at the date of exchange. The
discount rate used is the entity’s incremental borrowing
rate, being the rate at which a similar borrowing could be
obtained from an independent financier under comparable
terms and conditions. Contingent consideration is classified
either as equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified
as a financial liability are subsequently remeasured to fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.4

2.5

2.6

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income
of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or
if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net
assets including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in @ manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision maker (the “CODM").

The executive directors of the Company, as being the
CODM, assess the financial performance and position of
the Group, and makes strategic decisions.

Foreign currency translation
(i) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each
of the Group's entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’).
The functional currency of the Company is Renminbi
("RMB") while the consolidated financial statements
of the Company are presented in HK$, which
management considers that it is more convenient to
the shareholders as the Company is a listed company
in Hong Kong.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

134

(i)

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates at the
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains
and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies at year end exchange rates are generally
recognised in profit or loss. They are deferred in
equity if they relate to qualifying cash flow hedges
and qualifying net investment hedges or are
attributable to part of the net investment in a foreign
operation.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate
to borrowings are presented in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, within finance costs. All other foreign
exchange gains and losses are presented in the profit
or loss on a net basis within other gains, net.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
determined. Translation differences on assets and
liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of
the fair value gain or loss. For example, translation
differences on non-monetary assets and liabilities
such as equities held at fair value through profit or
loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of the
fair value gain or loss and translation differences on
non-monetary assets such as equities classified as
fair value through other comprehensive income are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

HUANXI MEDIA GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2021
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2 FEETHEHSEGE)

2.6 Foreign currency translation (Continued) 2.6 INEBRE (E)

(iii))  Group companies (i) FEBEETLE

The results and financial position of foreign
operations (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

o assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement of
financial position;

. income and expenses for each statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income
are translated at average exchange rates
(unless this is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing
on the transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions), and

o all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of any net investment in
foreign entities, and of borrowings and other
financial instruments designated as hedges of such
investments, are recognised in other comprehensive
income. When a foreign operation is sold or any
borrowings forming part of the net investment are
repaid, the associated exchange differences are
reclassified to profit or loss, as part of the gain or
loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and
translated at the closing rate.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(iv)  Disposal of foreign operation

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control over
a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation), all of
the currency translation differences accumulated in
equity in respect of that operation attributable to the
owners of the company are reclassified to profit or
loss.

2.7 Property, plant and equipment

136

All property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.
Cost may also include transfers from equity of any gains or
losses on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency
purchases of property, plant and equipment.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of any component accounted for as a separate
asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs
and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the
reporting period in which they are incurred.

HUANXI MEDIA GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2021
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.7

2.8

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method
to allocate their cost or revalued amounts, net of their
residual values, over their estimated useful lives or, in the
case of leasehold improvements and certain leased plant
and equipment, the shorter lease term as follows:

33% or over
the lease term,

o Leasehold improvements

whichever

is shorter

o Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20% t0 33%
o Motor vehicles 20%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.10).

Gains or losses on disposals are determined by comparing
proceeds with carrying amount. These are included in
profit or loss.

Intangible assets
Software and license

Separately acquired software are shown at historical
cost. Licenses acquired in a business combination are
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. They have
a finite useful life and are subsequently carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.

Amortisation methods and periods

The Group amortises software and license with a useful life
using the straight-line method over five years.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.9 Film and TV programmes rights

138

Film and TV programmes rights under production

Film and TV programmes rights under production are
carried at cost, less accumulated impairment loss, if
any. Cost includes all direct costs associated with the
production of film and TV programmes rights.

Film and TV programmes rights under production are
transferred to “Film and TV programmes rights completed”
upon completion of production.

Film and TV programmes rights completed

Film and TV programmes rights completed are carried at
cost, less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any. The cost of film and TV
programmes rights is apportioned between the exhibition
and licensing, if applicable. In case that apportionment
is applied, the cost related to exhibition is expensed on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of estimated useful
lives or the first public exhibition period. The cost related
to licensing is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the shorter of estimated useful lives or the underlying
license periods. The apportionment, estimated useful
lives and amortisation are subject to management’s
review at the end of each reporting period, with the effect
of any changes in estimation being accounted for on a
prospective basis.

Film rights investments

Film rights investments are the Group’s investments in
film production project which entitles the Group to share
certain percentage of income to be generated from the
related film based on the Group’s investment portion as
specified in respective film rights investments agreements
but the Group has no control nor joint control over the
investments. Film rights investments are carried at fair
value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE T - —F+_-_A=+—HItFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.9 Film and TV programmes rights (Continued)

Licensed film and TV programmes rights

Licensed film and TV programmes rights represent the
Group’s investment in film and TV programmes rights
licenses. The Group acquired the licensed rights from
outsiders for broadcasting of films or TV programmes
series on its online video platform or sub-licensing the
license rights to other parties, if applicable. Licensed
film and TV programmes rights are carried at cost, less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Licensed film and TV programmes rights are amortised on
a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives up
to two years. The estimated useful life and amortisation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimation being
accounted for on a prospective basis.

Derecognition

Film and TV programmes rights are derecognised on
disposal, or when no future economic benefits are
expected from use or disposal. Gains and losses arising
from derecognition of film and TV programmes rights are
recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE T ——F+_-_A=+—HILtFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.10 Impairment of non-financial assets

2.1

140

Assets that have an indefinite useful life and/or not
available for use are not subject to amortisation and are
tested annually for impairment, or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that they
might be impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent
of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets
(cash-generating units). Non-financial assets that suffered
an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at the end of each reporting period.

Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the entity
that has been disposed of or is classified as held for sale
and that represents a separate major line of business
or geographical area of operations, is part of a single
coordinated plan to dispose of such a line of business or
area of operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively
with a view to resale. The results of discontinued
operations are presented separately in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # =

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.12 Investments and other financial assets

(i

(i)

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently at fair
value (either through other comprehensive
income (“OCI") or through profit or loss); and

. those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will be recorded in profit or loss.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on trade-date, the date on which
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the financial assets have
expired or have been transferred and the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

142

POLICIES (Continued)

2.12 Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

(i)  Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"),
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs
of financial assets carried at FVTPL are expensed in
profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of
principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group's business model for
managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics
of the asset. There are three measurement
categories into which the Group classifies its debt
instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in finance
income using the effective interest rate method. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised
directly in profit or loss and presented in other gains,
net together with foreign exchange gains and losses.
Impairment losses are presented as separate line
item in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2 FESHEERBMERE)

2.12 Investments and other financial assets 212 REFEMERMEE (2)

(Continued)
(i)  Measurement (Continued) (i) FrEGE
Debt instruments (Continued) EBETAGE)

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest, are measured
at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount are
taken through OCI, except for the recognition of
impairment gains or losses, interest income and
foreign exchange gains and losses which are
recognised in profit or loss. When the financial
asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from
equity to profit or loss and recognised in other gains/
(losses). Interest income from these financial assets
is included in finance income using the effective
interest rate method. Foreign exchange gains and
losses are presented in other gains/(losses) and
impairment expenses are presented as separate line
item in the statement of profit or loss.

FVTPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVTPL.
A gain or loss on a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at FVTPL is recognised in
profit or l0ss in the period in which it arises.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

144

2.12 Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

(i)

(iv)

Measurement (Continued)
Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value gains
and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is no
subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and
losses to profit or loss following the derecognition
of the investment. Dividends from such investments
continue to be recognised in profit or loss as other
income when the Group’s right to receive payments
is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial asset at FVTPL
are recognised in other gains, net in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as applicable. Impairment losses (and
reversal of impairment losses) on equity investments
measured at FVOCI are not reported separately from
other changes in fair value.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its
debt instruments carried at amortised cost. The
impairment methodology applied depends on
whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk.

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group
applies the simplified approach permitted by HKFRS
9, which requires expected lifetime losses to be
recognised since initial recognition.

For other financial assets, it is measured as either
12-month expected credit losses or lifetime expected
credit loss, depending on whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. If a significant increase in credit risk of a
receivable has occurred since initial recognition, then
impairment is measured as lifetime expected credit
losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # =

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.13 Financial liabilities

(M

(i)

(i)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities of the Group are classified, at
initial recognition, at amortised cost.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at
fair value and, in the case of financial liabilities
at amortised cost, net of directly attributable
transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement

After initial recognition, financial liabilities are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest rate method unless the effect
of discounting would be immaterial, in which
case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are
recognised in the profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.

Derecognition
A financial liability is derecognised when the

obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled or expires.

2.14 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position where the Group currently has a legally
enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts, and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE T ——F+_-_A=+—HILtFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.15 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
services performed in the ordinary course of business.
They are generally due for settlement within one year and
therefore are all classified as current.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional unless they
contain significant financing components, when they
are recognised at fair value. The Group holds the trade
and other receivables with the objective to collect the
contractual cash flows and therefore measures them
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. See Note 23 for further information about the
Group’s accounting for trade receivables and Note 3.1(b)
for a description of the Group’s impairment policies.

2.16 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents
includes cash on hand and deposits held at call with
financial institutions.

2.17 Share capital

146

Ordinary shares are classified as equity (Note 30).

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net
of tax, from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the Company’s
equity instruments, for example as the result of a share
buy-back, the consideration paid, including any directly
attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes) is
deducted from equity attributable to the owners of the
Company as treasury shares until the shares are cancelled
or reissued. Where such ordinary shares are subsequently
reissued, any consideration received, net of any directly
attributable incremental transaction costs and the related
income tax effects, is included in equity attributable to the
owners of the Company.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 TE€:HHEHE (&)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.18 Trade and other payables 218 BN R R HtL BN

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services
provided to the Group prior to the end of financial year
which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are
usually paid within the credit term. Trade and other
payables are presented as current liabilities unless
payment is not due within 12 months after the reporting
period. They are recognised initially at their fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

2.19 Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period of
the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated statement
of financial position when the obligation specified in the
contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference
between the carrying amount of a financial liability that
has been extinguished or transferred to another party
and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets
transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or
loss as finance costs.

Where the terms of a financial liability are renegotiated
and the entity issues equity instruments to a creditor to
extinguish all or part of the liability (debt for equity swap),
a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss, which is
measured as the difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability and the fair value of the equity
instruments issued.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE T ——F+_-_A=+—HILtFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.20 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production
of a qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of
time that is required to complete and prepare the asset for
its intended use or sale. Qualifying assets are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred.

2.21 Current and deferred income tax

148

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax
payable on the current period’s taxable income based
on the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction
adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities
attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax
losses.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of
the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
the reporting period in the countries where the company
and its subsidiaries and associates operate and generate
taxable income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in
which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation.
It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of
amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE T - —F+_-_A=+—HItFE
2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IESHBEHEZE)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.21 Current and deferred income tax 2.21 BB RIRFEFR BB (88)

(Continued)
Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in
the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the
initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also
not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an
asset or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that
have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end
of the reporting period and are expected to apply when
the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise
those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for
temporary differences between the carrying amount and
tax bases of investments in foreign operations where
the company is able to control the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate
to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and
tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally
enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE T ——F+_-_A=+—HILtFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.22 Employee benefits

150

(i

(ii)

(i)

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including
nonmonetary benefits that are expected to be settled
wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in
which the employees render the related service are
recognised in respect of employees’ services up to
the end of the reporting period and are measured at
the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities
are settled. The liabilities are presented as current
employee benefit obligations in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the "MPF Scheme”) are recognised as an expense
when employees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions.

In addition, pursuant to the government regulations
in the People’'s Republic of China (the “PRC"), the
fulltime employees in the PRC are covered by various
government-sponsored pension plans under which
the employees are entitled to a monthly pension
based on certain formulas. Contributions to these
plans are expensed as incurred.

Profit-sharing and bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense
for bonuses and profit-sharing where contractually
obliged or where there is a past practice that has
created a constructive obligation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE T - —F+_-_A=+—HItFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.22 Employee benefits (Continued)

(iv)

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment
is terminated by the Group before the normal
retirement date, or when an employee accepts
voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits.
The Group recognises termination benefits at the
earlier of the following dates: (a) when the Group can
no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits; and (b)
when the entity recognises costs for a restructuring
that is within the scope of HKAS 37 and involves the
payment of terminations benefits. In the case of an
offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy, the
termination benefits are measured based on the
number of employees expected to accept the offer.
Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the
end of the reporting period are discounted to present
value.

2.23 Share-based payments

(i)

Employee options

Share-based compensation benefits are provided to
employees via the Group’s employee option scheme,
the executive short-term incentive scheme and share
appreciation. Information relating to these schemes
is set out in Note 34.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE T ——F+_-_A=+—HILtFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
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2.23 Share-based payments (Continued)

(1)

Employee options (Continued)

The fair value of options granted under the employee
option scheme is recognised as an employee benefits
expense with a corresponding increase in equity.
The total amount to be expensed is determined by
reference to the fair value of the options granted:

. including any market performance conditions
(e.g. the entity’s share price);

. excluding the impact of any service and
nonmarket performance vesting conditions
(e.g. profitability, sales growth targets and
remaining an employee of the entity over a
specified time period); and

° including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (e.g. the requirement for employees
to save or holdings shares for a specific period
of time).

The total expense is recognised over the vesting
period, which is the period over which all of the
specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the
end of each period, the entity revises its estimates
of the number of options that are expected to
vest based on the non-market vesting and service
conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision
to original estimates, if any, in profit or loss, with a
corresponding adjustment to equity.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE T - —F+_-_A=+—HItFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 TE€:HHEHE (&)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.23 Share-based payments (Continued) 223 R BERZARE)
(i)  Share-based payment for cooperation with a film (i) HEH—EEHFEELEZURGH

director HEZ 15

Equity-settled share-based payment for cooperation H—FEHE R AR
with a film director is measured at the fair value of B ARG BER 2 M FIRE R
the goods or services received or the fair value of BERKRSE 2 A FEFE @ %
the equity instrument granted if the fair value of WA S AT ERIRB 2
goods or services cannot be estimated reliably. The AFE - AEAETHEZ TR
share-based payment is recognised as expenses in HAFEE RIFERIRB
accordance with “HKFRS 2 — Share-based payment” HEERERREE  BAIMUKR
unless the goods or services qualify for recognition MARER N RBEEBM B R
as assets. HERANE2R ARG RER 2

RIERBFX -

2.24 Provisions 2.24 BfE
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present EAEBRBESHAEREREEER
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, HEEMT  MBTEAHRAIKEEES
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required Bont - BEBEESEENT SHER
to settle the obligation and the amount can be reliably AEESHEREE BEFSRBAEIE
estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future & IBE MR R -

operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the WMERZBEUEE  EEREERM
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement HUBTEENEEREEETERE
is determined by considering the class of obligations as a Ex o BMEsRBEEPER—IELE
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an BERABZATREMRKR  DNEER
outflow with respect to any one item included in the same & o

class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of BEREEEHAREOARETHRER
management’s best estimate of the expenditure required EAENST ENSEMBTHRBERE -
to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting AREERENTREARBIERTS
period. The discount rate used to determine the present HEEFHERBEFTREREAOTHE
value is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market FRATF) R o [ RF R 7 4 i 388 hn &Y 88 1 7
assessments of the time value of money and the risks REMNEFRXE -

specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to
the passage of time is recognised as interest expense.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE T ——F+_-_A=+—HILtFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.25 Revenue recognition

154

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable for the sales of services in the
ordinary course of the Group’s activities.

Revenue is recognised when or as the control of the
services is transferred to the customer. Depending on
the terms of the contract and the laws that apply to the
contract, control of the services may be transferred over
time or at a point in time.

Control of the goods or services is transferred over time if
the Group's performance:

o provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

. creates or enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

o does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the services transfers over time, revenue is
recognised over the period of the contract by reference
to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that
performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised
at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the
services. Specific criteria where revenue is recognised are
described below.

When either party to a contract has performed, the Group
presents the contract in the consolidated statement of
financial position as a contract asset or a contract liability,
depending on the relationship between the entity’s
performance and the customer’s payment.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE T - —F+_-_A=+—HItFE
2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IESHBEHEZE)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.25 Revenue recoghition (Continued) 2.25 W (E)

If a customer pays consideration or the Group has a right
to an amount of consideration that is unconditional, before
the Group transfers a service to the customer, the Group
presents the contract as a contract liability when the
payment is made or a receivable is recorded (whichever
is earlier). A contract liability is the Group’s obligation to
transfer services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to
consideration for the services that the Group has
transferred to the customers but is not yet unconditional.
A receivable is recorded when the Group has an
unconditional right to consideration. A right to
consideration is unconditional if only the passage of time is
requited before payment of that consideration is due.

Revenue is recognised when specific criteria have been
met for the Group’s activity as described below:

Content production

The Group invests in and produces entertainment content
such as film and TV programmes series.

Revenue derived from box office income and sub-licensing
of film and TV programmes rights is recognised at a point
in time when the control of the entertainment content is
transferred to the customers so that the customers can
direct the use and obtain associated benefit.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE T ——F+_-_A=+—HILtFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.25 Revenue recognition (Continued)

Subscription services of online video platform

The Group offers subscription services to members or
customers with exclusive access to the contents of the
Group’s online video platform.

The Group is the principal in its co-operations with
partners, including consumer electronics manufacturers
(TVs and cell phones), mobile operators, internet service
providers and online payment agencies, that provide
access to the subscription services or payment processing
services as the Group retains control over its service
delivered to the customers.

The subscription fee receipts are generally for services to
be delivered over time, the receipts are initially recorded
as contract liabilities and revenue is recognised rateably
over the subscription period as services are rendered and
presented. Customers who prepay the subscription fee
but do not activate the service before activation period
expires are referred to as breakage. The Group recognised
an expected breakage amount as revenue in proportion to
the historical pattern of rights exercised by the customers.
Upon expiry of the service period, the unutilised portion of
the prepaid packages are fully recognised in profit or loss.
Payments made to the partners, are recorded as expenses.

2.26 Film investment income

156

Any gain or loss on the film rights investments that are
subsequently measured at FVTPL is recognised on a net
basis in the period in which it arises.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE T - —F+_-_A=+—HItFE
2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IESHBEHEZE)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.27 Dividend income 2.27 BREW A

Dividends are received from financial assets measured
at FVTPL and at FVOCI. Dividends are recognised as
other income in profit or loss when the right to receive
payment is established. This applies even if they are paid
out of preacquisition profits, unless the dividend clearly
represents a recovery of part of the cost of an investment.
In this case, the dividend is recognised in OCI if it relates
to an investment measured at FVOCI. However, the
investment may need to be tested for impairment as a
consequence.

2.28 Interest income

Interest income from financial asset at FVTPL is included in
the net fair value gains/(losses) on these assets.

Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost and
financial assets at FVOCI calculated using the effective
interest method is recognised in profit or loss as part of
other income.

Interest income is presented as finance income where
it is earned from financial assets that are held for cash
management purposes, see Note 11. Any other interest
income is included in other income.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset except for financial assets that subsequently become
credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial assets
the effective interest rate is applied to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset (after deduction of the loss
allowance).
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.29 Earnings per share

158

(1)

(ii)

Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

the profit attributable to equity owners of the
Company, excluding any costs of servicing
equity other than ordinary shares; and

by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the financial year,
adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares
issued during the year and excluding treasury
shares.

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in
the determination of basic earnings per share to take
into account:

the after income tax effect of interest and
other financing costs associated with dilutive
potential ordinary shares; and

the weighted average number of additional
ordinary shares that would have been
outstanding assuming the conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 TE€:HHEHE (&)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.30 Leases 2.30 HE

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased
asset is available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease
components. The Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to the lease and non-lease components based
on their relative stand-alone prices. However, for leases of
real estate for which the Group is a lessee, it has elected
not to separate lease and non-lease components and
instead accounts for these as a single lease component.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The
lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than
the security interests in the leased assets that are held by
the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include
the net present value of the following lease payments:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable; and

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement of
the liability.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.30 Leases (Continued)

160

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the
Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used,
being the rate that the individual lessee would have to
pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of
similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment with similar terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

o where possible, uses recent third-party financing
received by the individual lessee as a starting point,
adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions
since third party financing was received;

o uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free
interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held
by the Group, which does not have recent third-party
financing; and

o makes adjustments specific to the lease, such as
term, country, currency and security.

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is available to
the individual lessee (through recent financing or market
data) which has a similar payment profile to the lease,
then the group entities use that rate as a starting point to
determine the incremental borrowing rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE T - —F+_-_A=+—HItFE
2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IESHBEHEZE)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.30 Leases (Continued) 2.30 #HE (&)

Lease payments are allocated between principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss
over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for
each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

o the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received; and

o any initial direct costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on
a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset
is depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.
While the Group revalues its land and buildings that are
presented within property, plant and equipment, it has
chosen not to do so for the right-of-use buildings held by
the Group.

Payments associated with short-term leases of equipment
and vehicles and all leases of low-value assets are
recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit
or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of
12 months or less.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE T ——F+_-_A=+—HILtFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

162

2.30 Leases (Continued)

2.31

The Group has adopted Amendment to HKFRS 16 —
Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions retrospectively from
1 January 2020. The amendment provides an optional
practical expedient allowing lessees to elect not to assess
whether a rent concession related to COVID19 is a lease
modification. Lessees adopting this election may account
for qualifying rent concessions in the same way as they
would if they were not lease modifications. The practical
expedient only applies to rent concessions occurring as a
direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic and only
if all of the following conditions are met: a. the change in
lease payments results in revised consideration for the
lease that is substantially the same as, or less than, the
consideration for the lease immediately preceding the
change; b. any reduction in lease payments affects only
payments due on or before 30 June 2021; and c. there is
no substantive change to other terms and conditions of
the lease.

The Group has early adopted Amendment to HKFRS 16 —
Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021,
which extended the practical expedient to lease payments
that were due on or before 30 June 2022.

The Group has applied the practical expedient to all
qualifying COVID-19-related rent concessions.

Dividend distribution

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend
declared, being appropriately authorised and no longer
at the discretion of the entity, on or before the end of
the reporting period but not distributed at the end of the
reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HiZE —ZE - —&+_-A=+— ElJtiJ*
2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IESHBEHEZE)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.32 Government grants 2.32 BUR#ED

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and the Group will comply with all
attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in the profit or loss over the period necessary
to match them with the costs that they are intended to
compensate.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 Financial risk factors

This note explains the Group’s exposure to financial
risks and how these risks could affect the Group’s
future financial performance. Current year profit or l0ss
information has been included where relevant to add
further context.

The Group’s management monitors and manages the
financial risks relating to the operations of the Group
through internal risk reports which analyse exposures by
degree and magnitude of risks. These risks include market
risk (including foreign currency risk, price risk and interest
rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

There has been no change to the types of the Group's
exposure in respect of financial instruments or the manner
in which it manages and measures the risks.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 HBEEBREEE
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BM¥EKREEE
(@) Market risk (@ mEEE
(i) Foreign exchange risk 0 SMNEESR
The Group operates in Hong Kong and the PRC REBEBTERFPRLEEE
with most of the transactions denominated % AR X HHAEH
and settled in RMB, the functional currency of SEERBINEEEARE
relevant group entities. ATEMEE -
The Group is mainly exposed to the fluctuation AEBETEAZEE KRG 2
of HK$ arising from foreign currency trade and Rk - E2R B LAINEEHER
other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, P U5 B R R L E s IR
trade and other payables and borrowings. ReMBSEE - BHER
MEAMEARIERER
The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign A& B R R 5 B R PA SN &
currency denominated monetary assets and BrEBEERERAEY
monetary liabilities at the end of reporting BREELT -
period are as follows:
Liabilities Assets
8E& BE
2021 2020 2021 2020
—EB - —EZE-FF ZB--F —IZT-FTHF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT BET T BT
HK$ it (5,597) (4,782) 181,224 158,885
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 #
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 B¥EBREEZE
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BM¥EKREEE
(@) Market risk (Continued) (@) mEEkREGE)
()  Foreign exchange risk (Continued) () SMNEEE)
Sensitivity analysis BRE DN
The following table details the Group's TREINAEBEFRAREH
sensitivity to a 5% (2020: Same) increase and BHER AR TRES%(Z=
decrease RMB against HK$. The sensitivity ToFF R CBRE o
rate of 5% is used when reporting foreign MEZERABRINEE
currency risk internally to key management TENEBHRE R R A 2 SR E
personnel and represents the management's b= A% - REREEEFI
assessment of the reasonably possible change EEXRAEEHEZAEEE)
in foreign exchange rates. The changes in loss MmiEH 271l o RFEEE
for the year represented HK$ strengthen 5% pd Eﬂfki‘%%%ﬂ/\ﬁ%[
(2020: Same) against RMB. For a 5% (2020: 5%) KA ZZE=ZFF : 1
weakening of the above foreign currencies @) o ThiLﬁ\\ﬁ%R/\E%ﬁé
against RMB, there would be an equal and TES%( T FF : 5%) » A
opposite impact on the loss for the year. EUAFEEEBRKASE
EZHERBR -
2021 2020
:§:_¢ — 7 — E'E
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T
Changes in loss for the year AFEEFIEZEH
HK$ B 6,586 5,779
BEGEEERRAT - ——FF8 165
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

@)

Market risk (Continued)

(if)

(i)

Price risk

The Group's exposure to equity securities price
risk arises from investments held by the Group
and classified in the consolidated statement of
financial position as financial assets at FVTPL
(Note 24).

To manage its price risk arising from
investments in equity securities, the Group
diversifies its portfolio. Diversification of the
portfolio is done in accordance with the limits
set by the Group.

Sensitivity analysis

As at 31 December 2021, if price of the Group's
investments in equity instruments that are
traded in active markets had been increased/
decreased by 200 basis point and all other
variables were held constant, the loss for the
year of the Group would have been decreased/
increased by approximately HK$68,000,
resulting from the net fair value changes of the
financial assets.

Interest rate risk

The Group's cash flow interest rate risk arises
from cash at banks.

The Group is also exposed to fair value
interest rate risk in relation to fixed-rate
other receivables, film investment funds
from investors and borrowings. Management
considers that the fair value risk in relation to
the fixed-rate other receivables, film investment
funds from investors and borrowings is
insignificant as the other receivables,
film investment funds from investors and
borrowings has a short maturity period.

HUANXI MEDIA GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2021
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE T - —F+_-_A=+—HItFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

@)

Market risk (Continued)

(iif)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

The Group currently does not have any interest
rate hedging policy in relation to fair value
and cash flow interest rate risks. Management
monitors the Group’s exposure on an ongoing
basis and will consider hedging the interest
rate risk should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

Regarding the cash flow interest rate risk,
the sensitivity analysis below have been
determined based on the exposure to interest
rates for non-derivative instruments at the end
of the reporting period. For variable-rate bank
deposits, the analysis is prepared assuming the
amount of the relevant asset outstanding at the
end of the reporting period was outstanding
for the whole year. A 50 basis points (2020:
Same) increase or decrease represents the
management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points (2020:
Same) higher/lower and all other variables
were held constant, the Group's loss for the
year would have decreased by approximately
HK$303,000 (2020: HK$91,000).
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk

()

Risk management

Credit risk is managed on a group basis. The
credit risk of the Group mainly arises from
financial assets, cash and cash equivalents,
trade receivables, contract assets, film rights
investments, deposits and other receivables.
The carrying amounts of these balances
represent the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk in relation to these assets.

In order to minimise the credit risk,
management has delegated a team responsible
for determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews
the recoverable amount of each individual debt
at the end of the reporting period to ensure
that adequate impairment losses are made
for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard,
management considers that the Group's credit
risk is significantly reduced.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as
64% (2020: 54%) of the total trade receivables
was due from the Group’s largest debtor.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment of financial assets and contract
assets

The Group has two types of assets that are
subject to the expected credit loss model: trade
receivables and contract assets and other
financial assets carried at amortised costs.

While cash and cash equivalents are also
subject to the impairment requirements of
HKFRS 9, the identified impairment loss was
immaterial.

Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group applies the simplified approach to
provide for expected credit losses prescribed
by HKFRS 9, which permits the use of the
lifetime expected credit loss provision for
all trade receivables and contract assets.
To measure the expected credit losses,
trade receivables and contract assets have
been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due.

For trade receivables and contract assets,
management has assessed the expected credit
losses based on the background and reputation
of the customers, historical settlement records
and past experience, and expected realisation
plan for long aged balances including offsetting
with certain payables. Management also
considered the default rates and loss given
default from external rating agency report and
forward-looking information that may impact
the customer’s ability to repay the outstanding
balances. As at 31 December 2021, the loss
allowances of approximately HK$6,990,000 and
HK$55,000 (2020: HK$8,606,000 and HK$62,000)
were recognised for trade receivables and
contract assets respectively based on the
expected credit losses rates ranged from 0%
to 19% (2020: 0% to 15%) applied on different
groupings.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BEEBEIEZE)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 B¥ERREREEE)
(b)  Credit risk (Continued) (b) EEEEGE)
(i) Impairment of financial assets and contract (i) Z=HEERSHVEERE
assets (Continued) (&)
Trade receivables and contract assets EWEER R ENEE (&)
(Continued)
The closing loss allowances for trade R+ZA=+—H ' BKK
receivables and contract assets as at 31 REEHEENEREEE
December reconcile to the opening loss fHEEE Y] B 1B B R
allowances as follows: T
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-THF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BRI
Trade receivables FEURBR X
At 1 January n—A—H 8,606 257
(Decrease)/increase in loss allowance  FRN#ER 2 E1E B &
recognised during the year OB /180 (1,820) 8,117
Receivables written off during the year — 4F A f 7 X Uk [81
as uncollectible b1 55 B B U 3R IE - (257)
Exchange difference FEHZ%E 204 489
At 31 December R+=—HA=+—8 6,990 8,606
Contract assets EHEE
At 1 January n—H—H 62 =
(Decrease)/increase in loss allowance  FRNHER 7 B EEME
recognised during the year (R A,/ hn (9) 59
Exchange difference EHZER 2 3
At 31 December R+=—HA=+—8 55 62
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # =

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)  Credit risk (Continued)

(i1)

Impairment of financial assets and contract
assets (Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets
(Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets are
written off where there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is
no reasonable expectation of recovery include,
amongst others, the failure of a debtor to
engage in a repayment plan with the Group,
and a failure to make contractual payments.

Impairment losses on trade receivables
and contract assets are presented as net
impairment losses within operating profit.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off are credited against the same line
item.

Other financial assets at amortised cost

The credit quality of the other receivables has
been assessed with reference to historical
information about the counterparties
default rates and financial position of the
counterparties. As at 31 December 2021, the
loss allowances of approximately HK$3,954,000
were recognised for other receivables (2020:
HK$1,109,000).
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BiREAMEIEZE

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BIEREZEE

(b)  Credit risk (Continued)

(i) Impairment of financial assets and contract
assets (Continued)

Other financial assets at amortised cost
(Continued)

The closing loss allowances for deposits and
other receivables as at 31 December reconcile

(b) EEmEREE)

(ii)

TREEREAEERE
(&)

HBHERAGTENEBER
BEE)

R+—A=+—B - &ek
H b 8 Uit R 50 ) HA R A5 1R 18

to the opening loss allowances as follows: HEAYEERBEHER
T
2021 2020
—E-— —TE-TH
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT IT
At 1 January R—H—H 1,109 =
Increase in loss allowance recognised 4 NHER 2 1B B
during the year #n 2,827 1,076
Exchange difference i 5 =5 18 33
At 31 December W+=—A=+—8 3,954 1,109

HUANXI MEDIA GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2021




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#0055 e ok W ak
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

(©

Credit risk (Continued)

(i) Net impairment losses on financial and contract
assets recognised in profit or loss

During the year, the net impairment losses on
financial and contract assets recognised in

3 BXEREE(E
3.1 B¥ERREEE
b) EEREE)

(i) BBz AR MEEK
BEZRERBERFE

FA - REBEZABRNE R
REMEBEEZREBRFE

profit or loss were as follows: (N
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FTF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
Net reversal of/(provision for) YRR R ERNEEZ
impairment losses on trade BEEERE
receivables and contract assets (B ) 558 1,829 (8,176)
Provision for impairment losses on HEmemEEZRE
other financial assets a1 (2,827) (1,076)
Net impairment losses on financial CREENRENEEY
assets and contract assets VERIEN SEi=Ve:] (998) (9,252)

Liquidity risk

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had cash and
cash equivalents of approximately HK$115,369,000,
and short-term borrowings of approximately
HK$100,281,000, and the Group had net cash used
in operating activities for the year of approximately
HK$469,537,000 and loss for the year attributable
to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$235,557,000. Management considers the Group
does not have any significant liquidity risk.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on
the remaining period at the consolidated statement
of financial position date to the contractual maturity
date. Balances due within 12 months equal their
carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not
significant.

€ RBEZEME

RZBEZ—F+=ZA=+—H -
REEFERESRESEENE
#115,369,0007T I 58 HAE 3 4978
#:100,281,0007C * AEBMAREE
KREEBHREBZEESFREOE
W 469,537,0007T ¢ AR A
BEAEBEREEBEOABE
235,557,000t - EEERE K
EERTAFETANERNRDES
R

TREAEENERABRESR
REMBRARAREEBERNER
H3 B A9 R &R B BR 2 A 48 BE FY B B
MBETOMN - ARBRFEY
AER - N2 A REBIH 0 45 6k
FRERMGE
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

174

Liquidity risk (Continued)

3 MBEREEGE

3.1 BiREBRAEZEEE)

() FmEBELEEGE)

Weighted 0n demand Total
Contractual maturities of average o less than 1-3 3 months 1-3  undiscounted Carrying
financial liabilities interest rate 1 month months to 1year years cash flows amount
AEERD RER
SRERNANIHR MEFIHE HSR-EA -E=f§f ZfERZE-%£ -EZE  BeREBEHE REE
% HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
AR BETT BETT BETT BB BB
2020 it Sk 23
Non-derivative financial FiTECRAR
liabilities
Trade and other payables FERER R AR
HE - 72,895 - - - 72,895 72,895
Film investment funds form REREENEZRE
investors W - - - 107,565 - 107,565 107,565
Borrowings &R - - - 50,036 - 50,036 50,036
Lease liabilities HERE 4.3% 1316 2,968 13,35 4,251 21,891 2,277
74,211 2,968 170,957 4,251 252,387 251,773
2021 —B--f
Non-derivative financial FiTERAR
liabilities
Trade and other payables ERERREMEN
Fo - 171,384 - - - 171,384 171,384
Amount due to a related party  EEN—2EEALFE - 15,137 - - - 15,137 15,137
Film investment funds form REREENEZRE
investors B - - - 197,332 - 197,332 197,332
Borrowings &3 - - 48,917 51,364 - 100,281 100,281
Film rights investments EYMERE - - - 1,483 - 1,483 1,483
Lease liabllities BERE 3.9% 1,501 3,898 4,320 14,040 23,759 22,509
188,022 52,815 254,499 14,040 509,376 508,126
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2 Capital management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt which
includes borrowings in Note 28 and equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital
and various reserves.

Management reviews the capital structure periodically.
As part of this review, management considers the cost of
capital and the risks associates with each class of capital.
Based on recommendations of management, the Group
will balance its overall capital structure through new share
issues as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption
of existing debt or reduction in capital.

R EE(E

3.2 EXERE

AEEBTEEER URERASECE
BB mBESELE  RNEREE
BRESEHEBLL - BRESREKD
W AEEZERRBEHEFTHITIE
A o

AEBEZEARBREGER (BHEME
28 2 &) RARRIGEA N (B
RERITRARSEFHE) -

BEETHREMNERRE - (FERILEH
TEz—8n  EEREZREAKAR
BEEABRZHERR - NEEHRIE
EEERL RS  BBRRITHRN KL
BOHEARKRBEERAERLERE
Ko PEHEBENRE -
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 HBEEBREEE
3.3 Fair value estimation 3.3 A EME
(i) Fair value hierarchy () 2 FEFEERF
This section explains the judgements and estimates REEMBEEN M BREPER
made in determining the fair values of the financial EEATFEFENEHRIAERF
instruments that are recognised and measured at BERFTEL MR E RGET - BT
fair value in the financial statements. To provide an HBEBEE A FEMAEASE
indication about the reliability of the inputs used in ZARHEERE  AEEERE:
determining fair value, the Group has classified its ZRREHHEMITED B =E
financial instruments into the three levels prescribed FER o BFEHRTRETEM -
under the accounting standards. An explanation of
each level follows underneath the table.
Level 1 Level 3 Total
E—R E=® st
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B &E BT BT BT
Recurring fair value EMUNFEGE
measurements
At 31 December 2021 RZ-E=-—#f
+=B=+—H
Financial assets ERMEE
Hong Kong listed equity BB L RAE
securities 24 3,409 - 3,409
Film rights investments BYRERE 22 - 247,770 247,770
3,409 247,770 251,179
Financial liabilities k=R
Film rights investments BRRERE 22 = 1,483 1,483
At 31 December 2020 RZEZTF
+=ZA=+—A”
Financial assets THEE
Film rights investments BRRERE 22 - 164,331 164,331
There were no transfers between levels 1 and 2 for FAN - EE-—RRE_FZ2EL
recurring fair value measurements during the year. BREEMERAFEFELETHE

For transfers in and out of level 3 measurements see
(i) below.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and
transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels as at the
end of the reporting period.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Level 1: The fair value of financial instruments traded
in active markets (such as publicly traded derivatives,
and equity securities) is based on quoted market
prices at the end of the reporting period. The quoted
market price used for financial assets held by the
Group is the current bid price. These instruments are
included in level 1.

Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments that
are not traded in an active market (for example,
over-the-counter derivatives) is determined using
valuation techniques which maximise the use of
observable market data and rely as little as possible
on entity-specific estimates. If all significant inputs
required to fair value an instrument are observable,
the instrument is included in level 2.

Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs is not
based on observable market data, the instrument is
included in level 3. This is the case for unlisted equity
securities.

Valuation techniques used to determine fair values

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial
instruments include:

° the use of quoted market prices or dealer
quotes for similar instruments; and

° for other financial instruments — discounted
cash flow analysis.

3 BXREREEE
3.3 AR EMEE)
() RAFEEEREE)

F—& - EERBMBLLEENS
MTAMWMAREENTETANMK
RBH)O A FETDZRBERR
M HREETE  AKEAFE
REERAOMERERERE
BE RETEFASE -

B RKEEBRMBLESERN
SR T EFIGINMTET R W
ATERBEEIAET - %25
HEFERERATERTISH
B UEAETFREREEMH
e M E T AR FEMENR
BERGASEHTHEE - Al
TAFAFE - -

F=A W HEAZHEEAHA
BEYFAATEEDHEELAE
B RZTASAS=M-3FL
TR ANRE 75 BB It 2R 1B

(i) FREE R FEEESZE

AR emTABENASGK
BIERS

o FAENIANTISRER
RPERE R

e RBHEHMEMTIAMS - MR

BEmEDHH -
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

(i) Fair value measurements using significant

unobservable inputs (level 3)

The following table presents the changes in level 3
items for the year:

—ET - A=1+—HLFE

Rk E

B(E

3.3 DPEMEHE)

(iii)

HREAEAT BB A B FETT
R EEB(E=R)

TRRMANESRALMEE R
& :

Film rights

investments

BEMERE

HK$'000

BT

Opening balance 1 January 2020 R-ZTE-TF— A —ANHV&ER 99,897
Additions bl 22,409
Changes in fair values NEBEE 33,303

Derecognition iR (1,362)
Exchange differences MEH ZR 10,084
Closing balance 31 December 2020 M-ZE_TF+ - A=+—HHRE 164,331
Additions e 171,500
Changes in fair values NEEE 75,586

Derecognition or settlement IR A (170,548)
Exchange differences fEH Z% 5,418
Closing balance 31 December 2021 R-BZ—F+-A=1+—HWHIRE 246,287

The key unobservable input includes the expected
cash flow derived from the investments and
discounted rate. If the expected cash flows were
increased/(reduced) by 5%, the fair value would
increase/(decrease) by approximately HK$12,314,000
(2020: HK$8,217,000). If the discounted rates were
increased by 1%, the fair value would decrease by
approximately HK$3,905,000 (2020: HK$2,040,000)
and if the discount rates were decreased by 1%,
the fair value would increase by approximately
HK$4,194,000 (2020: HK$2,090,000).
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CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires
the use of accounting estimates which, by definition, will seldom
equal the actual results. Management also needs to exercise
judgement in applying the Group's accounting policies.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated. They are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that may have a financial impact
on the entity and that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

(@) Revenue derived from content production
and film investment income

Management considered whether it was appropriate to
recognise the revenue from content production and film
investment income, net of approximately HK$158,353,000
(2020: HK$633,176,000) in the current year, which is in line
with the Group’s general policy of recognising revenue and
film investment income as set out in Notes 2.25 and 2.26.

In making the judgement, management considered the
detailed criteria included satisfying the performance
obligation and the right to receive payment for the
recognition of revenue derived from content production
and measurement of film investment income set out in the
applicable standards. In the event where the criteria are
met but the final statement of the relevant film has not yet
received, judgement is required to estimate the revenue
and related costs of the film investment.

4 EERMEFTRFAE

REGEMBHRRAEMS A BRE
% HEHBRIOSAERER - EEERFA
R B S 5T R IRAETT A -

AT RHVE RIS EE T - LV ERBE
RELEMEE  8RRARBRTRES
EEMAEERERELVBEENRKS
(ESEVIK

(@) RERREEEZHWEREERE
L'ON

EEEEENAFERRARBEANDTE
EZWHEREBEZILERA  FELB
#158,353, ooom:;ﬁ:“i DB
633,176,00070) B G EE - WWERFEH
FE2.25 % 2.26FTE A B AN B RE R M
MEHREWRAZ —RRBUR -

AELIBTE - E R EE R ERAR
%EEZW RHBEVREUAZS

RRAFET HBEE  ERRE
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20 4 KR EHERE BB
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4 CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS 4 EBEEHFTRHEE)

(Continued)

(b) Measurement of film and TV programmes

180

rights classified as intangible assets,
and impairment of license and software
development costs

At the end of each reporting period, management assessed
the cost apportionment, amortisation policy and estimated
useful lives of the film and TV programmes rights classified
as intangible asset, license and software development
costs. The determination of cost apportionment,
amortisation policy and estimated useful lives requires
management’s significant judgement.

Other than the amortisation, management also i) assessed
whether impairment indicator existed on film and TV
programmes rights completed and available for intended
use, licensed film and TV programmes rights, license and
software development costs and ii) assessed impairment
for film and TV programmes rights either completed but
not available for intended use or under production and
provided impairment up to its recoverable amount in
accordance with the respective impairment assessment.

In respect of the film and TV programmes rights
completed and TV programmes rights under production,
the recoverable amount of the associated film and TV
programmes rights was determined by using the fair value
less cost of disposal approach. In respect of the Group's
license and software development costs, together with the
film and TV programmes rights available for subscription
on the Group's online video platform, they are the
essential elements of the Group’s online video platform.
Management identified the Group’s online video platform
as a cash-generating unit (the “Platform CGU"), which is
the basis for impairment assessment of Group's license,
software development costs and film and TV programmes
rights available for subscription. The recoverable amount
of the Platform CGU was determined based on the present
value of the expected future cash flow generated from the
Platform CGU.
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4 CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(Continueq)

(b) Measurement of film and TV programmes

rights classified as intangible assets,
and impairment of license and software
development costs (Continued)

In determining the recoverable amount, the Group takes
into consideration both internal and external market
information, for example, the expected revenue, the
estimated production cost, the estimated selling and
distribution expenses, the discounted rates and the
general economic condition of the relevant markets.

As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amount of film
and TV programmes rights classified as intangible asset,
license and software development costs amounted to
approximately HK$393,119,000 (2020: HK$400,937,000),
HKS$nil (2020: HK$22,000) and HK$2,416,000 (2020:
HK$7,062,000), respectively. Management determined
that impairment indicator existed for the Platform CGU as
the actual performance was behind the original forecast,
representing an impairment indicator, triggering a need
to perform an impairment assessment. In carrying out the
impairment assessment of the Platform CGU, Management
adopted the income approach using the discounted cash
flow forecast which involved key assumptions including
discount rate of 26% and terminal growth rate of 3%.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group has
recognised a net provision for impairment of film and TV
programmes rights of approximately HK$1,998,000 (2020:
HK$9,117,000). Changes in assumptions used in this
assessment, including the forecasted revenue, may result
in additional provision being made in the consolidated
financial statements.
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4 CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(Continueq)

(c)

(d)

(e)

182

Fair value of film rights investments

As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amount of film rights
investments amounted to approximately HK$246,287,000
(2020: HK$164,331,000). The respective fair values are
determined by using valuation technigues. Details of the
judgement and assumptions have been disclosed in Note
3.3.

Estimated impairment of prepayments for
film and TV programmes rights

At the end of each reporting period, management
assesses whether the impairment indicator existed for
prepayments for film and TV programmes rights based on
the contract terms of the agreements, estimated budget
of the proposed production and the progress on how the
prepayment has been used or realised.

Based on management’s assessment on the prepayments
of film and TV programmes rights, management
determined that no impairment provision to be charged to
prepayments of film and TV programmes rights during the
year (2020: Same).

Loss allowances of trade receivables and
contract assets

The loss allowances of trade receivables and contract
assets are based on assumptions about risk of default,
expected loss rates and forward-looking information.
Management uses judgements in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the calculation,
based on the past history, existing market conditions as
well as forward looking information at the end of each
reporting period. Details of the key assumptions and inputs
used are disclosed in Note 3.1(b).
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REVENUE AND FILM INVESTMENT INCOME,
NET

An analysis of the Group's revenue and film investment income,
net, for the year, net of sales related tax, is as follows:

WEREZREWA - F8

FA-ARENREREZRERA - FE
(FRERIHERARB) DM T

2021 2020
—EB-—F —E-THF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Continuing operations: BERSEER
Revenue W5
- Share of box office income - SHERRA 2,158 50,859
- Sub-licensing of film and TV - OREZ R EREIME
programmes rights 32,548 521,265
- Other media related revenue - B b ES AR W e 48,061 27,749
82,767 599,873
Film investment income, net BERERA - FEE 75,586 33,303
158,353 633,176
SEGMENT INFORMATION D EBE R

The CODM has been identified as the executive Directors
who review the Group's internal reporting in order to assess
performance and allocate resources. The CODM has determined
the operating segments based on these reports.

The CODM assesses the performance based on a measure of
profit/(loss) before tax excluding certain unallocated corporate
expenses and finance income/(costs), net and considers all
businesses to be included in a single operating segment.

The Group's operations are currently organised into one
reportable segment which is investment in film and TV
programmes rights. Other operations included property agency
in Hong Kong and securities trading and investments that do
not meet the reportable segment threshold. Thus, they are not
separately included in the reports provided to the CODM. The
results of these operations are included in the ‘others’ column.
During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group had
disposed the property agency business and ceased the securities
trading and investments business within other segment and it
was thus presented as discontinued operations.

HESEKERRAF -

HITEFCRATIRIELERRE - AR
EHASENARRSE - EEFEFRERD
BRER ETBELERREFCREZSHREE

Wt
TELLE DL -

TEBEEARREENEBRBANGER, (BE)
(TBRETFASRZ XA RABKRA
(BA)  FROMNEFEHERR  AFSHEH
ABE—REDBORBER -

AEENRLEXEBREBEA-—EITZ2%D
B MEFRERBIRERE - HEBK (2
EREEMERELESFBEERRE)TFAT
EWHHHREER - QUL EAERETE
BERERRENBETEBZY - ZFXEH
MEGEFATEMIN - RBE-_FT_FF+
“A=T-BLEEE AREDHEMER
BRBRERIEEMDBANESFEERKE
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6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6 DEERGE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results REBZEERTEHRDEBME D 2 W= R
by operating and reportable segments: BT -
Continuing operations  Discontinued operations
BEREER CRIEEEEE
Investment in film and TV
programmes rights Others Consolidated
EYREREIMERE Htt &8
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
“E--& C-Z-FTE ZB--§ _—ZT-TF CZE--§ -ZT-TE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT AT  BETR  BETT  B%Tn BT
Segment revenue pax: 26
Revenue Wezs
- Share of box office income -MEERRA 2,158 50,859 - - 2,158 50,859
- Sub-licensing of film and Tv -HREZRERE
programmes rights i iE 32,548 521,265 - - 32,548 521,265
- Other media related revenue - B 48,061 27,749 - - 48,061 27,749
82767 599873 - - 82767 599873
Film investment income, net BYREWA - FH 75,586 33,303 - = 75,586 33,303
158,353 633176 - - 158353 633176
Timing of revenue recognition YRR
- Atapointin time -E-RE 34,706 572,124 - - 34,706 572,124
- Qver time -BEERE 48,061 27,749 - - 48,061 27,749
82,767 599873 - - 82,767 599873
Segment (loss)/profit B (&8, =H (133,168) (144,636) - 3,766 (133,168) (140,870)
Unallocated corporate expenses RARZLERE (89,240) (90,433)
Finance incomey(costs), net BBRA/(BR) - FE 2,388 (5,088)
Loss before tax BRHATEE (220,020)  (236,391)
Income tax expense FEHAY (15,537) =
Loss for the year AERER (235,557)  (236391)
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6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6 DWERE
Continuing operations Discontinued operations
FEREER BRI R
Investment in film and
TV programmes rights Others
EYRERBIRERE Hith
2021 2020 2021 2020

—E—f —T-TF B —T-TF

HK$’000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
BETRT AT BETx AT

Other information (included HiaBER Gt ADE

in measure of segment (F518) BFHEE)

(loss)/profit)
Other income E A A 2,314 21,796 - =
Other (losses)/gains, net Hh (&8), W= - FRE (90) 21,168 - =
Depreciation of property, plant V- BELREEZITE

and equipment (403) (424) - -
Depreciation of right-of-use assets £ REEE 2 ITE (7,252) (6,755) - =
Amortisation of intangible assets /& &= 2 # 5 (4,790) (4,696) - =
Amortisation of film and TV B R BB < B

programmes rights (212,678) (637,943) - -
Net impairment losses on film and B § K B8 Bk iE 2 B E

TV programmes rights EiB 5 (1,998) 9,117) - =
All of the segment revenue reported above was derived from EXERZFAB DY RBINDES o

external customers.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same KED R 2 SRt ECR B 2T AR & E
as the Group's accounting policies described in Note 2. Segment ZEFBURAER - 2E(EBR)IHEFESSE
(loss)/profit represents the (loss)/profit from each segment W(EB1B),af  BIESERSESEMAL
without allocation of unallocated corporate expenses (which (EEBRETTRAIMEREBFE) R
mainly include certain administrative expenses and net foreign BWA(BR)  FHE - WHAPEERRK
exchange losses) and finance income/(costs), net. This is the FHEREMMEZLEAREERNEIE
measure reported to the CODM for the purposes of resource T

allocation and performance assessment.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continuedq) 6 DIERE)

Segment assets and liabilities THEERAE

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities B ZmoHBE s 2 ASEEERBGEDT
by reportable segments: wmr

Continuing operations  Discontinued operations

REREEK BRLRERE
Investment in film and TV
programmes rights Others Consolidated
FRERBIMERE Htt &8
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

“E--f ZZ-%F ZBI-§ CZT-TF CZB--F CZZ-%f
HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BETT  BETrn  R¥TT  BETrn BT

Assets 8E

Segment assets PEHEE 1,937,049 1482302 - - 1,937,049 1482302
Unallocated assets RAEEE 324,647 263,309
Total assets EERE 2,261,696 1745611
Liabilities =L

Segment liabilities ok =N (503,254)  (274,468) - - (503,254)  (274,468)
Unallocated liabilties RAREE (103,173) (24,710)
Total liabilities AfERe (606,427)  (299,178)
Additions to non-current assets* BREERYEE 290,039 143,623 - =

E Other than financial assets and deferred tax @ TEEEREEELERIE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#0055 e ok W ak
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and
allocating resources between segments:

- all assets are allocated to reportable segment other than
certain property, plant and equipment, certain right-of-use
assets, certain other receivables and certain cash and cash
equivalents; and

- all liabilities are allocated to reportable segment other than
certain other payables and certain lease liabilities.

o EBE R (E
THEEREEE)

tl\

REENBRAREDBEIEER

- FARENREFTEHROM - EETY

X BELERE ETERREE &
THMERFERETRERRAEEE
BRON - R

- FAREIRENEHOM  EETH

RN RIENRE THERGERN -

Entity-wide disclosures EREERNEE
Geographical information HEEH

The Group's current operations are mainly located in the PRC
and Hong Kong.

Information about the Group'’s revenue and film investment
income net of tax is presented based on the location of the
operations of the relevant business units. Information about
the Group’s non-current assets by geographical location of the
assets are detailed below:

AEERENEHFEBMRTELES

AEEBZWERBEXZRERAGIRETIE)E
HIEERARBEL X MEES - IREE
FIEMEI D c AEBIERBEEEHFBEN
™

Revenue and film

investment income, net Non-current assets

WEREFREWA  FE FRBEE
2021 2020 2021 2020
—EC-F ZETTF B ZET-THF

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BT BET T BT T
The PRC AR 149,977 633,133 899,440 704,267
Hong Kong B 8,376 43 23,852 15,765
158,353 633,176 923,292 720,032

BEGHEEEERAA -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

0 S0 5 Ak Wt B

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 #{ £ =% =

6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about major customers

During the year, revenue and film investment income, net
derived for the customers contributing over 10% of the total

—ET - A=1+—HLFE

DEER(E)
TERFER

FAR-HAKREBKRENE

FRERA - F

%EEE?@10%2%3)5§$24&m&?€%&ﬁ1&

revenue and film investment income, net of the Group are as A ORREAT ¢
follows:
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Customer A ZEA 85,349 N/A T~ iE F
Customer B ZFB 26,752 N/A & F
Customer C BFC N/A ~EHA 488,382

The revenue and film investment income, net was derived from
investment in film and TV programmes rights in the PRC and

Hong Kong.

Contract assets and liabilities

The Group has recognised the following assets and liabilities

WHELEBEXRERA  FEXEPERELS

B NERBIRERE

[

BHNEERER

AEECHERATEEFANEHNEER

related to contracts with customers: BE:

2021 2020

—EB-—F - S

HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT BT T

Contract assets BHEE 11,440 38,411
Loss allowances (Note 3.1(b)) Eria s (M E3.1(h) (55) (62)
Total contract assets BHEERT 11,385 38,349
Contract liabilities BHEE 31,469 419
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Contract assets and liabilities (Continued)
Significant changes in contract assets and liabilities

As at 31 December 2021, contract assets represented
unbilled revenue arisen from the share of box office income,
sub-licensing of film and TV programmes rights and other media
related revenue in accordance with the contract terms.

As at 31 December 2021, contract liabilities mainly represented
receipt in advance in relation to the co-membership
arrangement with other online platforms operated by different
business partners.

2 BRI
EHAERARE)
EHIAERBENEAE

R-ZE-—F+-RF=+—H AHEBEE
BIBEHBENERBIEERSKRA - DRE
52 N BAR B W LA N B0 1R B AR B U e EE A
MR B R AR o

N—_TE-_—F+-_A=+—H AHBEET
DA TREBAEEHEENHEMRETF
ENHA e 8RN TEREE -

OTHER INCOME Hbug A
2021 2020
S —ETF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T

Continuing operations: BESEER

Government grants (Note) A 8 B (B 3E) 286 21,734
Rent concessions HER% - 908
Sundry income EAET N 2,028 450
2,314 23,092

Note: Government grants mainly represented the subsidies of approximately
RMB237,000 (2020: RMB18,190,000) (equivalent to approximately
HK$286,000 (2020: HK$20,438,000)) received from the PRC government
and Nil (2020: HK$1,296,000) amount received from Employment
Support Scheme of the Hong Kong government. There are no
unfulfilled conditions or other contingencies attaching to these grants.

MisE - BT B EZERPRBAKRI ZHEEOAR
#237,000C(ZZ =T : AR¥18,190,000
7o) (HRE R B 286,000 (B =T 4F : B
#20,438,0007T)) A R A B B BT R 5h 2] 51 81
WBZ&BAE(ZE-FF : 511,296,000
TL) © 5% 5l B AT 4 B A 1) SR BR MO 1 S B At
HEEIHE -
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8 OTHER GAINS, NET

F-—F+-A=+—HILFE

8 Hfttlsm - FHE

2021 2020
—E-—F ZEFF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT
Continuing operations: BERSEER
Gain on film investment funds from REBREENELIRENRELZ
investors (Note 27) Weas (B9 3E27) 273 21,168
Net fair value gain on financial assets at BRATEFABZZEMEE
FVTPL (Note 24) A TFE W= TR
(Ffi5E£24) 3,008 -
Net foreign exchange (losses)/gains P& X (&518), /W F 5 (1,056) 237
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEME  BEREEEE
equipment (4) -
Others HAth 296 =
2,517 21,405
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EXPENSES BY NATURE 9 RUEBEEIZHX
2021 2020
s ZEZTF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B aE BT T BT
Continuing operations: HHEKSEER
Employee benefit expenses EERMAX
(excluding Directors’ remuneration (RN 15 B #HEN &%
and share-based compensation) LARSAD B B 2 S M) 10 54,929 49,335
Directors’ remunerations =) 14 30,149 27,952
Share-based compensation to VAR {0 B 51 2 18 B Hr i
employees 10 2,612 7,205
Depreciation e
- Property, plant and equipment - - WEREE 17 1,747 1,928
- Right-of-use assets - ERREE 18(0) 15,066 15,941
Short-term lease expense HHEERY 18(b) 593 459
Legal and professional fees FEREXBH 6,561 10,913
Travelling and entertainment 2 I B FE B R =2
expenses 7,373 4,900
Advertising and marketing expenses & & M & B 24,588 113,468
Amortisation of intangible assets B EE 19 4,790 4,696
Amortisation of film and TV B REREINRE 2
programmes rights 22 212,678 637,943
Net impairment losses of film and TV B R EREIRiE 2R E
programmes rights B8 F 5 22 1,998 9,117
Auditor's remuneration % E0AN BN
- Audit services - EZRE 3,285 2,920
- Non-audit services - EBEZIRT 15 30
General office expenses —MRREER 4,403 3,388
Insurances IRB 1,524 1,429
Others HAtb 12,283 11,866

Total cost of revenue, selling and Wtz A - SHE R
distribution costs and DA A AT
administrative expenses X 4B RE 384,594 903,490

BEMBEEERAT - —S-—F58 191



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
0 S0 5 Ak Wt B

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE T ——F+_-_A=+—HILtFE

10 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES
(EXCLUDING DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION)

10 EERAFEX(TERESHH)

2021 2020
—E-—fF —ETF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BETT
Continuing operations: BEREER

Wages, salaries and bonus TE - HekiEsd 46,747 44,902
Pension costs — defined contribution plans  BR& AN — 5 E (R GT 2 7,578 3,916
Others EHAftb 604 517
54,929 49,335
Share-based compensation LARR 1 73 B 78 2 357 B 2,612 7,205
Total employee benefit expenses BRERAFAZ BT 57,541 56,540

(@) Pensions — defined contribution plans (@) BHhE - BFEHKTE

(b)

192

No forfeited contributions is available to reduce the
contributions payable in future years.

Contributions totalling approximately HK$651,000 (2020:
HK$373,000) were payable at the end of reporting period.

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in
the Group for the year include two (2020: Same) directors
whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis shown in
Note 14. The emoluments payable to the remaining three

1R R A SR AT R R R SR 2 FE A

& RN KAL) 278 651,000
TT(ZZZEF - B¥373,0007T) °

(b) EEBESMEAL

FR - AKERIARSHEALRIEM
H(-ZE-TF - HAREZ - E#ER
BRRMI VAR R D AT o F AR H 84
ZR((CTFF  BROA LT 2B 0

(2020: Same) individuals during the year are as follows: ™
2021 2020
—EB-—fF —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BEETIT
Salaries and other benefits e RHEHAET 6,609 6,435
Performance related bonus BRI ZIEAL 1,531 1,347
Share-based compensation LARR 1 73 B 78 2 357 B 2,024 3,779
Retirement benefits RIREF 36 36
10,200 11,597
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10 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 10 EEEAMXX(TEEEEFM)
(EXCLUDING DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION) (%)
(Continued)
(b) Five highest paid individuals (Continued) (b) EEBREMEALT(#E)
The number of employees among the five highest paid FWNTFUTHENAEESME AL
individuals whose remunerations fell within the following FRES A :
bands:

Number of individuals

AE
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETHF
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 7% 1,500,001 7T 2= /%8 % 2,000,0007C 1 -
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 7 #2,500,001 7T 2= /% %4 3,000,0007C 1 1
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 ;&% 3,000,001 T 2 7 #3,500,0007T -
HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000  #%5,000,0017T 2 4 #5,500,0007C 1 =
HK$5,500,001 to HK$6,000,000 & #5,500,001 7T & 7 #6,000,0007T - 1
3 g
The number of Directors among the five highest paid FWNTUTHENAEZEESME AL
individuals whose remunerations fell within the following FREE AR :
bands:

Number of individuals

AE
2021 2020
—EB-—F —ETF
HK$5,500,001 to HK$6,000,000 7B 5,500,0017T 2 7% #6,000,0007C - 1
HK$6,000,001 to HK$6,500,000 75 #6,000,0017T &7 #6,500,0007T 1 =
HK$20,500,001 to HK$21,000,000  # #20,500,0017T % i #21,000,0007C - 1
HK$22,500,001 to HK$23,000,000 ;% #522,500,0017T & i # 23,000,0007T 1 =
2 2
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11 FINANCE INCOME/(COSTS), NET 11 BHERA(BR) 38
2021 2020
—E-—F —TE-TH
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BEETF T
Continuing operations: BEREER
Finance income B WA
Bank interest income RITHBHBA 124 1,624
Other interest income H b F B UA 8,327 2,063
8,451 3,687
Finance costs B%ER
Finance charges for lease liabilities HEBBE W KHALZ
(Note 18(b)) (B EE18(0)) (631) (1,244)
Interest expenses for film investment funds R B EE N EFITE HKE
from investors ZHBERX (5,432) (7,531)
(6,063) (8,775)
Finance income/(costs), net BMEWA(BR)  FH 2,388 (5,088)
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Under the Law of the PRC on Corporate Income Tax (the “CIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the CIT Law, the tax rate
of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January 2008 onwards.

Pursuant to the CIT law, 10% withholding tax is levied on the PRC
sourced income on foreign entities without establishments or
places of business in the PRC.

Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated
assessable profit for both years. No provision for Hong Kong
profits tax has been made in the consolidated financial
statements as the relevant group entities have incurred tax
losses (2020: Same).

No overseas profits tax has been calculated for the group
entities that are incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the

“BVI") or Bermuda as they are exempted from tax (2020: Same).

Income tax expense charged to the profit or l0ss represents:

12 FrEHEX
*EFEF'.JJ:%F)? ffbﬁ(fu—.%ﬁﬁ *R/ﬂ)&u-_
El@ 2 EPWEQ\ETZH—?—Z%ZS%

REBERMABBOE - WARRHBIRARILE
BREXSANINEERAREIRNF E
B RE YA B R 10%H BT ©

MIEFE 2 BEME TG RME BRBOE N
AR E16.5%H - AR AEEEEREER
Iﬁﬁéﬂ% WA ERNER AP IBRRAREEF

BRELEEBE(CE_ZF : R

HRERBEBARESHNARENLZER
ERENGHL  UMERZSEEER
HEINEH(CE_ZF : HR)

FEABREH PSS Th1E

2021 2020
—E-—F —ETHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BEETIT
Continuing operations BEREEL
Current tax EUH;%‘EEIE 1,060 =
Deferred income tax (Note 29) EIEFT 1SR (i 7E29) 14,477 =
15,537 -
BEGHEEEERAR - —E-—FF£H 195
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12 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 12 FIBFHBEX(E)
The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the AEEZMEHATHGSERREMEZE
loss before tax from continuing operations per the consolidated WRERZKEFELCEEBNRTAIEEY
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as BRUDR ¢
follows:
2021 2020
B TR T
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BETT
Loss from continuing operations REFELEEBNBRTEH
before income tax expense FZATE 1R (220,020) (240,157)
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates REARSEEIECEH
applicable to loss in the METE 2HIE
respective countries (46,408) (49,880)
Expenses not deductible for tax purpose  “~a] F{EHIRL 2 FI st 3,903 8,805
Income not taxable BAERE 2 WA (430) (254)
Tax loss not recognised RIER 2 BIAEE 57,717 41,048
Withholding tax TE 792 =
Others Efh (37) 281
Income tax expense FriS®if 2 15,537 =
The weighted average applicable tax rate was 21.1% (2020: INEFHEAMER21 1B (ZZE T F :
20.8%). The change in weighted average applicable tax rate was 20.8%) - MEFHEABE 2 FHEBEEH
mainly caused by a change in mix of profits earned or losses SEERAMRIUGENIMEEBENEASH
incurred by the group entities. BymEE -
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13 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

13 ARBAETEMBAAFE

Place of incorporation/ Particulars of
operation and kind issued share capital/ Effective economic
Name of entities of legal entities Principal activities registered capital interest held by the Group
BRIREK/ FEEfE
BiRZR 2/ SEHERAEERER TEEY SREAFE BERCERS
2021 2020
ZB--f  CT-%%
Beijing Huan Sheng Xiao Yu Culture Media The PRC, limited liability company ~ Film and TV programmes rights RMB100,000,000 100% 100%
Company Limited #&® HE - BREAAR investments AK#100,000,0007T
PRBBREUBEEARAF BEYRERERERE
Huan Huan Xi Xi (Tianjin) Culture Investment The PRC, limited liability company ~ Film and TV programmes rights RMB100,000,000 100% 100%
Company Limited @& PE - BREFAT investments AR 100,000,007
BEBEE(RR)ULREERAR BV REREIRERE
Taizhou Huanxi Culture Investment Company The PRC, limited liability company ~ Film and TV programmes rights USD40,000,000 100% 100%
Limited 2@ P BREAAT investments £460,000,0007T
AMBEXREBRAR EYRERERERE
Beijing Huanshixi Culture Media Company The PRC, limited liability company ~ Film and TV programmes rights RMB30,000,000 100% 100%
Limited ®8® - BREAAR investments AR 30,000,007
IRBTEXERERD A BEYRERERERE
Gain Flow Developments Limited BVI/Hong Kong, limited company Online video platform development  USD1 ordinary share 100% 100%
IERZRER AR ERERAES /% BRAR ERVRBTAER ERTLRR
Power Thought Investments Limited BVI/Hong Kong, limited company Filmand TV programmes rights USD1 ordinary share 100% 100%
NBREERAR REGMREE/ B BRAE  investments ESabn: 31
BEYREREIMERE
HX Investment (HK) Limited Hong Kong, limited company Film and TV programmes rights HK$1 ordinary share 100% 100%
HEREBERERARA 8 BRAR investments BT LRk
EYREREIMERE
Wiz Limited Hong Kong, limited company Provision of management services  HK$1 ordinary share 100% 100%
EMBERAR B8 BROA to the Group BEAITERER
AAEBRAER RS
BEEEEEESRAT - —S=—FF8% 197



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o A B ¥R R W Rk

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 H ===

13 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Ft-A=+—HIFE

13 RAFAETEMBRAFEEE)

Place of incorporation/ Particulars of
operation and kind issued share capital/ Effective economic
Name of entities Principal activities registered capital interest held by the Group
BRIREK/ FREME
1 o/ CEnERAERREN  ITER aMERGFE BERCERS
2021 2020
“B--f -T-%%
Graceful View Holdings Limited BVI/Hong Kong, limited company Investment holding USD1 ordinary share 100% 100%
RBEMREE/B% BRAT  RERR el -l
Sinofocus Media (Holdings) Limited BVI/Hong Kong, limited company Investment holding USD1 ordinary share 100% 100%
PEERERERAT EBERRHES/B% BRAR REER LBk
Huanxi Entertainment (HK) Limited Hong Kong, limited company Investment holding HK$10,000 ordinary shares 100% 100%
HERL(BR)ERRA REHR BEI0,000T LR
Huanxi Media Investment Limited Hong Kong, limited company Investment holding HK$1 ordinary share 100% 100%
BEYRREGRLA RAER BRI ERk
Joyful Sky Holdings Limited BVI/Hong Kong, limited company Investment holding USD1 ordinary share 100% 100%
EXRBERARRE KERBRHE/B% ARQNE  RERR ESaln-3al
Mansford Holdings Limited BVI/Hong Kong, limited company Investment holding USD1 ordinary share 100% 100%
RBERREE/BR BRAR REER I EEk
Noble Fort Investments Limited BVI/Hong Kong, limited company Investment holding USD1 ordinary share 100% 100%
KERBREE/B% ARQNE  RERR ESaAln-3:l
Beijing Huanxi Shou Ying Culture Company The PRC, limited liability company ~ Film and TV programmes production  RMB10,000,000 100% 100%
Limited @« &0 HE - BREERT and investment AR 10,000,000
FREEERULBRARS W B REREAERRE
Beijing Hangaohua Network Technology The PRC, limited liability company ~ Provision of internet audio-visual RMB10,000,000 100% 100%
Company Limited ©2® HE - BREFAT programmes services AR10,000,0007
I RERERENEBRAFS REETHBERENE RS
Qingdao Huanxi Shou Ying Culture Company The PRC, limited liability company ~ Film and TV programmes production  RMB3,000,000 100% 100%
Limited “&® HE - BREFAR and investment AR 3,000,000

EERE B UL BR AR

EYLERAERIERRE
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13 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

(1) These subsidiaries are registered as wholly-owned enterprises of
Taiwan, Hong Kong or Macau corporate body under the PRC Law.

2) This subsidiary is registered as wholly-owned enterprise of foreign-
invested corporate body under the PRC Law.

(3) These subsidiaries are registered as enterprise invested/controlled by
natural persons under the PRC Law.

(4) The English names for the PRC subsidiaries are for identification
purposes only.

(5) These subsidiaries are controlled by the Group by virtue of the
contractual agreements effective from 19 January 2018. Beijing Huan
Sheng Xiao Yu Culture Media Company Limited (“Beijing Subsidiary”) is
a wholly-owned enterprise of Taiwan, Hong Kong or Macau corporate
body in the PRC. The Group operates an online video platform in
the PRC through contractual arrangements with its affiliated PRC
entities, Beijing Huanxi Shou Ying Culture Company Limited and Beijing
Hangaohua Network Technology Company Limited and Qingdao
Huanxi Shou Ying Culture Company Limited (the “VIE Group”). Beijing
Subsidiary has entered into a series of contractual arrangements with
the VIE Group and their respective shareholders. These contractual
arrangements enable the Group to (1) have power to direct the
activities that most significantly affect the economic performance of
the VIE Group; (2) receive substantially all of the economic benefits
from the VIE Group in consideration for the services provided by
Beijing Subsidiary; and (3) have an exclusive option to purchase all
or part of the equity interests in the VIE Group at the minimum price
permitted under the PRC laws, when and to the extent permitted by
the PRC law, and request any existing shareholders of the VIE Group
to transfer all or part of the equity interest in the VIE Group to any
entity designated by the Group at any time in its discretion. The Group
believes that its ability to exercise effective control give it the rights
to receive substantially all of the economic benefits from the VIE
Group in consideration for the services provided by Beijing Subsidiary.
Accordingly, as the primary beneficiary of the VIE Group and in
accordance with the HKFRSs, the Group consolidates their assets,
liabilities, results of operations and cash flows in the consolidated
financial statements.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company as at 31
December 2021 which principally affected the results or assets
of the Group. Management is of the opinion that to give details
of other subsidiaries would result in particulars of excessive
length. None of the Company’s subsidiaries had issued any debt
securities at year end.

13 RAFETEMBRAFEE)

() REHEA ARG EEDIER A A REA
BALE -

@ ZMBRAREFEAEMBIERELE
ENBEDE -

@ ZEWMBARREBEFEEANEMABERAR
B EREE -

@  FENBRARIEAXEHERSE -

6 ZEMBARHAASEREEBE=-Z—N\F—A
THBREBRNEHRHRZES - tREBBXE
XEBEERAR (T RMBARD A —E
RAENABREABELE - AEEBBE
HMBTEEEILTBEER U EERATR
IRESERERBERATNRSEEEZEM
XEBR AT (VIEER DN E LR T EE
E—EATEFEETE - L RMBARIEHEVIES
B URBESERETL—RINEGHTHE -
ZEAHNLHSAREBMBIA B IIEFISVIE
B EERBEESEAVENTE QM
VIEE BUKEUB KRS80 £ B IS - 1R BRI =M B
ARRERBZRE RQZEBEREE® -
AfERBEAR A HRERBER - RRBE
BAMZREERBEBRVEEE Z 2 KoK
- 3 2 SR VIESE BT (r] 3R A AR SR (7 AN 5 [ ps s
MR EZ TR EEEREVIEEE 2 2B H
Bt - AEERE - BEHITHEERIEFESH
BREMVIEEBUEB A D HERE - 1AL
R EARHRERENRE - At - fEAVIEE
ENEEZHA - RBREBEEEV KRS ER -
AEEBRECEE B HEXERRS
REEREMBERERPLGAE -

ERAARTR B —F+_A=+—
BZHMBAR  REAKEZREREER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o A B ¥R R W Rk

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE T ——F+_-_A=+—HILtFE

14 BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS 14 EEC2EANRER

(a) Directors emoluments (a) EEME

The remuneration of the directors of the Company paid AEEEN REMNARRESHE B0
and payable by the Group are set out below: :

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BE-Z-_—-F+=-A=+—HLEFE

200

Pension costs -
defined
Salaries and Performance contribution Total
Fees  other benefits  related bonus plan emoluments
¥k BER BREHA -
He Hit g H BH2RA KEMRNEE iy k]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI BETT BETT BT BRI
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Dong Ping Rt 315 1,502 4,300 - 6,117
Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven (Note ii) T8 £33 % A (Fi &%) - 18,274 4,300 18 22,592
Sub-total et 315 19,776 8,600 18 28,709
Non-Executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Ning Hao BEEE 240 - - - 240
Mr. Xu Zheng fRELE 240 - - - 240
Ms. Li Ni Figgt 240 - - - 240
Sub-total NG 720 - - - 720
Independent Non-Executive ~ BUF#HTES
Directors
Mr. Wong Tak Chuen BEREE 240 - - - 240
Mr. Li Xiaolong FINEEE 240 - - - 240
Mr. Wang Hong T4 240 - - - 240
Sub-total N 720 - - - 720
Total @it 1,755 19,776 8,600 18 30,149
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
0 U5 A W Bk

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 ﬁi_g:—iJr A=+—H Jtif“

14 BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS
(Continueq)

14 EECEFNRERE

(a) Directors emoluments (Continued) (a) EEEE(2)

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZZT-_ZSF+-_A=+—HILFE
Pension costs ~
Oefined
Salaries and Performance contribution Total
Fees other benefits related honus plan emoluments
ek BER B MA-
ik T BRI BTEMIGE HoEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Dong Ping R 300 1,538 4,000 - 5,838
Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven (Note ii)  JB 4338 4& A (Fi &%) - 16,829 4,000 18 20847
Sub-total 1N 300 18,367 8,000 18 26,685
Non-Executive Directors #3&"55
Mr. Ning Hao EELE 240 - - - 240
Mr. Xu Zheng fRELE 240 - - - 240
Ms. Li Ni (Note iii) 2 st (P i) 67 - - - 67
Sub-total et 547 = = = 547
Independent Non-Executive ~ BI¥HTES
Directors
Mr. Wong Tak Chuen BEELE 240 - - - 240
Mr. Li Xiaolong TINERE 240 - - - 240
Mr. Wang Hong Fi%sE 240 - - - 240
Sub-total et 720 - - - 720
Total @t 1,567 18,367 8,000 18 27,952

HESRKEERRATF - ——FFH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
0 S0 5 Ak Wt B

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 #{ £ =% =

14 BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS
(Continueq)

(@)

(b)

(c)

(d)

202

Directors emoluments (Continued)

Notes:

(i) The performance related bonus is determined by reference to
individual performance of the directors and approved by the
remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”).

(i) Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven is the chief executive officer of the
Company and his emoluments disclosed above included these
services rendered by him as the chief executive officer.

(ifi) Ms. Li Ni, has been appointed as the non-executive director of
the Company with effective from 21 September 2020.

For the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to
any of the directors as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.
None of the directors waived any emoluments for the year
(2020: Same).

Directors’ retirement benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any
retirement benefits during the year (2020: Same).

Directors’ termination benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any
termination benefits during the year (2020: Same).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

During the year, the Group did not pay consideration to

any third parties for making available directors’ services
(2020: Same).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

0 U5 A W Bk

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE T - —F+_-_A=+—HItFE

14 BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS
(Continueq)

(e) Information about loans, quasi-loans and

(f)

other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

During the year, there was no loans, quasi-loans and other
dealing arrangements in favour of directors, or controlled
bodies corporate by and connected entities with such
directors (2020: Same).

Directors’ material interests in
transactions, arrangements or contracts

Save as disclosed in Note 36, no significant transactions,
arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group’s
business to which the Group was a party and in which a
director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the year (2020: Same).

15 DIVIDENDS

Neither dividends were paid, declared or proposed for the year,
nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of reporting
period (2020: Same).

14 EECEFNRERE

(e) BRALES EFZEHMNZEER

(f)

HEEERASZSEANER -8
HUERREMRRZHER

TR BENES  EFEHEER
HEEERAXam AMA L EMER
BUERREMIXZRH(ZT_F
F MR -

EENRE THIASHNEK
R

BRI SE6HT BB B - RERKE RN
(E{AIRS R - 4T (] SR 2 B A
NRMEFRER A AR (B
£ ) PR R B 2 TS BRI (T
AZ5 - BYERAB(CE-TF 4
R) -

15 RE

RAFR - WEIRN - BIRSGEH K EMA

e

- MEHREHERE - TEEZIKMNE

ARB(ZE=ZFF : HR) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o A B ¥R R W Rk

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 #;

16 LOSS PER SHARE

(a)

(b)

204

Basic

2T —

Ft-A=+—HIFE

16 BREE

(a)

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss
attributable to owners of the Company, excluding any
costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding

during the financial year.

BN

BERENEBIRARBEE AEREE
BN BT BBAINZ EA R
RA)VEATBRFEAD RHTERRZ

MEFHBHE -

2021 2020
—B-—F —ETF
(Loss)/profit attributable to owners of ~ ZRA T B ARELL
the Company (&18),/ &= A
— Continuing operations (in HK$'000) - BHELEEKEET ) (235,557) (240,157)
- Discontinued operations (in HK$'000) - B4R IFACE 5%
(BT - 3,766
(235,557) (236,391)
Weighted average number of ordinary ~ F AT E SR E AR N #5E
shares for the purpose of basic and 518 2 L mAR ke
diluted loss per share (in thousands) FH e (FRR) 3,598,117 3,249,566
From continuing operations (in HK$) REAFFEKLEFEBE(BE T (0.07) 0.07)
From discontinued operations (in HK$) KRB 2 & IHEE %K
(¥ TT) - -
Basic loss per share (in HK$) FREREE(EET) (0.07) (0.07)

Diluted

(b) #§

Diluted loss per share is the same as basic 10ss per share
as there were no potential dilutive shares in issue during

the year (2020: Same).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
#0055 e ok W ak

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE T - —F+_-_A=+—HItFE

17 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17 9% BERRE

Furniture,
Leasehold  fixtures and Motor
improvements equipment vehicles Total
HE
HEMERE RERRHE RE am
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
BT BETIL BETT BRI
At 1 January 2020 RZE-ZTF—-H—H
Cost XA 5333 2,413 4,687 12,433
Accumulated depreciation 25 E (4,137) (1,350) (2,375) (7,862)
Net book amount FEFE 1,196 1,063 2312 4,571
Year ended 31 December 2020 HE-S-ZF+-A=1-H
IEFE
Opening net book amount HMREFE 1,196 1,063 2,312 4,571
Additions 15 = 220 = 20
Depreciation charge (Note 9) FEEM (M9 (549) (456) (923) (1,928)
Exchange differences B ER - 37 28 65
Closing net book amount BAEEEE 647 864 1417 2928
At 31 December 2020 WZE-ZF+-A=1+-H
Cost AR 5,496 3,054 4,724 13,274
Accumulated depreciation ZEE (4,849) (2,190) (3,307) (10,346)
Net book amount EETE 647 864 1417 2,928
Year ended 31 December 2021 BE-E--%+-A=1-H
LFE
Opening net book amount R FE 647 864 1,417 2,928
Additions B - 147 - 147
Disposals HE - @ - 7
Depreciation charge (Note 9) FEZR (M9 (554) (392) (801) (1,747)
Exchange differences R ESR - 1 9 20
Closing net book amount BRREFE 93 623 625 1,341
At 31 December 2021 RZBE--£+ZA=1+-H
Cost PR 5,01 3,060 4,740 12,811
Accumulated depreciation ZEE (4,918) (2,437) (4,115) (11,470)
Net book amount EEFE 93 623 625 1,341

Depreciation charge are included in administrative expenses of
approximately HK$1,747,000 (2020: HK$1,928,000).

WEERF ATTRE X #8%1,747,0007T (=
TR H511,928,0007T) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B S 55 ¥ AR WY Gk

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE T ——F+_-_A=+—HILtFE

18

206

LEASES

This note provides information for leases where the Group is a
lessee.

(@) Amounts recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position

The consolidated statement of financial position shows the

18 #HE

AWEHINAREEREBEAZHEER

(@) REEMBRAEREZZEHE

REMBHRAR2 RHERENSHE

following amounts relating to leases: LU
As a lessee EARFEA
2021 2020
—EB--F —ETF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BEETIT
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE
Properties /ES 22,069 19,816
Lease liabilities HEaRE
Current RED 9,055 17,059
Non-current IERED 13,454 4,218
22,509 21,277

No addition to the right-of-use assets during the year (2020:
Same).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

0 U5 A W Bk

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE T - —F+_-_A=+—HItFE

18 LEASES (Continueq)

(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

18 #HE(ZE

(b) REEBEERHEMEEIKLERE
e % |

FEEaHEMEEKGER2EEE

comprehensive income shows the following amounts EENSENT -
related to leases:
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETHF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B st BT T BT
Depreciation charge of ERAEEEZ
right-of-use assets wEEHR
Properties ES 15,066 15,923
Equipment Bedi] - 18
9 15,066 15,941
Finance charges (included in A GUNE
finance cost) Z/H) 1 631 1,244
Expenses relating to short-term 42 HAFA E#ERARI L
leases (included in GrATTHRAX)
administrative expenses) 9 593 459

The total cash outflow for leases for the year was
approximately HK$17,318,000 (2020: HK$17,003,000).

FRNEBAESHEBNRESREAEY A
FE#17 318,0007T o (ZT T4 : B
17,003,0007T) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o A B ¥R R W Rk

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE T ——F+_-_A=+—HILtFE

18 LEASES (Continued)

(c)

(d)

208

The Group's leasing activities

The Group leases offices and equipment. Rental contracts
are typically made for fixed periods of 3 years except for
short-term leases.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The
lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than
the security interests in the leased assets that are held by
the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.

Termination options

Termination options are included in a number of property
and equipment leases across the Group. These are used
to maximise operational flexibility in terms of managing
the assets used in the Group’s operations. The majority of
termination options held are exercisable by both parties.
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A B S 55 Ak W RE
—e-— 4t -A=t—AILFE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 # =

= __

19 BREE

Software
development
License costs Total
PRI BRMFBARERRAR Fetc)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT I BET T BT T
At 1 January 2020 R-ZE—ETF—H—H
Cost D& 783 22,037 22,820
Accumulated amortisation BTN (508) (11,018) (11,526)
Net book amount BREFE 275 11,019 11,294
Year ended 31 December 2020 HE_ZT-THF
+-A=+—HIFE
Opening net book amount HAWIERE B 275 11,019 11,294
Amortisation charge (Note 9) B R (9 (256) (4,440) (4,696)
Exchange differences MEH =5 3 483 486
Closing net book amount HREREFE 22 7,062 7,084
At 31 December 2020 RZZEZTF
+—A=+—H
Cost BN 836 23,539 24,375
Accumulated amortisation BT (814) (16,477) (17,291)
Net book amount REFE 22 7,062 7,084
Year ended 31 December 2021 #HBE—ZT=—%f
+ZA=+—HLEFE
Opening net book amount HAWIERE B 22 7,062 7,084
Amortisation charge (Note 9) BiEE A (9 (22) (4,768) (4,790)
Exchange differences PEH =% - 122 122
Closing net book amount HREREFE - 2,416 2,416
At 31 December 2021 R-ZZBEZ—F
+=BA=+—H
Cost AR 858 24,165 25,023
Accumulated amortisation R #EE (858) (21,749) (22,607)
Net book amount REFE - 2,416 2,416

B35 P S AT A M ER 2 AR K978 4,768,000 7T
(ZEZFF : B%4,440,0007T) RITHF X
A5 ¥E22,000T (ZE ZFF - B 256,000
o) °

Amortisation charge are included in cost of revenue of
approximately HK$4,768,000 (2020: HK$4,440,000) and
administrative expenses of approximately HK$22,000 (2020:
HK$256,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o A B ¥R R W Rk

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE T ——F+_-_A=+—HILtFE

20 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 20 RERESMERMIA

The Group holds the following financial instruments: REEFETYSHT
2021 2020
—E-—F T TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T T IT
Financial assets SRMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost: REHEX T ENSRIEE
Trade receivables FEUER SR 136,088 78,526
Other financial assets at amortised cost H AR SRR AR 2 8
TRIEE 277,732 145,596
Cash and cash equivalents RekHeEE 115,369 142,140
Financial assets at FVTPL: BAFEFGTABRZ
TREE :
Film rights investments BERNRERE 247,770 164,331
Hong Kong listed equity securities BB LTRAES 3,409 =
780,368 530,593
Financial liabilities EA= =N
Financial liabilities at amortised cost: REEATENSRIBE
Trade and other payables R AT B 0 B L P A< KR (171,384) (72,895)
Film investment funds from investors KREREENEZIRENE (197,332) (107,565)
Amount due to a related party FEfT— R RBEEA LT RIE (15,137) -
Borrowings EE (100,281) (50,036)
Lease liabilities HEAE (22,509) (21,277)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL: BEAFEFGTABREZ
SEAE :
Film rights investments BEMERE (1,483) -
(508,126) (251,773)
The Group’s exposure to various risks associated with the REBEgem T REASASERERNHEESA
financial instruments is disclosed in Note 3.1. The maximum o MEARNEANEERRB O AL
exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the FHEeRMEEMNKRAE -
carrying amounts of each class of financial assets mentioned
above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#0055 e ok W ak

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE T - —F+_-_A=+—HItFE

prepayment made by the Group in relation to the distribution right,
broadcasting right, new media broadcasting right and related income

rights of a film.

BEGHEEEERAA -

21 PREPAYMENTS FOR FILM AND TV 21 EERERBIREFE =
PROGRAMMES RIGHTS
2021 2020
- —ZETF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Non-Current FRB
Prepayments for film and TV programmes &5 & B8 B i #ETE 5%
rights (Note (i) (B ) 445,893 374,893
Prepayment for film directors’ fee B EE B TR (FIEE36(0)
(Note 36(b)) 42,863 42,530
488,756 417,423
Current mE
Prepayments for film and TV programmes & & & B8 Bl #ETE 51
rights (Note (if)) (B 3N 394,414 210,865
Total FEk) 883,170 628,288
Notes: Mz
0) The prepayments for film and TV programmes rights represented () ZEREBRBIMERNFIERAERR KT
the prepayments made by the Group to respective parties in relation RAEEREREIRERSHELZEMRK -
to the film and TV programmes rights which is yet to be concluded. ZERNABEN AN ERHEZEYRERE
The prepayments will form part of the contribution by the Group for xR E 25 H HE - HEGZKBES R
the investments in the proposed film and TV programmes rights. The REBRE-—IHETE -
related terms will be further agreed between the respective parties
upon the signing of the agreements.
(i)  The prepayment for film and TV programmes rights represented (il ZEFZRERBREENRIERNEE R —HE

FRVEITHE - EIUE  RTAER IR U SRR
smREVEH AR o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 #;

2T —

Ft-A=+—HIFE

22 FILM AND TV PROGRAMMES RIGHTS 22 & E 18 B i &
2021 2020
SE “E-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT
Film and TV programmes rights completed B =2 B5 & EREIRE 43,145 92,510
Film and TV programmes rights under BUER 2 B2 R ERBIMRAE
production (Note a) (Fizka) 259,415 167,479
Film rights investments (Notes b and c) B RERE (Hbke)
- Financial assets at FVTPL - RATFEFAERZ
SRVEE 247,770 164,331
- Financial liabilities at FVTPL - BRATEFAEBREZ
CRIAE (1,483) -
Licensed film and TV programmes rights R #E 2 B N EHE 5 ik
(Note d) (P 5Ed) 90,559 140,948
639,406 565,268
Represented by: 2575 :
Non-current assets FERBEE 307,296 235,980
Current assets MEVEE 333,593 329,288
Current liabilities mEAE (1,483) -
639,406 565,268
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
#0055 e ok W ak

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 #{Z =& =

—F+t-_HA=1— ElJtiF

22 FILM AND TV PROGRAMMES RIGHTS 22 EXRERBEIREGE)
(Continued)
Film and TV Film and TV Licensed
programmes  programmes film and TV
rights rights under Filmrights  programmes
completed production  investments rights Total
BERZEYR BfweEY ERECEY
EREMRE EREGE  E¥MERE ERAINE e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
As at 1 January 2020 WZZ-FF-f—H 542,783 259,633 99,897 19,634 921,952
Additions i 1214 15,709 22,409 180,002 219,334
Changesin fair values Note )~ AFEEE)(fitic) - - 33,303 - 33,303
Transfer B 109,444 (109,444) - - -
Amortisation (Note 9) B (319) (570,627) - - (67,316) (637,943)
Derecognition RIEHR - - (1,362 - (1.362)
Net impairment loss HEBRFR(E) (k)

(Note 9) (Note a) - 9.117) - - ©.117)
Exchange differences ERER 9,691 10,698 10,084 8,628 39,101
As at 31 December 2020 RZZZBE+-A=1—H 92,510 167,479 164,331 140,948 565,268
Additions 1 569 118,856 171,500 83,017 373,942
Changesin fairvalues Note ¢) A TFEZE) (fitc) - - 75,586 - 75,586
Transfer g% 25,010 (25,010) - - -
Amortisation (Note 9) B (M9 (76,269) - - (136,409) (212,678)
Derecognition or settlement RIERRAEE - (5,890) (170,548) - (176,438)
Net impairment loss FEEEFE (9 (fita)

(Note 9) (Note a) - (1,998) - - (1,998)
Exchange differences ERER 1,325 5,978 5,418 3,003 15,724
As at 31 December 2021 R-E--£+-A=t-AH 43,145 259,415 246,287 90,559 639,406
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 #{ £ =% =

22 FILM AND TV PROGRAMMIES RIGHTS
(Continueq)

Notes:

@)

214

During the year, the Group has recognised a net provision for
impairment of film and TV programmes rights under production of
approximately HK$1,998,000 (2020: HK$9,117,000).

The balance represented the Group’s investments in film productions
which entitled the Group to predetermined percentage of income to
be generated from the films based on the Group’s investment portion
as specified in respective film rights investments agreements.

During the year, the Group has recognised film investment income,
net, amounted to approximately HK$75,586,000 (2020: HK$33,303,000)
based on the Group’s investment portion as specified in respective
film rights investments agreements.

The balance represented the acquired license rights from independent
third parties for broadcasting licensed films or TV programmes series
on the Group's online video platform and sub-licensing the license
rights to other independent third parties, if applicable.

The Group has entered into certain joint operation arrangements
to produce and distribute four films (2020: four). The Group has
participating interests ranging from 50% to 57% (2020: Same) in these
joint operations. As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amounts of
intangible assets recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position relating to the Group’s interests in these joint operation
arrangements are approximately HK$88,053,000 (2020: HK$44,735,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE T - —F+_-_A=+—HItFE

23 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, 23 BEWERFREMERFIE  Z$
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS RIS
2021 2020
—E-—-F —E-THF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT
Trade receivables JFE U AR X
- Share of box office income - ShERRA 1,183 1,152
= Sub-licensing of film and TV - HERELREHBINRE
programmes rights 18,453 35,029
- Film rights investments - ERRERE 122,472 49,747
- Others - H 970 1,204
143,078 87,132
Loss allowances (Note 3.1(b)) ErtE B s (BT5E3.1(0) (6,990) (8,6006)
136,088 78,526
Deposits e 6,426 6,395
Prepayments (Note (i) iENENCEE0)) 139,547 93,620
Other receivables (Notes (i) and (iii)) At L 0 (B (i) R (i) 303,541 164,306
Loss allowances (Note 3.1(b)) B R (M sE3.1(0) (3,954) (1,109)
445,560 263,212
581,648 341,738
Represented by: EVly=T
Trade receivables FEULAR X 136,088 78,526
Deposits e 2,820 694
Prepayments TERTK 41,664 62,418
Other receivables E b pE U kI8 303,541 164,306
Loss allowances EIE R A (3,879) (1,007)
Current portion BIHEAES 5 480,234 304,937
Deposits b 3,606 5,701
Prepayments SN B 97,883 31,202
Loss allowances gt (75) (102)
Non-current portion JERNEREL 2 101,414 36,801
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23 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

Notes:

(i)

(iif)

216

The prepayments mainly represented the prepayments made by the
Group in relation to a) pre-production development of identifiable
film and TV programme projects; b) acquisition of licensed film rights
from independent third parties for broadcasting on the Group's online
video platform; and c) co-membership arrangement with other online
platforms operated by different business partners.

As at 31 December 2021, other receivables included short-term loan
receivables net of loss allowances of approximately HK$202,465,000
(2020: HK$124,911,000). The loan receivables from independent third
parties of approximately HK$67,580,000 (2020: HK$71,948,000) carried
interest at 10% per annum, HK$29,891,000 (2020: Nil) carried interest
at 6% per annum and interest-free loan receivables of approximately
HK$104,994,000 (2020: HK$52,963,000).

Other receivables include pledged deposit of HK$48,520,000 (2020: Nil)
which was used to secure a borrowing of HKK$48,918,000 (2020: Nil)
(Note 28).
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE T - —F+_-_A=+—HItFE

23 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, 23 BERERRKRHEMEWIRE @ &S
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued) REMRGE)
Trade and other receivables, deposits and prepayments are FEWLAR SR I HoAth FE R IR ~ e RIERTKTD
denominated in the following currencies: IANBEEETE -
2021 2020
—EB-—F —ETEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
RMB ARE 261,845 205,699
HK$ s 291,305 129,691
usD e 28,498 6,348
581,648 341,738
At 31 December, the ageing analysis of the trade receivables, RTZA=+—8 ' ERERONREBEE)
net of loss allowances, presented based on invoice date or date BREAHNEERRABBEN ZRE DT
of settlement statement are as follows: I N
2021 2020
—E-—% —T-TH
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT
0— 30 days 0230H 105,317 30,108
3190 days 31290H 834 -
181 — 365 days 181£365H 2,080 3,610
Over 365 days 3658 A+ 27,857 44,808
136,088 78,526
The credit period is generally within 30 days from invoice date WMEAHEMAEIR  EERATAEEAN
or the date when the settlement statement is duly confirmed as SAEE MBI ER 2 BE0ARA -

stipulated in the respective agreements.

Due to the short-term nature of the current receivables, their AR BHE R IEME L FEA - HBRE
carrying amounts are considered to be the same as their fair BEEARREA N EER -
values.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE T ——F+_-_A=+—HILtFE

24 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

24 BERNFEFABGEZEHEE

The Group classifies equity investments that are held for trading REEBHIEX S 2 REREDERIEAF

as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial assets mandatorily measured at FVTPL include the
following:

Bt NBmZEREE -

BREHBEATEAABRTENEREEN
TS 8

2021 2020

—B-—F —ETF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT BT T

Hong Kong listed equity securities BB LR ES 3,409 =

See Note 2.12 for the remaining relevant accounting policies. BT EBEERTBR - F2HHE2120

Amounts recognised in profit or 10ss RIBas iR 2 FE

During the year, the following gains were recognised in profit or FA - UTHREEREEER

loss:

2021 2020
—E-— —E-FTF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT

Net fair value gain on equity investments BAFER AR KiE

at FVTPL recognised in other gains BERE SR

NFEWRSFE 3,008 =

Risk exposure and fair value measurements B O R A FEEE
Information about the Group’s exposure to price risk is provided
in Note 3.1. For information about the methods and assumptions
used in determining fair value see Note 3.3.

BRAREEERERRM O E R M
31 FABEAFEMBZINERBERNE
£t F2HME3S -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE T - —F+_-_A=+—HItFE

25 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 25 RERAELEE

2021 2020
—Eo—f —EoTF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
Cash at banks RITRE 115,264 142,054
Cash on hand BEMBES 105 86
115,369 142,140

Cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the following RERREFETIATIEEE -

currencies:

2021 2020
—E-—F —ETHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
HKS ot 34,670 117,815
RMB AR 74,240 22,936
Others HAth 6,459 1,389
115,369 142,140

RITEHREE S BREAEEMFRES RIEN
F0.01%FE0.35%(—ZFE —Z4F : BRE) ZFEF
Rit S BRFBAAA=EA AR B
T1ER »

Bank balances and cash comprised of cash held by the Group
and short-term bank deposits that are interest-bearing ranging
from 0.01% to 0.35% (2020: Same) per annum and have original
maturity of three months or less.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group has cash and bank RZE-_—F+-_A=+—H xEE#%
balances amounting to approximately HK$80,656,000 (2020: AERPEEBEENBE S RIBITES LB
HK$23,991,000) which are held in the PRC. These cash and 80,656,0007T (ZZ =T 4 : ##23,991,000
bank balances are subject to the rule and regulations of foreign T0) ° i FHE RIBITEBE B B EAT RS H
exchange control promulgated by the PRC government. SNEE BEAAGIRE -

REGREBARAT - —F--FFR 219
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE T ——F+_-_A=+—HILtFE

26 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 26 EAEBRRREMENSKIE
2021 2020
—E-—F ZEFF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT
Trade payables FEFTER X 165,318 58,490
Other payables H b A 5RIE 12,819 16,923
Accruals EETER 10,672 10,564
188,809 85,977

The carrying amounts of trade and other payables approximated ENEZNEMEMNRENREOEEE QAT
their fair values. BAEHE -

At 31 December, the ageing analysis of the trade payables based R+ZA=+—8 ENEXRERZEZHH

on invoice date or date of settlement statement are as follows: NEERRBHBEY ZBREBOTOT ¢
2021 2020
—E-—F —TE-TH
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BEETFIT
0—30 days 0%£30H 243 20,255
31—-90 days 31290H 1,132 2,384
181 — 365 days 1812 365H 102,482 4,289
Over 365 days 365H A £ 61,461 31,562
165,318 58,490

Trade and other payables are denominated in the following

%1#%%&&%{@%1#%1/@}3J,\/(—ltgljigb\’%g_l_

currencies: 1B :
2021 2020
—E-—-F —EoFF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BETIT
RMB AR 169,566 72,543
HKS$ ot 19,243 13,407
Others HAi - 27
188,809 85,977
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE T - —F+_-_A=+—HItFE

FILM INVESTMENT FUNDS FROM
INVESTORS

The amounts represent investments made by certain investors in
respect of film rights held by the Group. In accordance with the
terms of the respective investment agreements, the investors
are entitled to recoup their investment amounts as appropriate
by the predetermined percentage of income to be generated
from the theatrical release of the films. The financial liabilities
were measured at amortised cost.

During the year, the Group recognised a gain on film investments
from investors amounted to approximately HK$273,000 (2020:
HK$21,168,000) upon the theatrical release of the respective
film because the net proceeds entitled by the investors in
accordance with the respective investment agreement was less
than the film investment funds contributed by the investors.

27

REREENEXRENIEA

ZERREETREENAKEMMBHERR
BIFELMIRE - REBEEBRE BRA R
BREEAREEABENLADEEZNE
AR ERRPTE A MU A AN @ B R A £ 5 (1058
) - ZEEMAERDIRBHNAGTE -

FA-AREREX G LREREZRER
BENERIRE 2 W #B%273,000T(=F
ZTF : HB%21,168,0007T) - REARIZEE
RIFAARIR B A RE MM S KIRFR
BERREEMBENEZRENA -

BORROWINGS 28 &
2021 2020
—E-—F —EEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BEET T
Unsecured borrowing IR R IE K 51,363 50,036
Secured borrowing (Note) B HEAE K G 48,918 -
100,281 50,036
Note: The borrowing was secured by pledged deposit of HK$48,520,000 MIaE : ZIERAE IR S B48,520,000L(ZE=F

(2020: Nil) (Note 23).

As at 31 December 2021, the borrowings were interest-free and
repayable within one year (2020: Same).

The fair values of the borrowings are not materially different to
their carrying amounts, due to short-term in nature.

BEGHEEEERAA -

F B EE R (GRE23) -

RZB-_—F+-A=+—0  ZEX"/*
BERAR—FAER(CZE_FF R -

HRBRESTE  ZEEFNAFEERE
EETESRER -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 2 —ZE - —&F+=-A=

29 DEFERRED INCOME TAX

The analysis of deferred income tax is as follows:

T—RIEFE

29 EIEFFBH

BEFEHROMAT

2021 2020
—EB-—F —EEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Deferred tax assets BLEHIREE 7,270 8,985
Deferred tax liabilities BELEFIEEE (21,947) (8,985)
(14,677) -
Movements on the deferred income tax account are as follow: BEFSHER2BEHOT ¢
Deferred tax Deferred tax
liabilities assets Net total
ELEBEBEERE ELEBBEEE FREAE
Changes in fair
value of
film rights
investments Tax loss
BEYIREREZ
AFEEE HIEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BT
At 1 January 2020 RZE-ZEF—HF—H = = =
(Charged)/credited to consolidated (0 B), A&z AExH
statement of profit or loss and MEMEEKER
other comprehensive income (8,474) 8,474 -
Exchange differences EH Z%E (511) 511 -
At 31 December 2020 RZEZTF
+=—A=+—H (8,985) 8,985 -
At 1 January 2021 R-ZZE-_—%—A—H (8,985) 8,985 -
Charged to consolidated MR B Em R EAM
statement of profit or loss and 2EKEE
other comprehensive income (12,550) (1,927) (14,477)
Exchange differences fEHZ% (412) 212 (200)
At 31 December 2021 R=ZT=—F
+=A=+—H (21,947) 7,270 (14,677)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HiEZE—ZE - —&F+_-_A=+—H Jtir

DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unrecognised
tax losses of HK$753,297,000 (2020: HK$515,709,000) available
for offset against future profits of which the amount of
approximately HK$402,281,000 (2020: HK$391,210,000) may be
carried forward indefinitely and the amount of HK$351,016,000
(2020: HK$124,499,000) will be expired in five years from the year
of assessment.

Deferred income tax liabilities of approximately HK$9,507,000
(2020: HK$18,343,000) have not been provided for the
withholding tax that would be payable on the unremitted
earnings of subsidiaries of approximately HK$95,068,000 (2020:
HK$183,428,000) in the PRC. The unremitted earnings are used
for reinvestment. The income tax liability is not recognised,
because the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of
the temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

9 IESEFT

BHE)

RIREHIR - AL B A K 8 8 s A 2 ok

R IEEE BB 753,297,000 (—ZF =
T4F ¢ #6515,709,0007T) ¢ HAR AL EE
402,281,0007c(ZF = Z4F : #%391,210,000
E)TEBEHH La K A EE# 351,016,000
—E-TFE : B#124,499,0007T) 1 B 7 EL
FERBRAAFTFRER °

EIEFTS R B ELE9,507,000t (ZE=F
F : ##18,343,0007T) W £ FLH B R R AR
FE B A 4978 895,068,000 (ZE -4 :
75 15183,428,0007T) 1A HR B FE < 2 TE IO 5T 4
BiE RELBANDDARBIRE - ISHEA
BARTHER - HEARE BT %U%@E&'HT
ERoRHEABRREENA A ARRE AL
gHE -

SHARE CAPITAL 30 ®A&
Number of
shares Share capital
RO EE [N
HK$'000
BT T
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each BREEB0.01T2EER
Authorised: EIE
At 1 January 2020, 31 December 2020, RZZT_TF—H—AH-
1 January 2021 and 31 December 2021 —E-FF+=ZA=+—H"
T —F-RF—AK
T —F+-A=+—H 50,000,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRHARE :
At 1 January 2020 RZE-TF—H—H 3,154,655,408 31,547
Issue of ordinary shares (Note 1) BT E AR () 346,626,954 3,466
Cancellation of ordinary shares (Note 2) FEiEEm AR (f5E2) (28,550,000) (286)
At 31 December 2020 RZZE_ZEF+-_A=+—AH 3,472,732,362 34,727
Issue of ordinary shares (Note 3) BITE AR (FTEE3) 218,130,000 2,181
Cancellation of ordinary shares (Note 4) ERi R g G ) (34,390,000) (343)
At 31 December 2021 R-B=Z—-H+=ZA=+—H 3,656,472,362 36,565
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE T ——F+_-_A=+—HILtFE

30 SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Note 1:

Note 2:

Note 3:

Note 4:

224

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company entered
into the subscription agreement with Bilibili Inc. (“Bilibili"),
pursuant to which Bilibili has conditionally agreed to subscribe
for, and the Company has conditionally agreed to allot and issue
to Bilibili, 346,626,954 ordinary shares at the subscription price of
HK$1.48 per share. The gross proceeds and net proceeds raised
from the subscription were approximately HK$513,008,000 and
HK$511,700,000 respectively. The subscription was completed on
21 September 2020.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company repurchased 29,790,000 ordinary shares
from the market from 3 December 2020 to 21 December 2020. The
shares repurchased was approved by shareholders at last year's
annual general meeting. The shares were acquired at an average
price of HK$1.29 per share, with prices ranging from HK$1.00 to
HK$1.36. The total amount paid to acquire the shares including
transaction costs was approximately HK$38,515,000. As at 31
December 2021, 28,550,000 ordinary shares repurchased have
been cancelled and the respective consideration paid including
transaction costs of approximately HK$36,902,000 has been
deducted from share capital and share premium. For the remaining
ordinary shares repurchased but have not been cancelled as at
the end of reporting period of HK$1,613,000, they were deducted
from equity attributable to the owners of the Company as treasury
shares.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company entered
into the placing agreement with a placing agent. Upon completion
of the placing agreement on 5 May 2021, an aggregate of
218,130,000 ordinary shares were placed to not fewer than six
placees, at the placing price of HK$2.15 per placing share. The
gross proceeds and net proceeds raised from the placement were
approximately HK$468,980,000 and HK$467,279,000 respectively.

A wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company repurchased
33,150,000 ordinary shares from the market from 1 June 2021 to 29
July 2021. The shares were acquired at an average price of HK$1.80
per share, with prices ranging from HK$1.50 to HK$1.95. The total
amount paid to acquire the shares including transaction costs was
approximately HK$59,959,000. During the year ended 31 December
2021, 33,150,000 ordinary shares repurchased and 1,240,000
treasury shares at the beginning of reporting period, have been
cancelled and approximately HK$61,572,000 has been deducted
from share capital and share premium.

30 BRAE(#E

PEET -

MaE2

M3 -

ks -

REE-_ZT-TF+-_A=+—HBIFE -
KX A 0 AR R R AR (D A PR A | ([ 1R g g
1B ET R - IR - IREIREE F K
HRZRE - MARQBEBIEMGREmEE
NG N i 3 I 25 17346,626,9540% L EA% - REE
BETRIDEEE.48TT - REFERER
TBXE8 K F 5 Bl A #075%513,008,0007T &
75#511,700,0007T - REBEHEER T -F
FRAZ+—HZEK -

REBEE-_E-_TF+-_A=+—H01LFE "
AARET—H2EMNBRARAIR-_S_TF
+-A=BE-_ZE-_THX+-_A=-+—H
HiE ™ 5 L B E29,790,0000% L@ - B8
BRHEREFRRBEFAS FEREI
o ZERMOFHRBELTRAEE129
JC BRNTEE1.00TT 2B 1367 © I
BROZENBE(BEISKN) D ES
#38,515,0007C c R—TE-—F+=-A=+
— 0B - FrE&[E 2 28,550,0000% & @A% 2 T 5
M ENEBRE(EERSEAE) LB
36,902,0007T B #E B AR R AR 0 5 (B R 0k o
HERESHER S TABLREMREH T
AR S 1,613,0007T BIE fE B EF MDA
ARIHEA AEEERP R

RBE-_ZT-_—F+=ZA=+—HLHF
B ARREREREITIEEHE - ©
T FRARAEKREEHEER  AX
218,130,0000% & @R AL & F T D 7S B &
RA - BEEAERESRMHEE2.155T -
& BB RIERE R FES R ANAELE
468,980,0007T K & #467,279,0007T ©

ARRET—EE2EMNBRATR_ZTE=_—F
ANE—BE-_Z-_—F+tA-+NBHH
™5 LB 33,150,000 & iEA% o 5% /%
MEHFEHREEAESRER1.80T - BRN
TAE1 50T EBE1.957T - WEKRMKH 2B
a8 (BIER B A) 4 /7% 59,959,000
TLeREBE_TE-_—F+-_A=1+—HIF
- FrB8 [ 2 33,150,0000% & 5@ A% K A 3R &5
B P8 [El 2 1,240,000 EF KM E FiE
4 - #4078 861,572,0007T B 7 B AN B2 B A7 35
B0k ©
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31 RESERVES 31 &

Attributable to owners of the Company

KAAREEAER
Share-based Accumulated
Share payment  Translation losses
premium reserve reserve (Note) Total
URGAER ZitER
R A5 ME ARz E R fE (H=E) am
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
At 1 January 2020 R-E-ZF—f—H 2,631,127 91,798 (16,769) (1,607,473) 1,098,683
Loss for the year TEEER - - - (236,391) (236,391)
Other comprehensive income Hth2Ehas - - 72,204 - 72,204
Total comprehensive income/(loss)  AEE 2 EUE,/ (B5E)
for the year fEk] - - 72,204 (236,391) (164,187)
Transactions with owners; BEBANRS -
Issue of orclinary shares, net of BITEBR
transaction costs (HBRZZHKE) 508,234 - - - 508,234
Share option scheme: BiriEsral:
-value of services provided -BRERE 2 EE = 7,205 = = 7,205
Shares repurchased BERH (36,616) - = = (36,616)
471,618 7,205 - - 478,823
At 31 December 2020 RZZ_TF
+-A=+-H 3,102,745 99,003 55,435 (1,843,864) 1,413,319
At 1 January 2021 R-E--%-5—-H 3,102,745 99,003 55,435 (1,843,864) 1,413,319
Loss for the year ~EEBA - - - (235,557) (235,557)
Other comprehensive income Hip 2wl - - 34,461 - 34,461
Total comprehensive income/  AEE2E K%/ (8)
(loss) for the year he - - 34,461 (235,557) (201,096)
Transactions with owners: BREEANRS
Issue of ordlinary shares, net of BITLER
transaction costs (IR BHA) 465,098 - - - 465,098
Share option scheme: BiRiETE
- value of services provided -EREREEE - 2,612 - - 2,612
Shares repurchased BERH (61,229) - - - (61,229)
403,869 2,612 - - 406,481
At 31 December 2021 R-B=-F
+=A=+-H 3,506,614 101,615 89,896 (2,079,421) 1,618,704
BEEEEEARLAT - —E=—FFH 225
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31

226

RESERVES (Continued)

Note: The capital reserve arising from the Group reorganisation represents
the difference between the nominal value of the share capital issued
by the Company in exchange for the aggregate nominal values of
the share capital of the subsidiaries amounted to approximately
HK$2,099,000 (2020: Same) is included in the accumulated losses.

The contributed surplus represents the aggregate amounts of capital
reduction and share premium cancellation attributable to the capital
restructuring and the capital reorganisation of the Company during
prior years amounted to approximately HK$149,220,000 (2020: Same)
is included in accumulated losses.
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31 #EE)

MaE

SEEHELZEARBIEARA AR
W A R PR 81T 2 AR 2 E{E B2 Y
B2 R AR TE B 2 2= R AYE 6 2,099,0007T
(ZZ=%F : HR) - ARG EE -

BRRBREANARBAEFEARRNEE R
HﬂkiﬁﬁﬁizEM\JM&M’J}E&F?%E@
KL FEXEIE149,220,0007C(—E - FF ¢
HE) - st AREESE -
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32 NOTE TO CASH FLOW STATEMENT 32 REREKME
2021 2020
—B-—-F —TFF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt &E BETT ST IT
Loss before income tax from: KRB THEENBRABH
AIEE
Continuing operations BEREEK (220,020) (240,157)
Discontinued operations BRI 35 - 2,138
Loss before income tax including BRFTSHAIEE (B
discontinued operations ERIEKE ) (220,020) (238,019)
Adjustments for: BMTYEIRFE -
Depreciation of property, plantand ~ #1% - BERREZ
equipment e 1,747 1,928
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ {FREEEZITE 15,066 15,941
Amortisation of film and TV B REREIREZ
programmes rights 5 212,678 637,943
Amortisation of intangible assets B EEBE 4,790 4,696
Net impairment losses on film and B RERBINRE S
TV programmes right EEIB TR 1,998 9,117
Net impairment losses on financial ~ €RMEENMENEEZ
assets and contract assets REBEFE 998 9,252
Gain on disposal of a group of HE—ERBARZ
subsidiaries e - (871)
Non-cash employee benefit FReRREBHNRAYL -
expenses — share-based VARS 17 B EERE 2 K
payments 2,612 7,205
Finance (income)/costs, net G INYE -
HEE (2,388) 5,088
Net fair value gain on financial BAVEGFABRZ
assets at fair value through profit i%ﬂﬁéﬂ’]’&iﬂﬁ
and loss W ah 558 (3,008) =
Loss on disposal of property, plant HEWE - BE K&E
and equipment 2 518 4 -
Gain on film investment funds from  RERBHNBEZ KA
investors FRIB 2 Wk (273) (21,168)
Operating cash flows before working &8 & & # B) pi] 2 4L &
capital changes Remne 14,204 431,112
Changes in working capital: LEESEY) :
Trade and other receivables JFEE M5 AR 5 B L At B LKL
IE (275,491) (207,003)
Contract assets GBHEE 27,609 (33,846)
Film and TV programmes rights B R EREINRE (222,825) (118,965)
Prepayments of film and TV B R BB E
programmes rights TERTK (236,019) (232,263)
Trade and other payables JE AT B R T L h FE AT
A 107,614 (18,971)
Film investment funds from REBREENELRE
investors I8 86,000 (67,415)
Contract liabilities aHaE 30,627 (280,899)
Cash used in operations REEXKMEAZES (468,281) (528,250)
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32 NOTE TO CASH FLOW STATEMENT 32 RERERWFE)
(Continued)
In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds from RIFERETERAN  HEWE  BERX
disposal of property, plant and equipment comprise: HRTERIERE -
2021 2020
—EB-—F —ETEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Cost disposed HE KA 10 =
Accumulated depreciation ZEHTE (3) -
Loss on disposal of property, plant LEWE  BEERREZ
and equipment 518 (4) -
3 —
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32 NOTE TO CASH FLOW STATEMENT 32 HeRERMEFHE)
(Continued)
(@) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (@) REMETEZ2EEHK
financing activities
Interest
payable
included in Amount due
other  Borrowings  to arelated Lease
payables (Note 28) party liabilities Total
AR AR fBR  EN-£HE
REZEAHE (BitaE28) ALTRE HESE -
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BRI AT AT AETTL BRI

At 1 January 2020 R-Z-%F-f—-H - 50,000 - 36,894 86,894
Financing cash flows, net BERERE TR (100 (2,809 - (16,544) (19,453)
Lease modification REBI - - - (1,000) (1,000
Accrued interest expenses RIS AT 7,531 = = 1,244 8,775
Exchange differences ERES 448 2,845 - 683 3976
At 31 December 2020 RZZ-ZF

+-A=t-H 7879 50,036 - 21277 79,192
At 1 January 2021 RZE=-%-H-H 7,879 50,036 - 21,277 79,192
Financing cash flows, net RERENE T8 (13,410) 48,251 15,137 (16,725) 33,253
Lease modification BEET - - - 17,166 17,166
Accrued interest expenses FEAMERR 5,432 - - 631 6,063
Exchange differences B ER 99 1,994 - 160 2,253
At 31 December 2021 RZBZ-&

+ZA=+-H - 100,281 15,137 22,509 137,927
The table above details changes in the Group’s liabilities LRFVNAEEEARMEETDEECAR
arising from financing activities, including both cash BE - pREASRIESED - BEE
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing BEAZABREREREXRKRE N
activities are those for which cash flows were, or future EYRALEESRABESRERTHIES
cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated REGEHELECRERECAE -
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing
activities.
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32 NOTE TO CASH FLOW STATEMENT 32 BEREXRMTE)
(Continued)
(b) Material non-cash transactions (b) EXFRERS
During the year, the Group has transferred prepayments FR - AKECEBREYREREINR
for film and TV programmes rights amounted to WETES FR A B 50,265,000 (ZE=F
approximately HK$50,265,000 (2020: HK$132,310,000). F : 1132,310,0007T) ©
Non-cash investing activities HBEERETE
2021 2020
—EB-—F —EEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Lease modification HEEBE] (17,166) (1,000)
33 COMMITMENTS 33 &iE
2021 2020
—E- —TE-TH
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T ST IT

commitments in respect of the acquisition FLIEE M EUWEE

and production of film and TV BARBINRIE P {E 2

programmes rights contracted for but (BETAIMARERE

not provided in the consolidated financial B TR X %)

statements 505,071 447,223
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34 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Share option scheme

Pursuant to the resolution passed at the annual general meeting
held on 17 June 2014, the Company’s shareholders approved
the adoption of a share option scheme (the “Scheme”). The
Scheme became valid and effective for a period of 10 years
commencing on 17 June 2014. The Company operates the
Scheme for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to
eligible participants who have made or may make contribution
to the Group. The eligible participants of the Scheme include the
Company’s or its subsidiaries’ directors, employees, and any
business consultants, agents, financial or legal advisers and any
other persons whom the board of directors of the Company (the
“Board”) may determine, at its sole discretion, will contribute or
have contributed to the Group.

The share options may be exercised in accordance with the
terms of the Scheme at any time within the period commencing
from the date of grant of the share options and expiring on the
date determined by the Company’s directors, but in any event
such exercise period shall not be more than 10 years from the
date of grant of the share options. The amount payable on the
acceptance of a share option is HK$1 (or such other nominal
sum in any currency as the board of directors of the Company
may determine).

34 LR RER 2K

BRAESTE

REXR-_ZF-—OFATEABRTZERE
FRELBBIRBR  NARRRILER
Mm— AR 8 (%8 - Zt8a =%
—OEANATEARER  BRHBTEF -
ARBIRILZTE - AREL BB C LKA
REHAKBEELEMZAERSEE - X
FHEZAERZEEREARBLENE R
AIZER - RBE  ARMEMEBER - K32
A MBIERERRARAEZTS((EF
NA2ENBRAEAKRESEH AR
EEHERMZEMEMAL -

BhRETERLEREZAEEARAES
BE 2B - EIM AR R B Z T 8l IRR T
ATTE - HEZITRHBEEEEBER T T EE
BEREAEERE L DR TF - BRBK
RENSBEABBIT(HARAEESAR
BEZATMESTEIHOREAEESEE) -
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34 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued) 34 LR BERZNRE)

Share option scheme (Continued)

The exercise price of the share options shall be determined by
the board of directors of the Company, but shall not be less than
the highest of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheet on the date
of grant, which must be a business day; (i) the average closing
price of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange'’s
daily quotations sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the
Company's share.

The maximum number of shares in the Company in respect of
which the share options may be granted under the Scheme and
any other share option schemes of the Company is not permitted
to exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at the date of approval of the Scheme by the Company’s
shareholders (the “Scheme Mandate Limit"), or, if such 10%
limit is refreshed, as at the date of approval of the renewal of
the Scheme Mandate Limit by the Company’s shareholders.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the maximum number of the
Company’s shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding share options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company shall not exceed 30% of the Company’s shares in issue
from time to time.

The total number of shares of the Company already issued and
to be issued upon exercise of all the share options granted to
each participant in any 12-month period up to and including
the date such new grant is not permitted to exceed 1% of the
total number of the Company’s shares in issue as at the date
of such grant. Any further grant of share options in excess of
this 1% limit shall be subject to the approval of the Company's
shareholders in general meeting.
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34 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued) 34 UIRHHBERZARE)

Share option scheme (Continued) BRESTEE)

Each grant of share options to a substantial shareholder or an R EZE R BEEEXE B B EmA1218 A
independent non-executive director of the Company or any of Bl MARR —RBEERER—BBILIE
their respective associates in excess of 0.1% of the Company’s HITESHAFRESEZ2EMNBRALTREZ
shares in issue and with an aggregate value in excess of EREBBEAARSEITROMN01%REE
HK$5,000,000 in any 12-month period up to and including E4AZE R IBAEES,000,0007T @ HBEEBARA
the date of such grant must be approved in advance by the AR E B o

Company's shareholders.

Average

exercise price
per share Number of
option share options

BRBEREZ

FI9ITEE BRERE

At 1 January 2020, 31 December 2020, RZZEZTF—H—H HK$2.08 130,700,000
1 January 2021 and 31 December 2021 —ZE-FEF+-A=+—8H" 72 087
—F-—F—A—AK
—E-—F+=-RA=+—H

Vested and exercisable at R-B-_—F+=-A=+—H HK$2.08 130,700,000
31 December 2021 ERBRATHE 7 #2.085T
Vested and exercisable at 31 December2020 R-_ZE-_ZHF+_-HF=+—H HK$2.08 130,700,000
BB RATTE 72 087
No options was exercised or lapsed during the periods covered ERIREMNIHBRRLEBREEITFESRK
by the above tables. o
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34 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued) 34

Share option scheme (Continued)

Share options outstanding at the end of the year have the
following expiry date and exercise prices:

URGOHBER AR E)
BRESEI(E)

FREMAITENEREZ BB A RITEEWD
™

Share options Share options

31 December 31 December
Grant Date Expiry date Exercise price 2021 2020
—E-—-F —E-THF
+=ZA=+—-H8 +=ZHA=+—H
g l=p 2 A THEE ZiERE 2 BB
27 April 2018 17 June 2024 HK$2.08 130,700,000 130,700,000
—E-N\FmA=++tH —E-ERA+TER BE208T
Weighted average remaining contractual life of options
outstanding at the end of period 2.47 years 3.47 years
BRI ARATIR B AR 2 IR IR T & W A 2.47%F 3.47F
Fair value of options granted ERHBREN 2 FE

The fair value at grant date is independently determined using
an adjusted form of the Black Scholes Model with Binomial Tree
Method which includes a Binomial Tree model that takes into
account the stock price, the exercise price, the time to maturity,
the risk-free rate, the dividend yield and volatilities of comparable
companies, the sub-optimal factor, and the forfeiture rate.

The model inputs for options granted in 2018 included:

(@) options are granted for consideration of HK$1 and vested
period of three years from the employment date of the
respective employees. Vested options are exercisable
before expiry date

(b)  exercise price: HK$2.08

(c) grant date: 27 April 2018

(d)  expiry date: 17 June 2024

(e) time to maturity: 6.15 years
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

Share option scheme (Continued)

Fair value of options granted (Continued)

()  share price at grant date: HK$2.08

(g) risk-free interest rate: 1.91%

(h)  expected dividend yield: 0%

() expected price volatility of the company’s shares: 48.38%
()  forfeiture rate: 0 to 16.35%

(k) fair value per share option: HK$0.72

The expected price volatility is based on the historic volatility
(based on the remaining life of the options), adjusted for any
expected changes to future volatility due to publicly available
information.

During the year, the share-based payments to employees were
approximately HK$2,612,000 (2020: HK$7,205,000) (Note 10).

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

0On 9 October 2020, the Group entered into a disposal agreement
with an independent third party to dispose the entire equity
interests in a group of wholly-owned subsidiaries at total
consideration of HK$10,000. The disposal is effective from
9 October 2020 and is reported in the current period as a
discontinued operation in the current period.

On 9 October 2020, the Group also decided to cease the
operation and applied for deregistration of a subsidiary within
other segment. As such, it has been reported as a discontinued
operation in the current period. Financial information relating
to the discontinued operations for the current period is set out
below.
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35 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued) 35 BRIER&EEKE)

The financial performance and cash flow information presented WBRBARRESREERZMMOT ¢

236

are as follows:

2020
—EoFF
HK$'000
BT
Other gain H bz 1,268
Administrative expenses ITHREX Q)
Profit before income tax B P15 350 A& A 1,267
Income tax credit ik 1,628
Profit after income tax credit of BRI TSR TS IR
discontinued operations 1% m T 2,895
Gain on disposal of a group of subsidiaries & — 48 B 2 FIkk
after income tax Frig g e 871
Profit from discontinued operations B BRI E TS 2w T 3,766
Profit from discontinued operations RE BRI EERH
before income tax credit BRETSTE 2 A= 7 2,138
Net cash generated from operating activities K EBFTEE RS FHE 1
Net cash generated from financing activities BMEESAEE RS FHE 26
Net increase in cash generated by the subsidiaries MEBARMELRS ZIEINFE 27
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35 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued) 35

The aggregate net liabilities disposed of in respect of the disposal

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
0 U5 A W Bk

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 #{Z =& =

—Ft=A=T—BLFE

CRIEEEXK(E)

FREHE AMBARERNMEERE

of the above subsidiaries during the year are as follows: FEBTENT -
2020
—EoFF
HK$'000
BT T
Net liabilities disposed of: i EaEEE :
- Cash and cash equivalents -RekReEE (51)
- Trade receivables - FEUER K (90)
- Trade and other payables - AR R H AR 3R 992
- Current tax liabilities -RIEAfRIE A E 10
861
Consideration received BURE 10
Gain on disposal of a group of subsidiaries HE—4AM B ARz W 871
An analysis of the net cash outflow from the above subsidiaries ERLAMBARZRESRE FRY TN
is as follows: T
2020
—ETEF
HK$'000
BT T
Cash consideration received during the year FAERRSRE 10
Less: VoA
- Cash and cash equivalent included in the —“HABHENRBARZIAE R
subsidiaries disposed He%E (51)
Net cash outflow from the disposal of a group of HE—ENBAR RS RLFE
subsidiaries (41)

BEGHEEEERAA -
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36 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 36 BEALTHE
The ultimate controlling parties of the Group are Mr. Dong, Mr. REEHRIERTRELE - BEEERR
Ning and Mr. Xu and the ultimate holding companies of the Fi - REE 2 HEER DR ANewwood
Group are Newwood Investments Limited, Pacific Wits Limited Investments Limited %’%xﬁﬁﬁﬁé 7 R R
and Tairong Holdings Limited. Management of the Group are BRERAR - AEBBEEERRTHEAR
of the view that the following individuals and companies were RABEHERRAFENAREBERBR S
related parties that had transactions or balances with the Group SiESRBEATL

as at and during the year:

Name of related parties

Relationship with the Group

BEATHS BB B £ B R

Mr. Dong Executive Director

pias) HITES

Mr. Ning Non-Executive Director

BhE FHMITES

Mr. Xu Non-Executive Director

mEE HHMITES

Khorgas Dirty Monkey Media Culture Company Limited* Controlled by Mr. Ning
(“Khorgas Dirty Monkey") 2 S A1

ERRTER TR ULERERAR(ERRINER T

Tibet Jindouyun Film Company Limited* (“Tibet Jindouyun”) Controlled by Mr. Ning

ARG I EZEBRAR (AR IE] FRE A

Beijing Joy Leader Culture Communication Co. Ltd. (“Beijing Joy Leader") Controlled by Mr. Xu

IEREEELEFRERAR (L RELE]) R A

Shanghai Joy Leader Media Culture Workshop (“Shanghai Joy Leader”)* Controlled by Mr. Xu
IBARZEZRUEIEE(LEESRE]) R A

& For identification purposes only

(a) Related party transactions (a) EHBEEATZXRS

During the year, the Group entered into the following
transaction with a related party:

FA AEERBBEALIZIATRS
£IA

2021 2020
S5 —B-%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT IT
Film director’s fee BREEE
— Mr. Ning -EhE - 30,000

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the transaction
constituted continuing connected transactions for the
purpose of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

On 24 December 2018, the Group has entered into a film
investment agreement with Tibet Jindouyun. The Group
invested RMB12,000,000 for 10% of the income rights of
the film and the film was released in 2021.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HiEZE—ZE - —&F+_-_A=+—H Jtif“

PARTY DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(b) Related party balances

36 BEATHE(E

(b) HEEATZERR

2021 2020
- —ETF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT
Amount due to FES
- Mr. Dong (Note i) - E A (D 15,137 =
Trade receivable FEUBR 3R
- Khorgas Dirty Monkey (Note i) - ERRATEE T (5T 28,326 49,747
Prepayment for film and TV programmes & &2 & BRI i FE 1~ 3
rights
= Mr. Xu (Note iii) — 1R 4% A (BT 5EiD 12,863 12,530
= Mr. Ning (Note iv) - A (fAEEIV) 30,000 30,000
42,863 42,530
Contract asset ABHEE
- Beijing Joy Leader (Note v) — bR E &8 (FEky) - 3,627
Other receivable HAth fE Y 5R IR
— Shanghai Joy Leader (Note v) - L E%E (Fisky) - 4,990
Notei:  The balances were denominated in HK$, unsecured, Mgkl REEHUUBEIE  BER . 28
interest-free and repayable within one year. RER—FRNERE -
Noteii:  The balance represented the Group's right to receive income MizEii :  ZAEHREAEERD —HEZRER

arisen from a film rights investment where the film has been
released. Khorgas Dirty Monkey took the responsibility to
distribute the aforementioned income to the investors of
the film including one of our subsidiaries. There were no
business transactions occurred between the Group and
Khorgas Dirty Monkey during the year. The balance was
denominated in RMB, trade in nature, unsecured, interest-
free and receivable subject to certain conditions.

AEEMKAER  ZEX¥E L
B ERMRANERFAEH LREA
DIRTHEZRET ERBREAR
BET—FMEAR - AEBEEER
%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ?%iﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%%
X5 o mREMAAREE REE
\i{féf BER  2ERAENEET
BB R T RE -
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36 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(b) Related party balances (Continued)

—ET - A=1+—HLFE

36 BEATHRE(E

(b) EREAEALTZ&EER(E)

Note i The balance represented the payment prepaid to Mr. Xu in Miziii : ZAERERRAERZEYMMREALETE
relation to the development of the proposed film. SEYFRIA ©
Note iv:  The balance represented the payment prepaid to Mr. Ning in Miztiv: RAERERREEREZRAELER
relation to the development of the proposed film. THIFIR ©
Notev: The balances represented the Group's right to receive Mizhv : ZEAHBRIEAEEWR —IEEZRE
income arisen from a film right where the film is released in FEERBRAERN  ZEZR=_F=
2020. During the year, the balances were settled. TELIR-FR ZEEHREER
ﬁ °
(c) Key management personnel (c) EEEEAEFM
compensation
The remuneration of directors who were considered as key FREERLEAEEFTEEBAEBZES
management personnel of the Group during the year is as e T
follows:
2021 2020
:%:—ﬂi — 7 — E'E
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT
Short-term benefits 52 HATEF 30,131 27,934
Pension costs — defined contribution RIREMA - RrE K
plans =T &l 18 18
30,149 27,952
The remuneration of directors and key executives is i%&z TBRABZME TR FHME
determined by the Remuneration Committee having regard BEeRTEARRETSHBEMETE -
to the performance of individuals and market trends.
37 EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 37 REHREE
There was no material event after reporting period up to the HEAFRAH BESACHREHES
date of this annual report. T8 o
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38 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 38 AN E AR E

THE COMPANY

2021 2020
- —ZETF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Non-current assets IREBEE
Interests in subsidiaries RSB RR 2R 208,854 203,583
Prepayment for film and TV B M ERBMREEN K
programmes right 30,000 30,000
Film and TV programmes rights B R ERBEME 57,987 56,754
296,841 290,337
Current assets REEE
Prepayment for film and TV B N ERBIMREEN K
programmes right 110,065 59,566
Film and TV programmes rights B RERBMGE - 50,763
Trade and other receivables, JE UK B R B EL A JE LA
deposits and prepayments FIE - Ze RTERMK 158,958 54,520
Contract assets BHEE - 2,743
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUH B N RIFIE 398,622 290,630
Cash and cash equivalents RekBHeEE 29,746 105,900
697,391 564,122
Total assets BEEHAE 994,232 854,459
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38 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 38 AR TZ2HMBRRKRE)

THE COMPANY (Continued)

2021 2020
B TR
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
5T BT T BT T
Equity s
Share capital &N 36,565 34,727
Less: Treasury shares B EERG - (1,613)
Reserves & @) 876,418 760,264
Total equity SRR 912,983 793,378
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables Hfh FE T RRIE 13,746 9,647
Film investment funds from investors K EREENELIRE
A 3,448 -
Amounts due to subsidiaries AR B ENGIE S - 51,434
Amount due to a related party FEfS— R BEE AT RIE 15,137 =
Borrowing fBx 48,918 =
Total liabilities EEBE 81,249 61,081
Total equity and liabilities EEREEHEE 994,232 854,459
The statement of financial position of the Company was ARARIZHBHRARER_E-_—_F=A=
approved by the Board of Directors on 31 March 2022 and was T—HEEESHE  WHTIESREE

signed on its behalf:

Dong Ping
BY
Director
BE

FeRE:

Xiang Shaokun, Steven
HAER
Director
BE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 HE T - —F+_-_A=+—HItFE

38 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (Continued)

38 AATZHMBRRRKE)

Notes: s -
(@  Reserves (@ &
Share-based Accumulated
Share compensation  Translation losses
premium reserve reserve (Note b) Total
NRBRER 2iEB
R EE Eol EXiGE (G g
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
At 1 January 2020 W=E-%%-f-AH 2,631,127 91,798 44,222 (2,215992) 551,155
Issue of ordinary shares, net of transaction costs BETERRIBZHRE) 508,234 = = = 508,234
Share option scheme: TR 8
= value of services provided -BRERKZER - 7,205 - - 7,205
Shares repurchased EERH (36,616) - - - (36,616)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year ’EEzENE/ (BR)EE - - 13,807 (283,521) (269,714)
At 31 December 2020 RZZZFFTZA=F-H 3,102,745 99,003 58,029 2499513) 760,264
At 1 January 2021 R=B--§-F-H 3,102,745 99,003 58,029 (2,499,513) 760,264
Issue of ordinary shares, net of transaction costs BTERRIBZSHE) 465,098 - - - 465,098
Share option scheme: TR 8
= value of services provided -BRERK 2 ER - 2,612 - - 2,612
Shares repurchased BERH (61,229) - - - (61,229)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year ’EEzENE/ (BR)EE - - 8,348 (298,675) (290,327)
At 31 December 2021 R=B=-F+-A=1-A 3,506,614 101,615 66,377 (2,798,188) 876,418
(b)  The contributed surplus of approximately HK$199,168,000 (2020: (b) EHBEHBLER199,168,000(ZE_FF : 4§

Same) is included in the accumulated losses. It represented reduction
in issued share capital and share premium cancellation pursuant
to a capital restructuring in 2004 and capital reorganisation in 2010,
2011 and 2012. Under the Company Law of Bermuda, the contributed
surplus of the Company is available for distribution. However, the
Company shall not declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution
out of contributed surplus if:

EDFFAREEE - BERABKBNIERE-TZTN
FRABEEHR_T—TF - —_T—FR=F
——ERASARATHIRZ B BHITRA REH
ZHRMNEE -  BEBREARE  ARRAZE
BBEBATHIR - AMWA TIER - AA7E
TEUEBERRBERSIEAREKIEL DR :

(i) it is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities (i)
as they become due; or

HBR RN IR R H 8 E&E B H
BfE %

(i) the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than the (il HEEZAZREELAMENREEE
aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and share REBBTRAERONRERBEZE
premium accounts. o
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A 755 1E 22

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the last
five financial years is as follows:

AEEBEREAYRFELRE BERAEME

wmr

For the year ended 31 December
BEZt-A=+—-HLEE

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
ZEZ-§ CZZTF ZZ-NEF ZZT-N\F ZT—+tF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BEFT BETT
(Restated)
(K E71)
RESULTS #i5
Continuing operations BELEER
Revenue and film investment income Wiz R EFREWA 158,353 633,176 814,425 174,632 53,209
(Loss)/profit before tax WA (B518), /5 Al (220,020) (240,157) 186,188 (426,264) (95,159)
Income tax expense FriSBiMx (15,537) = (81,081) (18,429) =
(Loss)/profit from continuing REBECEEBM
operations (E518), /& 7 (235,557) (240,157) 105,107 (444,693) (95,159)
Discontinued operations BAIFEE R
Profit/(loss) from discontinued REBRILEERD
operations sl (E18) - 3,766 @ - -
(Loss)/profit for the year AEE(BR),&F (235,557) (236,391) 105,103 (444,693) (95,159)
(Loss)/profit for the year AEE(ER),/ G
attributable to: BEEA
Owners of the Company VN/NETEZZEPN (235,557) (236,391) 105,103 (444,693) (95,159)
At 31 December
BRt+=—A=+-H
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
B CZZ-TF ZZ-NEF ZT-N\F ZT—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BB BETT BETT BETIT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEREE
Total assets EESEH 2,261,696 1,745,611 1,855,506 1,693,549 1,046,527
Total liabilities BEET (606,427) (299,178) (725,276)  (1,034,881) (254,360)
Total equity BREH 1,655,269 1,446,433 1,130,230 658,668 792,167
Attributable to: EEN
Owners of the Company ARAIEEA 1,655,269 1,446,433 1,130,230 658,668 792,167
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